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We are Biffa

We've been at the forefront of the UK sustainable waste management industry for over

100 years.

Our strategy for growth means that our waste reduction,
recycling, energy recovery and collection services all have
positive impact acrass the UK. we have a strong track record of
growing our profits whilst reinvesting 10 grow our business

Today, Biffa is an established enabler of the UK circular
economy and our team of just under 11,000 colleagues carry out
assentiol services every doy m line with our purpose “o chonge
the way people think about waste', Sustainahility has been at
the heart of our business strategqy for many vears, Our areas of
investment reflect the waste hierarchy - tc Reduce, Recycle and
Recover, all slpported Iy the need to Collect,

we have already taken huge strides in our sustainability journey
by investing in surplus redistribution, plastic recyeling, energy
recovery Infrastructure and low carbon coltections, feading to a
70% reduchion in our cdrboen ermissions since 2002, Our
sustainability strategy, ‘Resourcefud, Responsible’, wiil see us
vniock £1.2500 of investrent in vital green economy
nfrostructure by 2030, of which ¢.£1bn has already been
cormmitted to, while further reducing our carbon emissions by
50% by 2030, Our gim s to redch net zero emissions by na later
than 2050.

Ouwr people care about deoing the right thing and, in furn, we
strive to do right by them by prioritising their health, safety and
wellbeing. We are proud 1o have been awarded a 5-star rafing
by the British Sofety Council. we have also maode strong
progress in making sure Biffa ic an inclusive place ta work where
diversity is championed and our employees fee! volued and
understand the positive contribution they make to enabling the
UK circular ecanomy.

Qur longstanding Biffa award pragramme suphot ts sustainable
projects across the UK which deliver environimenta| benefits,
while making o valuable contribution to local communitios.

Through our proud porfnership with Wasiefod, we are helping 1o
share practical and low -cost waste management knawledge
with communities in developing countries,

As we look forward, whilst being mindful of the near-term
cholierges the UK economy is facing, we are increasingly well
positianed to play a key rale in the transition that our sector is
embuarking on, supported by an ambitious policy agenda.
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Strategic Report

Combining purpose

with profit

why we exist beyond profit who we are ond what drives us

How we deliver for our stokeholdars what wa're striving to achisve

(.,> Our Vision

To lead the way in UK
sustainable waste managemaent

Qur Purpose

- ~, Qur Sustainable
~= -y} Business Model
4 L\ + Collect -
L= \\‘é N \E - Reducs ﬁ}
— B _:_’; « Recyce A
. E. ‘ - Recover

Cur Sustainability
Goals

To change the
way people think

+ Bulilding a circuior economy

dbhout waste

thing

-
w Our Values
n
Wa toks We da
I she right

+ Tockling climate change

@ Our Balanced * Caring for ouf peopse,
y / % Business Plan supporting our commumiries
Safer Together
Volue People
Customer Firgt
Protect our Ploner

+ Grow Sustinably

Why we do what we do

Our business model combpines purpose with profit, helping to enable the circular economy, generote profit for our shareholders and deliver

our core purpose - 10 change the way people think about waste.

Who we are and what drives us

Our values demonstrate how we act every day and how we make
decisions. They set us apart from the competition and show that
how we do things Is just as important as what we do. They are the
guiding principles for fiow we do business.

We make
things
happen

We take
pride
in what
we do

We do
the right
thing
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Strategic Report

what we do

Qur business madtel facuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect.
Concentrating on these four arens enables us 1o deliver efficient ond sustoinoble woste -
managentent in line with the waste hierarchy and enabies us to deliver the most value from

YY)

Reduce

oLt operctional capabilities

Our business model 18 resiient by design, demonstrated by how we have navigated ecaonomic
uncertainty and morket challenges durnng the year. Cur services are generally essential, non- - .
discretionary and predictable m germand. Commercial terms either offer good levels of pricing : I L/L:i e
flexibility or contractual structires designed to protect against commaodity and inflahonary . ‘ BN
EXROSUNSS, iy A
e &d
o .

-
Censume

Manufosture

Reduce Recycle Recover Collect

To pioneet and operote Yo develop and operote To invest in energy To build the UK(s largest,

the UK’s leading waste the UK's leading recycling recovery infrastructure as a most efficient, low

reduction and solutions, lower carbon alternative to carbon waste and
redistribution services. landfill for our customers’ recycling collections
waste that cannot be aperation.
recycied.

Sources of revenue: Sources of revenue: Sources of revenue: Sources of revenue:

. Sale of surplug . Gate fees for processing . Gate fees for processing . Service fees for
procdura to Compony and trearing waste and fregting waste. collection and disposal
Shop Grop's . Sale of commodity . Satle of renewable energy af commercial woste,
INOTeTS products, : . Fees for ontsourced

provision of hausenotd
collection services

Where we focus: our objectives

Ow Balanced Business Plan (‘BBP'} 1s aligned to five key pillars - Safer Together, Value People, Customer First, Grow Sustainably and
Protect our Planet The actions ond targets within our onnugl BBP help 1o guide activity around our business model

Underpinning all of this is our powerful sustainability story,
based around three key pillars:

Building o circular economy Tackling climate change Caring for our people,
supporting our communities

Biffa Limited / Annual Repert and Accounts 2023



Strategic Report

The Directors present therr strategic report for Biffa Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiary companies (together "the Group’ or
'Bitta'y for the year ended 31 March 2023

Accounting reference date

This strategic report and the accompanying financial statements are prepared for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023, The comparatives
are prepared for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2022. The strategic report for the subsequent period will be prepared for the 52 weeks
ending 29 March 2024.

Principal Activity

Biffa 1s o leading integrated sustainable waste management company in the UK. The Group collects and processes a signiticant
praoportion of the waste generated in the UK with a focus on developing o circular economy. Operations include waste coltection,
recycling, organic waste treatment, kandfill, surplus stock redistribution and investments in fwo Energy from Waste (‘"Efw') joint vantures,

Ownership Structure

On 26 January 2023 the entire 1ssued and to be 1ssued share capital of Biffa plc was acquired by Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Bears
Bidco Limited). Biffa's listing on the London Stock Exchange was cancelled at 8am on 27 January 2023 and Biffa plc was subsequentty
re-registered as ¢ private company and renamed Biffa Limited.

Bifta Limited remained a whoily-owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited ot 31 March 2023, Biffa Bidco Limited 1s an entity whotly awned
oy the funds managed by the Energy Capital Partners group of companies (‘ECP')L

Founded in 2005, ECP is a leading investor across energy transition, electrification and decarbenization infrastructure assets, including
power generation, renewables and storage sclutions, envirenmental infrastructure and sustainability, efficiency & reliability assets
facilitating the enerqy transition. The ECP team, comprised of 73 people with 600+ years of collective industry experience, deep expertise
and extensive relationships, has consummated more than 100 transactions over the last 18 years. For more information, visit

www.ecpgp.com.
Going concern

The Directors have concluded that the Group 1s able to continue as a going concern and the financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis accordingly. Refer to Note 1 1o the financial statements tor more information.

Forward-looking statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect ro the financial condition, results, aperations and business of the
Group. By their nature, these statements and forecasts involve risk and uncerfainty because they relate 1o events and depend on
cireumstances that may or may not occur in the future, Thete are a number of facrors that could couse actual results or developments to
differ matenally from those expressed or impled by these stafements and forecasts.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs’)
The Directors utilise a number ot KPLs when measuring the pertarmance of the business, These KPIs hove been detailed in the below table
and discussed further on the following pages. Definitions for the metrics are provided in the Appendix to the financial staternents

FY23 FY22 Movement

Financial KPIs:

Organic net revenue growth (%) 12.0% 20.0% (8.0)%
Acquisition nef revea-e growth (%) 6.0% 18.0% (12.0)%
Adiusted Operating profit margin (%) 6.7% 67% -
Adiusted Return on Operating Assets (%) 18.2% 18.2% -
Adjusted Return on Capital En‘%loyed (%) B.5% 7 70% T 15%
Group Leverage Ratio {Net Debt: EBITDA) (%) 3.0x o I1x (0.1)x
Non-financial KPIs:

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions (kt) 524kt 538k? (14kt)
Plastics recycling capacity (](T) 167kt 151kt L6kt
Erployee engugement (%) &3% 59% 4%
Lost time injury (LTI) rate Q.32 0.39 (0.7)
RIDDOR rate 0.19 0.17 l .02
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Strategic Report

Financial Review

Financial highlights
The other financial performance highlights in addition o the KPIs above are detailed in the following table. Alternotive performance
measures are ¢lso defined and reconciled in the Appendix to the financial statements.

- FY23 EY22 Movement |
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 1,4432 23772

| Adjusted EBITDA D 2255 950 | 305 |
Operating Profit/(Lass) Y (873 150
Adjusted Operating Profit 112.8 96.6 16.2
Loss After Tax (16,7 TTazey | oe
Net Debt: EBITDA 3.0x 31x (01

Group performance

The Group has built upon FY22's strong trajectory with Statutory Revenue increasing by 16.4% in the year to the record level of £1,680.4n1.
This has been achieved across the Group with Collections, Resources & Energy and Speciglist Services divisions growing by 15.1%, 11.2%
and 34 8% respectively, The majarity of the growth has been organic, being roughly twice that attributed fo acquisitions

Opecrating Profit has risen from a loss of £8.3m in FY2? to o profit of £6.7m. This was driven by the 16 8% improverment in Adjusted
Operating Peofit from £96 6m in FY22 to £112 8m,

The Group continues to experience significant infiotionary headwinds. Despite this, the Adjusted Operating Profit Margin haos remainec
flat ar 6.7%, demonstroting the Group's resilience and pricing flexibility,

The Group uses Alternative Performance Measures ("APMs’) to enable a better understanding of Group performance. APM's exclide
certain items fram statutory results and are used to enhance the comparahbility of information between reporting periods and the
Group'= divisions

Adjusting items are fully explained in the Appendix to the financial statements, The net impact of adjusting ifems on Loss Before Tax was
a charge of £105.1m (FY22. £104 2m charge). The main adjusting items were acquisition related costs (£24.8m), strategy related and
restructuring costs (£18.0m). increase 1o provision related 1o HMRC Landfdl Tax enguiry (£50 7m), asset impairments (£9 1),
amortisation of aequisition intangibles (£25.2m) and impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions (£24 8m credit)

Net debt and borrewings

Group net debi 15 £667.0m (FY22: £595 8m) representing 3.0x Adjusted EBITDA (F¥22. 3 1x). This demonsirates strong confinued cash
performance across the Group.

On 1 February 2023 the Group's existing borrowings drawn down under the RCF were repaid by Biffa Bidco Limited, with o corresponding
loan established between Biffa Bidco Limited and a subsidiary of Biffa Limited. The RCF was simultanecusly replaced by a new £225m
RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limited

The private plaocements held at 25 March 2022 were stilt held ot 31 March 2023, hut were terminated on 23 Moy 20323 as part of the debt
restructure.

Finance income and charges

Net finance charges rese from £19.2mn FY22 To £22.8m. The primary driver behind this was the £5 9m increase in finance costs on loans
and private plocements mostly consed by interest rate rnises during the yeor, partly offset by net interest income on the net definer
benefit surplus increasing by £7 5m.

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme for certain employees which is closed to new entrants and which closed to future
accrunl for the majorty of its members as at 1 November 2013, At 31 March 2023 the Group's total TAS 19 net retirement benefit surpius
wars £95.1m, o aignificant fall from the surplus of £164,1m at 25 March 2022

The recson for this fali1s the overall shrinking of the largest scheme, with both plon assets and liabilities decregsing due to the rise in
haorrowing rates

Return on Copital
Group Adjusted Return on Copital Emploved improved from 7.0% in FY22 ro 8.5% due 1o the rise in Adjusted Operahng Profit.
HMRC Landfill Tax Enguiry

This enauiry 15 1n progress and therefore the outcome remains unclear Following the receipt of further information from HMRC, we hove
ihereased our provisian from £20m 1o £64m. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements for more information
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Strategic Report

Financial Review continued
Post-bolance sheet events

The following materiat events occurred after the reporting period:

+  The Group acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share capital of Esterforni Packaging
Limited in April 2023

v A restructure of the Group’s debt became effective in May 2023 with term loans increasing by £135m, rofling credit facility increasing
by £150m and private placements decreasing by £85m

» It was announced in June 2023 that the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland will no longer commence in FY24 as previously expected.
A replacement scheme will commence in October 2025 at the earliest.

»  In May and June 2023 £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 24. A further £10.0m 1s expected to be paid in FY25.

Refer to the Directors’ Report and Mote 34 for more information.

Operating Review
The Group 1s organised into three operating divisions:

. Collections
. Resources & Energy
. Speciglist Services

Collections

This division provides sustainable waste and recycling collections and related services. It is split into two businesses: Municipal and
Inclustrial and Commercial ('I&C'). The Municipal business pravides household waste and recycling collections, street cleaning ond other
services for households, on behalt of local authorities. The I&C business provides waste and recycling collections tor a wide range ot
industrial and commercial custamers.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £m %

Statutory Revenue 1,006.1 873.9 132.2 15.1%
1&C 792.7 6909 101.8 14.7%
Municipal 2134 183.0 50.4 16.6%
Net Revenue 1,0061 | 8739 1322 15.1%
Operating profit 75.9 65.6 10.% 15.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 7.5% 75% n/ca n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 1461 1307 154 11.8%
Adjusted Operating profit 82.5 75.0 75 10.0%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 8.2% 8.6% n/a n/a

The Cuollections division had ¢ strong year in FY23, with Statutory Revenue rising by 15.1%. This high growth rate was seen consistently
across the division with I&C and Municipal achieving growth rates of 14.7% and 16.6% respectively.

I&C

The grewth in I&C has been achieved through the combination of acquisitions (including a full 12 months’ contribution from the Viridor
acquisition in FY22), velume growth and price increases. The I&C business hos continued to be affected by substantial mtlgtionary cost
pressures impacting the UK economy. While these pressures have had a significant impact on cur operating costs, pricing flexibility built
Into our contracts has enabled the business to pass on most of these cost increases 1o customers, thereby protecting our profitability
with Collections Adjusted Operating Profit Margin only falling from 8.6% in FY22 10 8.2% in FY23.

while the business was impacted by national HGV driver shortages in FY22, these shortages eased in the latter part of FY22 and this
easing continued nto FY23. Supply chain disruption has continued to provide challenges in FY23, e g. the procurement of new vehicles,
These challenges reguire careful management going forward.

Our strategy remains to drive forward our plan to consolidate the frugmented 1&C collections market. Acquisitions are highly synergistic
due o the removal of duplicate routes and locations, and result in a more efficient, flexible service proposition for Gur customers with
lower carbon intensity. The acguisition pipeline locks promising and Bifta’s new owners intend to support our histoncally acguisitive
approach.

Operating Review continued
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 7



Strategic Report

Coliections continued
Municipal

Ihe significant growth experienced in FY23 has been driven by the revenue indexation built into our Municipal contracts, enabling the
prices charged to costomers to rise in line with the relevant inflation indices. This results in revenue rises lagging cost increases in an
environment with growing inflation, but then a catch-up as inflation slows A margin improvement 1s therefare expected i Fy24.

The challenges faced by the Muricipal business are simitar to those faced by the I&C business and the mitigating octions are therefore
broadly similar

The business is well placed fo continue fo deliver its growth strategy by capitalising on its scale and cxpertise We will seek to capitalise
on the opportunities that are presented by the approaching regulotory changes in the industry

Resources ond Energy (‘R&E’)

The R&E division foctises on the sustainable treatment, recycling, energy recovery and ultimate disposal of waste It comprises the
Recyeling, Organics, Inerts and Landfill Gas businesses as well as our eguity investments in twe Energy from Waste ('Efw") facilities that
were under consfruction at the year end date,

FY23 Fy22 Change Change
£m £m £m %
Statutory Revenue 439.6 3352 44.4 11.2%
Recvcling 165.1 140.8 24 7 17.5%
Orgcﬁwigh T 102.0 Y 234 30.0% |
Inerts 54.7 567 19 (3.4)%
Lemndfill Gas 421 404 18 4.5%
“Net Revenue o 1639 3156 | 480 15.2%
Operating profit 35.3 175 17.8 101.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 8.0% 4.4% n/a n/o
Adjusted EBITDA 78.3 734 4.9 6.7%
‘Adjusted Operoting profit 423 411 1z 29%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 9.6% 10.4% n/a n/a

The R&E division saw strong performance in FY23 with Net Revenue of £3639m, up 15 2% on the prior year. This was driiven by growth in
the Recycling and Organics businesses, which in turn was partly coused by a full 12 months’ contribution from the Vindor acquisition

The significont cost increases expenenced in the year were largely mitigated through the Group's risk management measures and pricing
flexibility, but Adjusted Operating Profit Margin did fall from 10.4% 10 9 6%,

Recycling
Our Recycling business comprises our leading Polymers plastics business and our Materials Recycling Facilities (‘MRFs').

FY22 was o transimional year for the Polymers business due to customer acceptance at Seaham taking longer than expected but o
number of multl million pound agreements were signed late In FY22 and FY23, driving the 17 5% revenue growth i FY23

we expect demand for plastics recycling to continue o strengthen following the infroduction of the LUK Government's Plastic Packaoging
Tax and greater seruting on corporate behaviours,

Construchion of the third rHDPE line at Redcor 15 now complete
Organics

The O1ganics business mcludes Biffa’s ancerobic digestion ('AD"), composting and residual waste fregtment assets. Assets are generally
suppottedd by long term local authorty contracts. The business had a strong year with revenue growth of 30.0%.

Inerts

Cur Inerts busimess includes the treatment and disposal of complex construction waste and provides landfill disposal for untreatatle
residues. Inerts Net Revenue fell by 3.4% due to a dechne in landfill volumes caused by macroeconomic uncertainty.

Landfill Gas
The Landfill Gas business provides energy generation from landfill gos extraction. |
Revenue grew by 4.5% in FY23 with the positive moverment in energy prices offsetting the reduction in gas yields.

Operating Review continuet)

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 8



Strategic Report

Resources and Energy (‘R&E’) continued
Energy Recovery

The treatment of general waste for energy recovery is an important part of our investment strategy far waste which cannot be avoided,
reduced or recycled Bitfa has invested in two Energy from wWaste joint ventures in partnership with Encyclis {previcusly Covanta).

Construction of the Newhurst Energy Recovery Facility 1s complete and the site became fully operational in May 2023, so FYZ4 Adjusted
Operating Profit will benefit from ruughly 10 months of contribution. Construction of The Protos Energy Recovery Faclity 1s shil in
progress and 1s 1-2 vears behind Newhurst,

Specialist Services

The Specialist Services division helps customers fulfil their sustainability ambitions by providing bespoke solutions including surplus
redistribution, integrated resource monagement and hazardous waste services The division contdinsg the Industral Services and
Company Shop Groyp ('CSG’) businesses.

The Industrial Services business provides bespoke solutions 1o customers who have more complex waste requirements such as
manufacturing and distribution businesses. Solutions include on sife services and equipment rental (‘Integrated Resource Management’
or ‘IRM", hazardous waste collection and treatment and packaging producer responsibility compliance services (‘Biffpack’)

CSG adds waste redyction and redistribution capabilities to Biffa’s range of sustainable waste management solutions It also enables us
10 support customers in moving surplus products further up the waste hierarchy and to deliver an their sustainability ambitions
Alongside its core network, CSG operates Community Shop, a nof-for-profit community interest company that supports some of the
most deprived areas of the UK through a network of hubs which sell produce provided by donations from supplier partners at deeply
discounted prices, alongside the provision of a number of community services.

In July 2022 Biffa announced that Circulanty Scotlond Ltd ('CSL"), the scheme administrator for Scotland’s Deposit Return Scheme,
appointed Biffa to provide collection, counting and sorting services for the billions of drinks contatners which are ploced on the Scottish
market each year. The attributable financial performance was 1o be included within the Specialist Services division due to the unigue
nature of the schema, The scheme will no longer commence in August 2023 as originally planned, as it was announced on 7 June 2023
that a replacement scheme wouid not go ahead untif ot least October 2025, Refer 1o Note 34 for further details on the DRS and position
as at the balance sheet date.

B FYz3 FYzz | cChange | Change |
£m £m £m % |
Statutory Revenue 234.7 174.1 0.6 34.8%
Industrial Servicey 1451 a4 417 40.3%
Company Shop Group ' 89.6 707 189 267% |
Net Revenue 234.7 174.1 60.6 34.8%
Operating profit / (loss) 12.7 (19.9) 326 n/a
Operating profit margin (%) 5.4% (11.4)% n/a n/a
“Adjusted EBITDA 21.6 116 100 86.2% |
Adjusted Qperating profit 13.8 5.4 8.4 155.6%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 5.9% 31% r/a n/a

The Specialist Services division had a very strong year, with revenue increasing by 34.8%. The majority of this growth was seen in
Industiial Services which grew by 40.3%, followed by Company Shop Group which saw its revenues increase by 26.7%.

Industriol Services

Industrial Services continued its strong performance info FY23, with all three business units (1RM, Hazardous Waste and Compliance)
performing seeing high levels of growth. The acquisition of Total Recycling Services in March 2023 will help drive further growth in Fy24.

Bifta 1s uniquely placed to benefit from the growing Industrial Services market as the fully integrated waste management platform
means we can tuke advoentage of cross-selling services from our 1&C customer base.

The business experienced similar challenges to those faced by the Collections division in FY23, but these were sufficiently mitigated to
ensure performonce was not signiticantly impacted

Company Shop Group

The business saw a significant furnaround in FY23, moving from being loss-maoking to profir-making. The encouraging progress seen in
the final quarter ot FY22, achieved through strategic changes, continued into FY23 os membership, footfull and gross margins
rmaintained their positive trajectory. Performance Is exgected fo improve further in FY24 due fo a full year of higher sales and marging

Stokeholder engagement and sustainability
Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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Strategic Report

we have continued to focus on our purpose “to change the way people think about waste™. Sustainability is at the heart of aur business,
We're committed to doing the right things to protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most
environmental, sociol and financial value from the resources we collect. We are also proud 1o give something back 1o the communities we
serve and in dning so create value for all our stakeholders,

we care about our customers and their needs. Every day we provide essential services fo a wide range of customers across the UK from
large corparates 1o thousands of local businesses and local authorities. we focus on delivering excellent services consistently, as
promised, every time. Qur sustainable approach, responsiveness to custaomer needs and delivery makes us the first choice for customers,

Our supplers play an impertant role in helping ocur business deliver for our customers. we form strong, sustainable and trusted
partnerships and look to secure excellent value for maney, whilst minimising risk in our supply chein

The healih, safety and wellbeing of our colleagues and cur communihes continues 1o be of paramount iImportance. During the yeor, we
have continued to actively support the communities in which we operate through various community projects, including our proud
partnership with the charity, WasteAid. WaosteAid is an independent UK charity, set up by waste management professionals to share
prachcal and low-cost waste managerment knowledge with communities in developing countries. We support them through our
sporsorship, ernployee fundroising ond wish thew prolects in fhe Gombio, Kenyo ond Carmeroon,

gmployee engagement
Our employee engagement score has ncreased 4% during the yeor, and we are now 7% above the UK average,

we want our people to be engaged in their work ond with their workplace Research shows that crganisotions with high lovels of
employee engagement are mare efficient and effective and that highly engoged employees care about the future of ther organisation
and ore motwated to help it achieve its objectives. We have doubled engogement aver the past 10 years and cur ambition is to be in the
tep 25% of all companies in the UK, which we are now only 4 percentage points away from achieving.

‘We have o ream of just under 11,000 talented and diverse colleagues who support Bitfa's purpose of changing the way peaple think
ahout waste. We pride ourselves on having an open and honest relationship with our workforce, empowering them to have their say.
whilst ensuring they remoin supported. We engage with each other respectfully, encourage each other and help make Biffa o fair,
mclusive and fun place to work.

we also continue to maintain two way engagement with our workforce, ensuring thot they are kept up to date with the latest business
deveioprments and answering their questions, Qur channels include regulor all-employee video calls with our Group Fxecutive Team, CEQ
viogs, conferences and news updates vic our intranet and employee opp, Biffa Reat. Biffa Beot helps us to communicate and engage
with our frontline warkfarce, enabling thern to openly ask questions and voice their opinions ot the fouch of a button. This is further
suppotted by the Biffa Invalvement Group, a forum of aover 100 employees that meet regularly to share weas and feedback with both
ecach other and the Group Executive Team.

Health and safety

Gver the year, through dedicated focus on risk reduction, we reduced our LTI rate from 0.39 injunes per 100,000 hours worked to 0.32. we
also reduced the overall proportion of all injures that resulted in any lost time from 12.35% to 9.95%. Disappointingly, our RIDDOR rate
rase slightly aver the 12m period due largely to our T&C business, We are maintaining our opproach to increasing the effectiveness of our
risk management processes with a specific focus on reducing road risk by improving our systems, technology and driver capabilities. We
are also investing in EcoOnline, a best class H&S management platform to help us improve our incident management procedures, ond m
the TopSet investigation methodology 1o improve our aoility to learn from incidents.

Other matters contoined within the Strategic Report

The Sechon 172 statermnent, Task Force on Chimate-related Financial Disclosures ¢ TCFDY, Principal nsks and uncertamties and Non
Financial Tnfarmation Statement below form part of the Strateqic Report

On behalf of the Board.
ML[W“‘

Michael Topham

Direcror

Biffa | rrruterd

Regystered in England and Woles No. 10336040
11 September 2073
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Strategic Report

Section 172 statement

The Directors had regard to their duty under Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 ('5172°) to promote the fong-terni success of Bifta
Limited (the ‘Company’) tor the benehit of its members during the year. In doing so, the Directors have consicered the marters cutlined
below.

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term / The need to act fairly between members of the Company

Our business maodel focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect. See pages 3 and 4 for more details, 5172
factors were considered in the Board’s discussions on strategy, including how they underpin the Company’s fong-term success and the
need to act fairly hetween members.

The interests of the Company’s employees

The Directors engage directly with our employees, bath through their doy-to-day activities and via site visits, conferences, dinners and
other events, The Directors and Group Executive Team host regular all-employee calls, giving employees the opportunity to provide
feedback and ask quesnions. All Directors also have access to our employee app, Biffe Beat, giving them the ability 1o view employee
feedback on anncuncements ond cther communications. In addition, the annual ermnployee engagement survey provides valuable insight
1c the Directars across a range of key employee maftters, including safety, wellbeing, reward & recegnition and diversity & inclusion. See
page 10 for more details.

The need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers ond others

To be able 1o tulfil their s172 duty when making decisions, it is essential that the Directors understand what matters to the Company's
stakeholders, Much of the stakeholder engagement af Biffa is carried cut at a business level. The Boord has received updates on
stakeholder engagement during the year. See page 10 for more details.

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

Sustainability is at the hear? of our business. We're committed to changing the way pecople think about waste and doing The right things

to protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon footprint whilst delivering the most environmental, social and financiol value
from the resources we collect. We are also proud 1o give something back 1o the communities we serve and in doing so create velue for all
our stakeholders. See pages 12 to 20 for more details,

The desirability of the Company maintaining o reputation for high standards of business conduct
We are committed to maintaining our reputation for high standards across all areas of our business. More detail 1s provided as follows,

¢« Stakeholder engagement - page 10

s  Employee engagement - page 10

. Health and safety - page 10

. Environment and sustainability - pages 12 to 20

. Non-Financial Information Statement - pages 28 to 29

Example of principal decision of the Board

During the year, the Boord considered and approved the acguisition of the whole of the ordinary share capital of the Company by funds
managed and/or advised by Energy Capital Parthers LLC ('ECP"), implemented by way of scherme of arrangement under Part 26 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Transaction’).

In considering the Transaction, the Board sought the views of certain of the Company’s largest shareholders and consistently considered
the potential impact of the Transaction on the Company’s wider (non-shareholder) stakeholders. This included lcoking for reassurance o
ECP on a number of matters as follows:

+  ECP having a strong track record of employee stewardship with the evaluation of the Transaction not being predicoted on headcount
reductions or cost cutting initiatives and that all existing employee rights would be safeguarded;

. ECP supparting the Company’s sustainability straregy, with Biffa’s leadership in this area being a major reason for their nteresrt in the
Transaction; and

. ECP’s support for continued focus by the Company on its customiers and communtties.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 11



Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

In 2022 we made a mandatory disclosure in line with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. This year, due to
being delisted, this is no longer @ mandated requirement however we have chosen to make a voluntary disclosure
consistent, albeit not fully compliant, with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. Using this framework enables
us to explain our process for responding to climate-related oppertunities and risks to our key stakeholder groups
in a purposeful and comparable context.

Governance

Board I

For the majority of the year the Biffa Limited Board were responsible for the delivery of sustainable velue to our key stakeholder groups
and provided oversight of our strategic commitments, which are aligned with our sustainability strategy. Foliowing the acquisition by
ECP, the Biffo Topco Liwmited (formerly Bears Topco Limited) Bodrd are responsible for the whole business, which includes sustainability
This ensures climate-related risks and opportunities are considered in ail aspects of the business including capital expenditure,
acguisitions, and perfarmance objectives.

Executive Sustainobility Committee

During the reporting yeaor the Executive Sustainability Commitice mandged the Compony’s sustomabiliby strategy while senior
management are respensible for the doy-to-day implementation, monitoring and managerment of our sustainabifity performance
including climete-related risks and opportunities During the year the Executive Sustamability Committee met twice, At the end of the
finanaial year the Executive Sustainability Committee was disbanded ond sustainability has become a standing item on the Group
Executive meeting agenda af least 3 Himes per year. This ensures climate related risks and opportunities are integrated in decision
rnaking ocross our Dusiness

During the year the Executive Sustainability Committee received updates on UK legislation ncluding the Environment Act and Resolrrces
and Waste Strotegy, the Group's Alternative Fuels Strategy. the Group's sustainooiity ratings and accreditations, the Group's social volue
strategy and progress against the Group's sustainability strateqy. The Executive Sustaunability Commirtee alse approved the Group's
Scape 3 emissions target which has now been submitted for vaiidation by the Science based Torget Tnitiative (SBTi) Simiiar updotes will
be provided at least 3 times a yeor at the Executive meetings during the next financial year.

Environment and Sustdinability Team

During the reporting year the Group's Erwironment and Sustainability team reported ta the Corporate Affairs Director however the feam
now report to the General Counsel and Company Secretary following changes to the Group Executive Team in FY24. The feam provide
reqular updates including to the Graup Executive Team and work closely with management teams and employees across the business to

. Identify and report any emerging climate-related risks and opportunihes to the Group Executive Team.
«  Drive awareness of our sustamnability fargets across the business and ensure that where relevant, sustamability targets are
incorporated into ouwr divisional balanced business plans. \
. Fvolve and refine the sustainability strategy and associoted targets, ensuning 1t keeps pace with Biffa's overall ambitions, morket '
developments and the fatest Science-based Targets.
. Ensure performance monitoring and reperting is completed and rigerously audited through both internal audit and external
venfication to ensure accurate information is communicated to stakeholders.
. Escalate any issues that may impact the delivery of the sustainability strategy to the Group Executive Team
. Parficipote in industry working groups, along with other experts, and monitor best practice.
. Ensure the Company position 1s reflected in developing Government poYicy through fransparent ond pro-ociive interacton with our
requlators and policy makars.,

Audit Committee .

The role of the Comnuttee is to dssist the Board in fuifilling its oversight responsibilities oy monitoring and reviewing the integrity of the
Group’s financial reporting and the effechiveness of the Internal and External Audit functions and risk management framework and
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system of internal control.

During the year the Audit Committes has reviewed the Group’s principal risks and emerging nsks which includes chimate change. The
1eview of the principal risks considers the likelihoed of the risks materialising and the potential mpact, in terms of both the inherent risks,
before uny mitigating actions, und the residual risks, after considering mitigating actions and controls. The emerging risks reviewed by
mancgement and the Committee include risks relating 1o physical and transitional climate change.

Following the acquisition by ECP, the Audit Committee for Biffa Limited was disbanded and responsibilities were transferred to the Audit
Committee of Bifta Topco Limited.

Strategy

As aleader in UK sustainable waste management, we play a critical role in chmate action, enabling e UK circular economy and
allowing customers and society To reduce their emissions by moving waste further up the waste hierarchy. Our business strategy ‘Reduce,
Recycle, Recover and Collect’ guides the services we offer, our operations, our supply chain management and our investment in resecrch
and development.

These four areas of our sustainable business model reflect the outcomes and volue creation delivered by our operational capabilities and
our capital allocation:

. Reduce: To pioneer and operate the UK’s leading waste reduction and redistribution services.

. Recycle: To develop and uperate the UK's leading recycling solutions.

- Recover: To invest in Energy Recovery Facilities infrastructure as a lower carbon alternative to landfill for our customers’ waste that
can’'t be recycled.

. Collect: To build the UK’s largest, most efficient, low carbon waste and recycling collections operation.

To further align cur funding strategy with our sustainability strategy and the climate-related risks and opportunities identitied, we have
established a Sustainakility-Linked Finance Framework which was published in December 2020.

Our sustainability strategy, Resourceful, Respeonsible, was published in March 2020 and 1dentifies 20 clearly detined targets which
mitigate against climare-related risks and capitalise on climate-related opportunities. These fargets include Scope 1 and 2 emissions
reduction, atternative fuelled vehicles, increcsed collechion route efficiencies ond the purchasing of renewable energy.

Progress against the strategy is reviewed annually and will take on board any changes in regulations, societol demand, rechnology
availability and the development of cimate science. Where required the strategy will be adapted 1o retlect these changes

Scenario analysis

we use scenario analysis to ensure our business model and sustainability strategy remain resilient to a range of potential tuture cimate
scenarios 1o 2030 and beyond. This year we have evaluoted against three scenaros. Expanding our scenario selection enables us 1o
explore the key fransimional and physical risks and opporfunities that Biffa may be exposed to:

. The ‘sustainable’ scenario - enables us 10 assess the opportunities and risks arising from o successful decarbomsation, aligned with
the Paris Agreement and its geal is fo limit global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels.

. The ‘middle of the road’ scenario - enables us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from what could currently be regarded os
the most tikely climate frajectory with a global temperature increase of between 2 and 3°C.

s The ‘hot house’ scenario - enables us to assess the risks where the Paris Agreement is not met and for global average temperafures
rising to above 4°C by the end of the century. Under this scenaric we face the acute risk of severe weather events and chronic
impacts of temperature and precipitation changes.

The scenarios used were intormed by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pathways! and UK
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (UK $SPs)?. Data from the UK Met Office, thar aligned with the global average temperature rising to
abaove 4%C by the end of the century was used in the *hof house” scenario so we could consider the UK- specific physical impacts of
climate change, as this is most applicable to our UK operations.

In 2022 we carried ouf a materiality assessment, asking our key stakeholders whether they saw the material topics as risks or
opportunities for Biffa to ensure we had a batanced view. The Executive Sustainability Committee consider that the materiol nisks and
opportunities outlined in tThe 2022 moteriality assessment are still reflective of the current business. See page 4 of our Sustainability
Report 2022 for more information on autcomes af the assessment: www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability.

Faotnotes

1 The Tnterguvernmentul Pungl un Climate Change Repaesentotive Concentrution Puthiways were used 1 our stenarlos as they allow physicol denare impauts to e considered
such as temperanire, Houding and extieme weuther, goioss dirfenng gveiuge lemperature dses tesulhing froim surying 1odiative furces

i SoLeLonon 10 Puthwuys (55Ps) desdibe o set ot dlfurnative plousible frujectornes ut soaetal development, which are based cihiypotheses about which sucierul glements ure
the most importan detenminants of challenges 10 dimere chorge nithiganon and adaplution spanal explicr Projeciiores of EnvronimEntul Tivers (SPFED) hove v ked wal
pathers o develop UK vet stons ot the $5Ps through o pal o tony prosess avolving stokeholder wurksiiops, infen Aces and goeshonneines 1o spatially, remporally and
sectorally extend glooo] and Batopean versions of the $5Ps
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L Low

M Medium H High

Summary of our most moterial climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 1 (‘sustoinable’)

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short  Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10 yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource More effirient Reduced and avoided We have an ambitious carbon reduction
rfficiency sechnology operating costs for 1arget and m order 10 meet this we have o
facilities and collections strong focus on energy efficiency across
flegt. M H L our operations and fleet and we believe
technology advancement would enable s
1o accelerate this under the sustonnable
s _ - world
Products ./ [ncreased increosed revenue due we are commitred 1o optimising our
o cervices / demond for to the continued processes and using our expert knowledge
L markets | b development andd s defiver low corbon services fproducts
k=1 ow carbon ) k H H H !
=] ) reciuced operating costs, We rontinue to monitor customer demands
£ services and and markets changes so we remain
o motertls competitive,
& o
© Additionol Increased revenue from we understand the importance of green
technology continued developmant technology and our gmibition is fo uniprk
of addihonal services, H H H £1.25bm of investment a1 green economy
nfrastructure by 2030, which includes bat
1sn’t mitedd to investments in plastics
e eeyelng
Resilience L oloborative Increased market vaie we engage coltaboratively with our key
relationships and revenue due to L M L stakeholder groups to help find soiutions to
reputational benefits, the most difficult climate challenges.
Mergers cind Reduced operating costs M&A enables us to continue to gain
arguisitions due 1o efficiency goins H M H operating etficioncies and new rapabilitres,
and increased revenue. heining us to achieve aur ambrthious
o . sustamnainbty targets.
Potential finoncial impact
TCFD Short  Medium Long
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10 yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response ond resilience
Policy and Erssions Increased operating We continue to review our pragress against
tegal legislation costs in order to our emissions targets and ensdre our
maintoin emissions L M L Targets oligned 1o the latess chimare
compliance and comply science
e with Jow emission zones
Renaewahle Impact on revenue due The cassation of the renewabls obligation
energy to changes in mhafves srhemes far landfilt gos which we currentty
tegisiarion avatlable . " L raceive forrour landf‘:#l gos operations AIRD)
n been bl into our five-veor business plans
- Other sources of renewable energy such as
- solar would allow us to utlise the grid
. _ ronnechons across o fondfill portfolio
wasre Impact on revenue and we engage productively and transparently
leqislation operating cests due fo with requiators and policy maokers to ensure

L ovw ermission
terhnology

chonge 0 service
demand L L L
and materals

Costs to transition to low
carbon technnlogy

_ oppattumity for Biffa

thot we hove foresight of uproming
leguslation, allowmg us to moke the
necessary adaptations A higher demaond
tar recycled maternials presents a great

Collaborating with our suppler on
technolngy cdvances enchies efficiency
gains in the use of resources and
operationnl processes,
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Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 2 {!middle of the road”)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

technology

TCFD Short Medium
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10 yrs Strategic respense and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and avoided we have a strong focus on energy
efficiency technology operating costs for efficiency ocross our operanons and fleet.
faciities and L L Improving our energy etticiency across our
collections fleet. operations and fleet is essential for us to
meet our amizifiaus carbun reduchion
. ‘VCQ_H_IFHI”TWEHTS, o
Products/ Incregsed Increased revenue Our sustamability ambihions will be
services / demand for due to the continued delivered by optimising our processes and
markets low carbon development arjnd H H combming these W|ﬂ_1 our actions o help
i reduced operating customers move their waste further up the
services and costs. waste hierarchy, helping To reduce the
_matericls carbon footprint of the services we offer
Addimonal Increased revenue Our ambition s to unlock £3 25bn of
technotogy from continued H H Investment In green econonyy infrastructure
development of by 2030, which includes ut isn't limited 1o
additional services. investments in plastics recycding.
Resilience Collaborative Increased market we engage collaboratively with our key
relationships value and revenue stakeholger groups fo help find solutions to
due to repurational L M the mest ditficult chimate challenges and
benefits. help our customers meet their own
sustaincbility targets.
Mergers and Reduced operating we continue to develop our capabilities
acquisifions costs due to efficiency through M&A, which will enable us to
gains and increased M M continue to gain operating efficiencies ond
revenue. new capabilities, helping us 1o achieve our
amibitious sustainability targets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs 310 yrs Strategic response and resilience
Palicy and Ermissions [ncreased operating Wwe ure muking sigmficant progress
legail iegislation cosis in order To rowards our comrmutment of a 50%
maintain emissions reduchon in cur enussions by 2030 we
compliance and L L have also set a target tor MNet Zero by no
comply with low later than 2050. Achieving cur targets will
emission zones. reduce our expose fo enission related
COSTS.
Renewoble Impact on revenue The cessation of the renewable obligation
energy due to changes in schemes for landfill gas which we currently
legislation initiarives available. recerve tor our landfill gas operations hus
L H been built into our five-year business plans
We gie exploring other sources of
renewable energy that will ullow us 1o utilise
our large land holding and grid
infrasfructure. e
waste Impact on revenue we engage productively ond fransparently
legislation and operating costs with regulators and policy makers 1o ensure
due to change in that we have foresight of upcaming
service demand L L legislation, allowing us to make the
and materials. necessary adaptotrons A igher demand
for recycled matrerials presents a grear
cpportunity for Bifta
Low emission Costs ta hansition fo Coflaborating with our supplier on
rechnology low carbon ™ M technology advances engbles efficiency

gains in the use of resources and
operational processes.
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Summary of our most material climate-related risks - Scenario 3 (‘hot house")

Patential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Leng
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic respense gnd resilience
Acute physical  Damage 1o Increased costs due Understanding the exposure of ou
impacts property/site to physical damage. operationg to the risk from extreme
(NCFeGSE 1 nfrostructure di woather events, including flooding. olows
severity of from extreme  1nEreased insurance us 1o dentify business-critical focations
extreme weather premiums and which can then be gssessed for rlimate
reduced insurance M H H L -
wedther) and events i \ o 'f " change adaption investment. New facifittes
rhronic G,Vo" obility for ‘igh mcorparate chmate change and flooding
physical risk’ areas measures into their planning phases and
impoacts (fong- development,
ferm climate S — - —_—
w shifts) Increased Increosed copital whilst the frequency and extent of extreme
] health and costs as a result of wegther is hard o predict, we continue to
@ safety nsk fire damage 1o monitor changing wearher patterns on a

buildings /vehicles,
short-term basis and tgke achon o

Indirect costs due nutigate any negative effects.
1O IMpacts on

health and

wellbeing L L L

Incredse in
operational costs
for heating, cocling
and change in
operaling practices
due ta shifting
temperatures,

The Risks and Opportunities Identified

Biffa views potential climate-related risks and opportunitics under two main categories:

. Tromsition fisk: changes as o result of legislotion, customer expectahions ond new techniologies
- Physical climate. physical climate impaocts and how this impacts our faciliies and operations.

Under both decarbomsafion scenarios used 1n our analysis, the risks we face are intrinsically Iinked to changes in policy and legislation,
technological advancements and innovation that suppert a low carbon, energy efficient economy. Risks that relate to transport and
enissions, impact most sectors, while other risks are waste sector specific. Mitigotion measures include suppert of our sublect-mottar
experts and the monitoring of future changes and our current business model shows our consideration of d deeply decarbonised
porthway

To achieve decarbonisohon the crcular economy is needed to decouple sconomic growth from the use of notural rescurces. This
presents significant opportumties for Biffa including changes in resource efficiency along with increased demand for recyciing services
and low carbon materials These opportunities are enhanced by England’s Resources and Waste Strategy, which supports the circutar
ecanomy and green consumerism Our business strategy positions us in key role to support our custamers during this transformation

If global chmate mitigation 1s unsuceessful and the ‘hot house” scenario becomes a reality, we understand that the world will face
changes in market conditions, but the size and nature of these changes are highly uncertain, Therefore, the focus of this scenarno s the
physical chmate impact on our business and workforce The physical impocts are primaniy related 1o severe wegtiner events These cotld
pose o sk to our workforce and facilities in the long term ond require us to infroduce additional safety measures and treining. we
beleve the best mitigation against the risks from this scenano 15 1o support the goals of the Paris Agreement and make o positive
contnbutian ta cimate action aurselves and thraugh our value chain,

Under the decarbonisation pathways, due to the amount of carbon already in the atmasphere and unknawn carbon feedback loops,
some increase in extreme weather events and long-term changes in temperature ond rainfall paiterns is expected These will impact our
hisiness, but to a lesser magnitude than if a decarbonisation pothway isn't achieved  Our business continuity glanning 1s informed by
both past and simulated events and ensures that we remain resilient to any disruption caused by extreme weather events Business
critical operations that are at g higher risk will be assessed for adaptation if required
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Risk Management

we use our well-established nsk management framework to review our chimate-related risks and opportunities.

Risk governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board ensures the Group's intermal control systems and risk management framework are effective with the Audit
Committee having specific delegated quthority 1o review the etfectiveness of the risk management and interncl control processes during
the year.

The Group Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-day risk management and control. This ensures thot management provides
leadership and direction to employees so that our overali risk-taking activity 1s kept within our risk oppetite.

Biffa operates the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship
between the various managenient and oversight functions, and to demanstrate how responsibilities are ullocated. The Internal Auda
function assesses our risks and contrals independently and objectively

Risk appetite

The Biffa Topco Limited Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures risk is managed appropriately across the
Group. Health & Safety, legal, regulatory and environmental risks (inctuding climate-related risks) are our major focus. 8iffa dedicates
significant rescurces to managing and monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed atongside. In each case,
controls and mitigating actions aligned o The risk appetite are put in place.

Risk assessment

A risk assessment matnix is used fo ensure that risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
moterialising and its potential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identity any additional activities that could be undertaken fo further mitigate the
risk,

For more information on our Risk Management Process pleuse see the ‘Principle risks and uncertainties’ section.
Emerging risks
In addition to known risks, we identify and cnalyse emerging risks and the need for mitigotion as part of cur existing risk management

processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team and the Audit Committee, and include risks relating 1o climare
change such as alternative fuels, flooding, and infectious diseases.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management process is cenfrally coordinated. It utilises a risk management tool and considers the existing business
model and future strategy. Within this toal, climate-related risks have a separate sechion, but these risks cre also included within the
operational risk profile for each areo of the business where relevant. An established network of ‘Risk Champions’ 1s in place to facilitate
updates during the year. The Risk Champions are members of the senior management team and take a lead role in engaying local
management to identify and regularly update risk information.

The Group Executive Team are updated regularly on the principal and emerging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned 1o
individual members of the Team.

The Aucht Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal ang emerging risks, as identified and assessed by management
through the above process. The Audit Committee also reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which
operates a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Qur risk Inanagement systems are infended to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extent possible; however, we cannot climinate all
risks to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurunce against moterial
misstatement or loss.
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Metrics and Targets

we assess our effectiveness of infegrating climate-related risks and opportunities into our business through the use of d series of business
relevant chmate change mdicators

Qur targets are:

. Reduce onr Scope | and 2 carbon emissions by 50% by 2030 frem a 2019 baseline (746,925 tC0O2e) and achieve Net Zero® by no later
than 2050. During FY24 we hope 10 receive validation from the SBTi for our Scope 1, 2 and 3 enyssions targets

. Introduce 10% non -fossil-fuelled collection vehicles by 2025

. Increase collection rowne efficiency by 10% by 2025,

. Purchase 100% renewable energy by 2025

Shet zor, s retris tagthle g dnaotone © betwern the amolint of arernbonias gat @minsions peoauced o e amonnt remced frans the otmocphere

-M;lric ) T 2023 T 2022 . 2621--_—
TOT;I Scope 1 and 2 emissions (L ocation-based) (1C0-2)" 524567 537.950 533,187
% redhuichion in Seope 1 and 2 emissions since 2019 79.80 2798 8.6
Scope 3 (HC0e)’ 666,065 £22.170 n/a
_% ogal_T-eTtmve \‘LlelIE(-;I ;',:I_Ie-?cilon veh?cles i 233 190 B <1
Collection route efficiency (ifts per km) 050 0.49 0.42
i % increase in collection roure efficiency from 2019 417 208 -12.50
i f;/;r};etfnl'_ﬂ:;r;erqy plrchased’ 100 lbO B 51

*Lomted grsu Aace provicded by o e Veotas The incenendent assurane e stuteraent con be aeaest gf ateps
B 27 amonnts have heen recalenletrd 1o melids the rapnet of the Vindar aconisition dunineg the prior perios|
=t Anaunts hage beer sestaterd torefles tthe percentnoe of renewnbile enengy pivchased for sites where Riffa caontale the eaergy sipply ngeeement

womiw Bfter ok rspst Rkl ty A e sorts ane petformane e

Comments on the data

1 Crgneel F v 2% we adenred o new eethadalngy for sal-nlated emissians assariated with Scepe 3 Cotegery 1 ipiiechases gonarls and services) and Categogy 5 femste genetaterd oo
Aperatinas) This new metheednlnoy means we ore asine qent by doto for shaed party woste treatmeas idisposel where possiple rather thons the spead brseo methndnloay

¥ uning FY 21 we mmver o mnim pertfolio where we a-e respranaible tor B1e anetgy s pplier onto g renewahle tanfl

3 Crllaction rante affirien” v wns significantly mmpacted by Cond-19 Fv22has bren anather soallenging vens weh o 19 amportneg <he etart of *he goer anr -rver shor e

e 1 BNEIIVE Broaress ios e mace tawards aur 2025730 target

To lead w UK sustainable waste monagement it 1S critical that we reduce our own carbon emissions and continue to develop our ability to
offer low carbon services to our custoemers. Our emissions reduction target is built into the Group Balanced Business Plan (BBP) This
nfluences aur divisional BBPs which in turn determines senior leaders' remuneration policy. Where relevant, other targets outhned in our
sustanability sttateqy are incorporated into our dvisional BBPs,
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

we have seen a reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions of almost 30% compared fa our 2019 boseline'. When taking into account
our purchasing of renewable energy’, this reduction is 31%.

This has been achieved through the continued improvement of cur landfill gas capture and efficiency gains within our operations, including
the removal of 56 diesel RCVs to date as a result of our acquisitions since the launch of our sustamability strategy, equaning 1o a saving of
1,600 1COZe per year.

In FY20 we transhioned our portfolio to a new energy managerment system to aid more granular data analysis. Following
recormmendations from our annual SECR audits, carried out by an independent auditor, we have completed a series of actions, including a
Non-Half Hourly (NHH) meter replacement exercise and creation of an independent site list, to allow us to have greater understanding of
owr electricity usage and quickly identify probtems During FY23 we have begun work on business area intensity metrics, helping us to
normalise electricity usage as the business continues to grow.

During the year we have implemented o Computer Aided Facilities Mancgement System which hos allowed for the development of
regional networks, reducing the mileage travelled for reactive maintenance. We also operate a rolling upgrade programme of energy
efficiency improvemnents across our sites In FY23 we have fitted 7 sifes with external ighting fimeclocks and installed LEDs acrass 18 sites.
A Building Management Systern has been instalied at our Heod Ottice to control the Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC)
gystem etfectively. It is estimated that these improvements will save c.751C02e per year.

Building on the successful roll out of energy and utility audits in our Municipol business in FY22, during FY23 cur Resources and Energy
division have undertaken energy and utility audits fo identity potential areas for energy efficiency improvements to be made. By
identitying cur sites individual energy usage, we ¢an rake more effective measures to reduce the energy consumption. The plon for FY24 15
to roll out a similar cudit across our 1&C estate.

As a result of our positive progress to date, we are well on course to achieve our sustainahility strategy targets fo reduce corbon ermissions
oy 50% by 2030

UK Greenhouse gas (‘GHG’) Emissions and Energy Use Dato

Emissions from: (in tonnes CO2Ze") 2023 2022 2021 -
Scope 1*° 496,959 507,630 506,228
Scope 2 (Market-based)y*” 15,641 16,079 20,555
Scope 2 (Locahion-based) Electricity, heat, steam and cooling*” 27.408 20,520 2{?}?59
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Markef-based)™ 512,600 523,/09 526,583
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Locahion-based)™ 524 387 537 450 533187
Scope 1 cmﬁ 2 (Market-based) infensity rafio - 1CO.e per £m revénue 304 gcs S
Scope 1l and 2 (Loco;;on—bcsed) intensity rotio - 1CO. per LM revenue 3n 373 o o012
Scope 1 and 2 {Market-based) intenisity ratio - 1CO.& per employee 47.40 5375 63.92
Scope 1 and 2 (Locotion-based) intensity ratio - 1CO-e per employee 48.55 55,21 64.77
Total Scope 3 666 0665 622170 n/a

 Corbon duwxide equivalent (CO g1 ¢ smandard wint v carbon aueountiing To qudntity greeniose gas SIbissICns, 811 s510ns redachons anu Laroon credhis
© Lited Gssurance providad by duread Venids The mdependent ausuranee ste1emenl can be viewed at DTps //www bittaco Lk sustumabilitgs reports-and . perfanmanc
s RYZ2 amounts hove teen tevaleulared To miclude Te mrpoct of the VINSOo! doguismun during e prion period

Comments on the data

1 Bitto collects and 1epotTs ehvionthizintal dara i accardance with the guidelines of the Greenhouse Gas Protucol The COZe ennivsions were caledlated us.ng the BELS 2077
ermssion tactors we heve followed The GHG Protocal Scope 2 Guidance reguining dual repor fing using Two ermisaicn fuctors for euch sife - Market-bused ard Location bused
Prion 12 FY21 the Location based inethiod has been usea as o proxy for e Market-bused method

i Stope b encutposses direct GHG emssians from eneigy generoted from tessil tuels used within our uperGhions stich as desel, gus une ol 21 iso ncludes war iandgoas
EFIGaIUNG BCupe 4 encuripasses ndinelt GHG ermissions frum the un-site generanen ond putchase of elecTnury LsIng marker-oused emissions 3ot beupe 5 2ncormplisees
et GHG ennssions 1 Bita’s wdlue chum {upstieam gnd downstiean)

3 Ine gutu repurted 1s pased un ot operafianol confrul Reported 2nvsaiuns e within the UK wnly No direct sperativns e Lartied vut offshore Ga vestioents ogjon’
verrtinas and ossuciutes are ncuded within Cotegory 15 of uur Scope 3 eitissions as they Tall outside oun operatonuf control Betas o these nvestirents con be Teand - Note
2B tu the consalidated hinancial sfatenenms

4 Slope 32 st includes purenused goods and services, coptdl goods, tuel and eliergy reloted achvities, JownsTrean rarspor iohion of sold produd s, waste generared m
CLEItGNs, Gl iless travel, emnpleyee Lcommuting, end-of-iite heatment 1o products sold by 055, leased ussels and nvestments, Dus ng rbe yeal we hoeye veveluped an
updoted inettindology and Y22 15 our baseline fon Scope 3 enmssions as 11 1s oot possible to calculate the prion years using the updared suzthodology

o We hawe extended the boundiry of our Scope 1, 2 and 4 epussions 10 mdude acquieed comparies The ennsslons assotioted with the gogured companies nove net exeeeded

our ermssions recalcalution threshold
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Energy Consumption within the UK
=nery n o

S D s heen cestaled teon e <ites mocaing frons disslosorss i the prien penod all other Aiscinsoarecan this table are nnaffe ton

Cormments on the deta

1 Tromalenibite the abeves s cscmpton figires, ve nsed netandanloay besae an the Streamlred Enargy Corban Reparting ¢ SFNR'y ~omplinnee srheire
Tha i rerse 11 ki att onted (o Desol tasbuserd 15 due taan increase s fleet size (Bllowang Acqs-hon « ambaned with e dicsel’ usnqge e replac ed by white fiswel "

cHew th b the Brgibass theongh nermisitions hos ead 1 nn overalfincrease r Tntel iowhonsed by the SGroop

3 Ihe cintey eportact s energy | serd with nthe R only Mo saermyois ased nffshore all Bifia’s nperanane mee Ls-bogsen
A SEOR Aara s Avdited by O nrpon Dessaeqd
A L S05 phnse 3 gudit due by December 201238

Energy Generation

Generation (GWhy

Carihon benefit (k tonnes CO e}

2022

383
81

2021
396
9z

Climote Change/GHG emissians table tkwh) o 2023 202_2” 2011
Methane emissions (ulilisedy 90,479 IR R25 422215
Diesel fuel used 554,071,415 457705737 342 316,679 |
7 Fiv;;i diesel USPEW_ - o - 3674083 7;’:66,\734 71590?12}17
Unleaded petrol usedt 1,734,825 643513 196.097
“Keroﬁene usedd 2,501.887 87499 87,542
TPG' 3,215,745 3073594 3,080,661
N(;TLJrc! gas - o 9,626,811 9‘389_552 Q,229‘1IEA
HVO 4,392,127 1,670,603 -
Purchased electricity 108,628,850 108025000 81,480,688
;\f‘s;p?plr;d -er\;-c;r‘rc\ty o 23,101,886 34,7b;j4ﬂl 34,1755_-17517
B T(-)N'.ﬂ - o o S ?20,841‘3;18 60?,93;:(:07 542,558,126 ]
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Biffa Topco Limited Board has overall responsibility for risk management at Bitta. In support of rhis, risk management is firmly
embedded within our everyday business activities and our culture.

Governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
eftective. The Audit Committee supports the Biffa Topco Limited Board in the management of risk and has been delegared with authority
to review The eftectiveness of The risk management and interngl control processes during the year

Day-te-day risk management and control is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer supported by the Group Executive Team who
ensure that managernent provides leadership and direction te our workforce so that our overoll risk-faking activity 1s kept within our risk
appetite.

Risk Management Framework
Bifta operates the ‘Three Lines Model to manage the ongoing etfectiveness of risk and control, 1o define the relationship between the
various management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated.

The Internal Audit function assesses our risks and contrels independently and objectively. On a guarterly basis, management self-certify
that the key controls within their area of responsibility have been operating ettectively. The Internal Audit function independently validate
these results through sample testing.

Risk Appetite

The Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures that we manage risk appropriately across the Group. Hea!th and
safety, investment, legal and regulatory risks are our Top priority. Bitta dedicates significant resources and focus to managing and
monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside this.

Management assess the appetite for risk, which the Board has considered and agreed. The Group categorises these risks info various
areas, including. interest rate risk; inflation risk; commodity risk; currency risk, disposal risk and energy risk. This gssessment includes the
exposures and the associated mitigations. This enabtes Bitfa to have informed decision making in ine with its nsk appetite, ensures
confidence in the response to risks, enables transparency over the principal risks faced and how these are managed.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management processes are centrally coordinuted via @ secand line risk management function working with an
established network of ‘Risk Partners’ in place to facilitate updates o risks during the year The Risk Partners are members of the senior
management team and take a lead role in engaging local managernent to identify, agree and update risk information on o regular basis

Wwe use a risk assessment matrix ta ensure that all risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its poftential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identify any additional activities, such as further actions, that could be undertaken to
further mitigate the risk.

The Group Executive Team engoges with the risk management function to review and update principal risks on a cyclicul end-to-end
process, Risks are updared individually by Group Executive Team members n conjunction with the risk management function on o regular
basis prior to Group Executive Tecm meetings. The risks are then assessed and reviewed and then further updated as part of the cycle.
Ownership ot each of these risks are assigned to individual members of the team. They are responsible tor ensuring the effectiveness ot
the internal control systems and tor implementing risk mitigation plans. The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, and mitigotions, as identified and evaluated by manogement through the above process. The Audit Committee also
reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function, which operctes a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews,

Qur risk management systems are infended fo rmitigate and reduce risk ta the lowest extent possible, however we cannot eliminate all risks
to the Group The risk management processes can only provide reascnoble and not obsclute assurance against material misstaterment or
o35,

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we have a horizon scanning review process To consider emerging risks. This entails ivolving key stakeholders,
including meambers of the Group Executive Team and external third pornes, in the identificotion of emerging risks afong set hmelines,
collating the information, reviewing and considering in-depth analysis and then creating a risk radar to llustrate the relative time horizons
and assessments,

This enables us to engage in a systematic examination of information to identify potential threats, risks, emerging issues and
opportunities. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team, the Biffa Topco Limited Board and the Audit Committee, and
include risks relating to future environmental, social and governance challenges, funding The transitron To @ greener environment,
rechnological changes and the use of alternative fuels.
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Principal risks

Risk movement

0 Incrmasing @ siaple

and uncertainties

0 Decrensing

Changes in
Government policy
and legal and
reguiatory
compliance

Risk movement and
level

0 High risk fevel

Risk impact
Repatatione
Regulatary
Finarcial

‘Strategic/
competitive threat
to business model

Risk movement and
fevel

&

Risk impact
Reputationat
Regulotory
Finane wrl

Medium sk level

The Group aperates in a nighly
reguioted industry and any
rieinges to Government pohoy,
recdirements with, ar failure by our
staff or third partics who we do
TISMess with 1o camply with laws
or reciiations of ta uphold our fligh
ethical standords could hove an
acdverlse iImpact on the Groop’s
nperations and results

The Group wos aworded the
logisties contract for the Reposit
Rettm Schome (DRS) in Scotland
T hoo onginolty been plonned so
commenee In August 2023 but this
has heon canrelled Management
rernain aptinishc thet Biftg can
secure equivalent ORS contracrs at
alater date

A key industry area of nek s
letndfill tax comphenee, i1
particular the misclossification of
waste causing the incorrect rate of
Iendfill tos to be paid Historically,
the Group has made o number of
FOFENOL poymEnts 1o HMRC due
to what HMRC perceive to be non-
compliance with londfil tax
gudance,

The current landfill tax encuiry to
anse poses a signuficant financial
risk to the business, given the scole
af the piotectve assessmants
s by HMRC

There remains o igh ievel of
unrertainty around the final
olitcome of This enguiry

Risk leve)

Lo

Medium High

Experienced and qualified teams,
supparted by external advisers
where recessary, thot moniter
changes and plan appropriate
mitigations and set policios and
procedures

Representation on the
Eruaranmenteal Services
Assooiation and ather external
bodies, linison with policy-makeis
and Reguiotors ot nobona! amd
Incal levels. responses to
Government frequiatory
ronsuttahons ard sustamabilitg
reporfing.

Environmental complionce strateqy
in place incluyding annually
reviewed targets and achions at
Iocal, divisional and Group levels,

Estuphshed comphance pohey and
oraceduras are in pldce to manage
ather requlotory compliance nisks,
such as landidl rax. brihery, data
protection, modern slavery,
competition and vebicle aperating
llcences

Industry learder in raising
awarencss of madern slaverny risk
and faunding metnber of the
Slavery Free Alignce

Traiming for staft on o ronge of
complienee topics wickiding langfill
tax pracedures, modern siovery,
antl-bribery. data protection and
competition.

The Groinp has mitigations m place
ta recover some of the committed
axpenditire incuirred on DRS A
Insurance policy 1s alsain place 1o
rmmburse the Group for some of
ihe costs not recovered through
The mitigating getrons obove

" Market disraption from the
apphcation of new technalagy and
1he advent of new husmoss medsls
could change the waste supply
< beun and adversely impart Biffor's
natabhshed opertting naset base
aof a fraditional coilection netwaork
and processing facilifres

Internal busmess Innovotion
Specicl Interest Graup focuses nn
market developments and acts o
anancubertor for deas and new
business mndels

Continual competrior anakysis ta
ronsicler thrents ond changes o
the landscape

Annyal stratedy review 1o anguee
that Brifa business model remains
~urrent and comprtitive

Ongeing investoent in ane
mmproveement of fhe cusiomer
=xpenenre thronugh digimsation,
improved procasses ancl
management iInformation

we are working closely with stakeholders
o meantona our preseace in the NRS
seheme struchure and have retonnerd legot
advisors 1o support,

We continue 1o fully co-operate with HMRC
i relartion ro the ongomg landfil trx
engLiry dand are recenving ddvice fram
Ernet & Young

“The business sitategy was updated and
approvee by the poard ahigned with the
SYP

The Tnnovation Speonl Interest Group
condimuet with goot represenioton friom
the business and roverning a large numibe
of cisroptive topics

Adoption of the My Bitfo digitol custnmer
platform has continued alongside the
establishment of a dedicated digrtal team

A numbel of external events were nttende!
and projac by wrth key partners
inplemented to extend our mnovohon
network
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategic
initiatives

Risk movement and
level

@ High risk level

Risk impact
Financici
Operational

Fatlure 1o deliver strategic
inttiatives, such as energy recovery
tacibties and business
transtormation, chulsmon
mtegrutions, commercial projects
and system iImplementanons.
Business fransformation 1s focused
on our products and services, how
they are sold and delivered, the
technology used and the online
services offered 1o customers

The key M&A nsks are not being
able 1o find and secure suitable
targets und risks and issues that
arse past completion, that impact
on The investrment case.

As with any such projects. there
are risks that the project fails to
deliver the anticipated
improverrients and/or benetios for
the budgeted investiment,
adversely impacting reputation
and operanng resulls

Board and Group Execulive leam
sponsorship and leaderstip.

Selected sottware is o proven ‘off the
shelf" product

Bredicated programme tearn and
change network 11 place, with
expenenced resources

Pust-investment reviews of all
projects.

Proven ERF technology, with
substanfiul UK ond worldwide
reference plants.

Lirmited recourse project structure

Due dilgence undertaken for all M&A
fransactions, including use of
externcl advisers depending on
turget value and complexity. A
standardised approach using an
estoblished valvation model 1s m
place with all transaction
reviewed/approved by the
lnvestment Committee und (where
uppropriate) the Board

Dedicated corporate hinance
expertise in place, who together with
expeneiced Biffa subject matter
experts act as senior stakeholders
for the gequisition process und help
drive opportunifies through the
pipeline.

The HR and payroll solution has been built
and completed functional Testing and will
be ready to implenient in the coming
finanoul year following extensive testing.

The Finance and Procuteimient Analysis and
Design phase wos completed and signed
ott enabling the bulld of the solution to
commeence and the timelioe and budget tor
the solution 1o be refined

The Sules and Service worksTream was
mobihsed aind hos now entered anommal
discovery phase

At the year end date Newhurst rermained on
target to reach full operations i line with
plan. The site became tully sperational in
May 2023 and 15 performing in line with
expectahons

Protos consfruction has been impacted by
the avaiability of steel rollowing the
Russian invasion of Ukiaine - matigation
ond confingency measures employed

JV Steerco meehngs held mornthly ro review
progress und ugree actions.

Completed 3 acquisifions in the year, Forge
(L&, share purchuse), BIB (1&C, trade and
assets)and Total Recyding Services
(Iogdustriol services, share purchosce)

Long-term
contracts and
tendering

Risk movement and
level

S

Risk impact
Financial
Reputationat
Operational

Medium risk tevel

The Group 15 exposed o risks
inherent inlong-ferm fixed-price
contracts, In particular inits
Municipal business and Resources
& energy division and related
opeighions,

Risks 1nclude inaccurate long-term
cost estimates due fo changes in
the external operating environment
and market dynamics that lead to
material deviations from initial
underlying assumptions

Group Deleguted Authonties Policy
for the review /approval ot bids by
senior management, Investment
Comnuttee and the Boaid.

Material bids are compiled by
dedicated development teams with
significant expertise and experience

Protechion trom change ot law or
force majeure for unforesecn
circumstances is agreed in contracts,
where possible

A contract risk tramewaork 1s 1in place
10 identify key commercidl /legal
risks and contirm through the
yguvernance process that these have
been considered and mitigated

We are moving gruduolly the risk protile
with Customers yparticularly around laoour)
as and when contracts come up for re-pid
or extelsion A mote tTransparent pass-
through concept 1s starfing to emerge
although this will abviously tuke time 1o
becume fully embedded.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Health & sofety

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Reputational
Retjintory

Medium risk level

Business
continuity, cyber
security and IT
resilience

Risk movement and
fevel

&

Risk impact
Finciheieil
Reputationol
S ationol

High rizk tevel

‘Attraction and
retention of talent

Risk movement and
fevel

&

Risk impact
Evvnewal
Operatane

Medum risk levet

_A:qm?xu; disruption

The mabibty 1o source and retoim

Biffa’s operations present inherent Group H&S Directar reports fo the
H&S risks 1o our employens, our CEQ

cusiomers and the wider public
Active and regular engagement by

sequar management inchuding weekhy
reporting and calls with the Group
fxecutive Team

Vinlahions of HES lrws /reglilations
cad have a material adverse
cffect on Biffa’s busmess and

reputatian
Inclusion of H&S targets and

abtechives within Group Balonced
Business Plans with ane of the five
pillars being 'Safer Together”

Embedded policies, standards and
procedures w ploce across Biffo for
the systematic cantrol of sigrific.ant
HE&S risks

Primary authanty relationship with
Hampshwre & Tsle of Wight Fre ane
Resrue Service ehabies access io
advice ond counsel an fire risk Tssues

Mantained management system
cevtifictnion of 150 45001.2018

Crisrs management and emergency
response plans in piace for key sites
oned operations

infrostructure, including 17
systerns, could patenholly hove an
impanet on the activity of the
Groip's customers, sirch as
incredsed billing times,
interruptions fo collection
operations and processing
fngisnios, ondg addifionol costs

Server infrastrocture supparhing key
17 services hosted in M crosaft Azure
Cloud providing resilience, fonlover
ond backup services,

IS0 27001 and Cyber Fssentials Plus

Avdinenatby, the theft inss, cerfification in place

destryction, misappropriation, or
release of sensitive and/or
conbtentiabirforrmation couln
result m hiisiness disruphon, doto
protection breach, negatve
publicty or brond domoge

Inirusion detection in ploce and o
rloud-based ‘miways on’ secirity
service provided by Microsctt
profecting agonst key cyber threats

Eatablisher] dnter protaction prley
and procedures o ensure
compliance

Tnvestment in EcoQOnline for mcrdent
management, audit & mspection, and nsk
manacement

Company-wide adoption ot TOPSET
methodatagy far mcdent investigations
generating Increasingly useful root cotse
analysis

Full reviess of all fire risk assessments fow
every property in the Biffa partfolo

Restructured HES leadarship team wiflt
enhanced assurance and project
management focus

Introducthion of Deep Dive assuronce
reviews looking of key risk rFire. Machinery
and Pedestrian safety in FY?23)

Development of suite of ‘learning frem
inridents’ materials inchiding new Groip
standard ond video lessnns' sharing
learning from key incidents

New processes for collecTion poimt risk
assessments for I&C o mimimise risks to
drivers and customers

Extensive development programme for HES
team ihclucing [TRSM Risk Monogement

and NEBDSH Process Safety o
E?:g]l?n?;;nﬂ lTprlan BTm-/T(_Ir‘-d 0 the
besard

IT secunity dnshbourd drvetoped rmnd 10
place,

A numiyer of 1T security trer mine ond
interventions deliversd

Some addifional security measures ancd
features implemented for boo o and
exprubive mmmhers

Microsaft Secure score improved oy 27%

Transifion o rmore comprehensive Mol
Factor Authentication

Ongoing review of the recrurtment
and retention of key wotkers such as
drvers

apprapriately priced and skilled
irhrur 1o menntonn « ompetitive
acyantage, could have a material
adverse effect on Biffa’s busingsis
reslte, operahons, finanta)
condition and prospects

Benefils appropnate and
camparahle to market

Talent and managgerment
development programmes deployed
ot senor ievels and progressively fo
ather levels qong forwarrd

Faundatinm Livitgg Weae now mnenlint fey B
lavel in Btffa (excluding C5G)

Drver attrition has reduced to pre
pandemic levels, recrutment process
improved utibsing internal recritment feam
for desvers

Job families implerented 1or stall roles
anrd pay adiustments made 10 ansare
comparihie o morket

Frimily friendly peaefris inprowerd

Grariuate programme introzdicsed

Adunnced Leodersiup Programene (4] Py
confinues
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Commodities
market and
pricing volatility

Risk movement and
fevel

&

Risk impact
Fmoncial
Operational

Medwum risk level

Biffa produces significont volumes
of recycled commodities for resale.
Commodites produced include
vurious paper grades, card,
plastics, and ferrous and non-
ferrous metals

In additton, Bitta gencrates power
frarn tenewable sources and
chunges 1o electricity export prices
impacl revenues and prohits
achieved

Markets for these recyclate
products have individuat supply
and demand dynamics impacting
both price ond avallability of off-
toke,

Ongoing menitoning and
improvements 1o product quality
within recyching processes.

Off-taker strategy to limir
dependerncy, where able, onnon-
OECD markets.

Commodity price risk sharing within
lung term commercial contracts

Power price hedging policy 0 place,
which s regularly reviewed.

Route ro market Power Purchase
Agreement with top tier ott-taker
gives ofttake certcmty and credit
wOorthiness,

QCC sules i parneuiur moved to QECE
markets with lurkey now a major ott-1aker.
We huve continued our progress with 75%
of LA contracts now on commodity nisk
share

Power hedying 1s reviewed inointhly by the
Energy Working Group.

PPASs 1N place for power supply up 1o end of
FY26

Finance
availability/
investment

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Fuancial

Low risk level

If the Group were to NGt Mamtain
adequate cash balances, the
Group would be unable to pay
supphers, payroll and other
creditors in a timely manner or on
agreed ferms. This could result in
delays or ceasing of operations,
both ot which could lead fo
reputaticnal domage and a
detenoration in financial
performance.

If the Group were to fuil 1o comply
with any of the financial or non-
financial covenants inifs credit
focilities (due, for example, to
nereasing nterest rates and a
deterioration w1 financicl
pertormance), it could result na
default and the acceleration of the
Group's vlihyutions 1o repay thooo
borrowings, increased hofrowing
costs or cancetation of certain
credit facilities.

Underperformance, a large one-off
cash outflow or unfavourable
nrerest rate movements would all
increase the risk of a covenant
breach.

Sgnificant und flexible bonk funding
tatihty with substarmial headroom To
enable the Group fo progress
strategic prioriies and
accommodate any downside
peiformance risk As ar the end of
the year, the Group held a cash
balance of £40 8m

£225m revolving credit facility (RCF')
expiring i March 2026 held by the
Company's immedicre porent As ar
the end of the year, £102m of the
facity was undrawn. Drawdowns can
be requested and processed ot short
notice if the need arises.

Inaddition to the bank tunding
tacility, the Group has over £50m of
undrawn asset tinuncing tacilities,
although these are uncommtred.

Ongoing monttenng af financial and
non-finuncig! covenants wath requlur
updates 10 the Board

Incorporate cash performance and
funding requirement considerations
nto budgeting and forecasting
processes.

Consider the impact on covenants
when making key strategic decisions
on gequisitions, disposals and capiral
expendifuie

Cngong monitoring of the status of
the HMRC landtill tax enquiry with
reqular updates to the Bitfa Topco
Lirmited Board.

The Group has significant headroom
on the lending covenants and Intends
to maintain high levels of headroom
guing torward. This, combined with
the flexibility in the busimness model,
enubles the Group to mitgate any
financial risks that materialise.

The Company’s debt was parhally
restruciured when ECP's tukeover was
completed With regards to Hexiple
faciities, the existing £350m RCF held by
the Company was replaced with o £225m
RCF held by 1ts immediate parent On 23
May 2023 the foclily was increased agam
to £325m. Refer 1o Note 25 and Note 34 for
more information on the wider debt
restructure

Increused debt levels and rising interest
rates have reduced the headroom on the
Group's lending covenants, particularly
InTerest cover.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Economic
environment

Risk movement ond
Tevel

g High risk fevel

Risk impact
Finemcial

Fronomic condifions ih the UK
may have an adverse impact on
the Group's operational and
finangial performane e

The: Group exposiire includes

= Political, socal and
macraeconomic fisks relating fo
the UK's exit from the FL)

+ Ay eConome woakness thot
lpads 16 reduced volumes of waste
and recyclote

» A detenargtion i
MOCrNeconomIc condinons
resulting inincredsed pricing
pressire and customer turnover
« Rising interest rates resulting in
increased cost of borrowing,
reclucing the headraom an the
Groug's lending covenonts,
particulorly interest cover

« Supply chain disnimphen, longer
lead tomnes and price inflation

The Group has revenues and costs
that are impacted by the value of
Sterling relative 1o key currencies
such as the 1S Dollar or the Euro
This provides some degree of offset
and natural hedae.

To improve short-tarm carnings
visibility and reduce the suscephbihty
of financial performonze 1o price

five tucrtions, the Grotp enters inta
forword « ontracts for

* The sale of electricity
* Short-ferm currency exposures
» The purchase of fuet

Biffa provides services o customers
n the public and private sectors right
across the LK economy The breadth
of customers offers o degree of
protection agoinst econonic
pressures thet may gifect specific
markets and industries

The Group has gocess to a Revolving
Credit Facility writh o number of
relationship bonks which provides
addihonal sources of funding. Cash
and liguidity levels are regularly
monitored 10 ensure the Group can
meet its obligations and strategic
nbjectives

The Group continues to monitor this risk,
specifically the impact of increasing
nlerest ratas, inflationory pressures oo
supply chain constraints, and remains,
confident that existng mitiganans enakzle
the impact of any weokening condnns 1o
be minimised

Biffa Limited / Annhual Report and Accounts 2023

26



Non-Financial Information Statement

The Non-Financial Reporting Requirements set ouf in the Act are addressed in the statement below

Main policies and standards which govern our appreach

Environmental information

Environment, sustainability and carbon policy

. . i »
Protection of the envircnment and the climate is a carnerstone of

Bitfa's business 1t is underpinned by our Vision and Purpose to be
the leader In UK sustainable waste management and to change the
way people think about waste It 15 delivered by our sustainability
and operational environmental compliance strotegies. Biffa is .
committed to 1ts complance abligutions as well as promoting high
standards of environmental, sustanability, carbon ond energy
management at all our workplaces, and in all cur activities,

. Colleagues
«  Whistleblowing policy

The Group has a long-established whistleblowing policy by which all .
empluyees may, in contiderice, report any concerns that the interests
of the Company or others are at risk.

= Diversity and inclusion policy

Our Diversity Policy is designed 16 provide equal opportunities in .
employment and to avoid unlawful discrimination.

Biffa will not discriminate directly or indirectty in our recruitment,
employment and post-employment practices because of age, .
disability, sex, gender reassigniment, pregnancy, maternity, race

twhneh includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national g ins),

sexual crientation, religion or belief, or becouse someone s mamed

or in a cvil parmership.

Health, safety and wellbeing policy

. Health, safety and wellbeing is the highest pricrity within the "
business and Biffa is committed to monitoring and reviewing
performance on a regular and ongeing basis. Our goal 1s 10
keep our people, our custemers and the public safe through
effective leadership and risk management, promoting high .
standards of health, safety & wellbeing in the workplace and in
all our getiviries.

. Social matters

«  Sustainable procurement policy

. Biffa 15 a significant purchaser of goods and services. This »
requires us o ensure our procurement practices are nof onty
responsible, buf also environmentally, economically, and
ethically sound.

How we monitor the effectiveness of the policies

Responsibility for environmental compliance sits wath the Board
Our Environmental, Sustainability and H&S teams work together
across fhe business ensuring we meet cur compliance obligations
by monitoring, evaluating, auditing, coaching and training.

We report on our progress agaimst our sustainalility strategy
targets annually m our Sustainabilty Report

All whistleblowing reports are entered in the Group Whistieblowing
Register and are thoraughly investigated.

The output of an investigation 1s typically reviewed by the Group
HR Cirector, General Counsel and Company Secretary and other
senior leaders as appropriate, dependent on the nature of 1he
complaint.

The Audit Committee manitors the Group’s whistleblowing policy
and arrangements.

Every emgloyee is required fo assist us o meet our commitment 1o
provide egual opportunities in empioyment and avord unlawful
discrimination.

We have monager guldelines for diversity, helping them to consider
diversity /equal opportunity obligations. Managers are alsc advised
to make reasenable adjustments to our standard working practices
to overcome barriers caused by disability and we have a Flexible
working Policy in place 1o support requests for variations fa
standard werking practices.

Employees are expected 1o repurt and discuss health, satety and
wellbeing matters with therr managers, and Group Health & Sufety
business portners who will offer or obramm further experi advice,
where necessary.

Employees are encouraged To contribute good ideas and
improvements and report any shorrfolls so management can make
informed decisions and improve stundards across the business,
we monitor pertarmance through our LTI rate ond have a rarget in
place to reduce lost time injuries by 50% by 2030 fom our 2019
baseline.

Biffa works with key stakeholders both within the business and
externally in order to share best practice, identify new
opportunities and deliver programmes that pronioTe our aims for
susfainable procurement.

Performonce is monitored and recorded, and key performance
measures such ws carbon ermissions reductions are regularly
reported,
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Social matters continued

Suppliers - social responsibility and ethical standards

Our suppliers of goods and services must comply with all relevant
leqislation and infernational standaords including trading policy, chiled
and foreed labaut, health and safety of workers, non-discrimination,
employment Inw, humaon rights, pribery and corruption, We procure
nnder the Code of Ethics of the Chartered Institure of Purchasing
and Supply.

= Corporate responsibility policy

Qur corporate responsibility framework enc ompasses our people,
henlth, safety & wellbaing, communities, the enviranment,
marketptace, relationships with stakeholders ond commirment to
business ethies and conduct

Employee volunteering policy and procedure

Biffa recognises that taoilitating the voluntary involverment of onr
employees in comnkmnity-based projects can result in ¢ range of
positive outcomes

Biffa will grant one day s paid leave per annum, iniine with an
employee’s contracted hours, to eligible employees to get involved in
team volunteering opportunities within our locat commuinities and
environmental-based projects

¢ Human rights

*  Modern slavery and human trafficking policy

The policy sets out the measuras, systems and procedures which
Biffrr emiploys to minirise the apportusity for maodern slavery ond
human trafficking taking ploce within the Group and within our
supply chain

*  Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

*  Anti-bribery and gifts and hospitality policies

Our nolicies set oY The standards that are expected of onyone
working ot Biffa, and third parties working with Biffa They include
the requirements on giving and receiving business gifts and
haspitaliny.

we have a social responsibility to our supphiers. When probloms
anse with a supplier’s perfarmance, we work with the company
concerned to help them te meet requirements,

we will be fair and lowtul in our dealings but avoid any condvict
which could be counteractive 1o our cotparate socual responsibility
and ethical standards we reserve the nght ta discontinue business
with suppliers who do not comply with our requiremients i this
area.

Our standard trading terms with suppliers are 60 days. This has
been the policy since May 2008 and 1s applicable to all existing and
new suppliers alike.

We are committed to complying with our permits as well s
promoting hugh standards on afl of owr aites, premises, and in all of
our activities.

Qur Group Executive Team is respansible for the delivery of the
palicy at a business level, with aversight and direction from the
Riffa Topca Limited Board 1ts success is measured throucgh ourr
sustanobility KPIs, which frack our perfarmance doross three key
areas (building a circylar econnmy, tacklmg chmate change and
carng for our people, supporting aur communities), enabling us 10
deliver against our responsaible business objectives

Managers are responsible for assessing local operotional needs
and proposed volunteering activity, taking info account the
henefits to both the emiploves and to Biffa.

Managers will also consider personal development and where
appropriate, volurteering may be offered as one of the methods of
meeting development needs.

Biffa conducts nsik assessments across its activities and supply
chain in order fo identify ony areq of its operations that might
represent higher potentiol nsks for davery or hurmon frofficking 1o
jalelell]

Biffa works with specific recruitment ogencres and labour
resaurcing partnecs who are enunity committed 10 ensurng the
work environment Is free of slovery and human frafficking.

All Biffa colleagues and managed service providers hove regular
meetings with onsite account manacders where we discuss their
achions regarding the prevention of modern slavery. It is a standing
item on monthly business meeting agendos ond guarterly husiness
reviews Labour providers alco give biweekly updctes on any
activity of cancern.

Wwe produce an anmual modern slavery starement, which the Biffa
Topeco Limited Board reviews and approves

Bitta enforces o strict prohibrtion ngainst the giving, receiving,
offer, acceptance. poyment or authorisation of any bribes. and miso
against any orher form of carruption

we also demand transparency and integrity in all our business
dealings, 1o avoid any improper advantade, or the anpedarance of
questionoble conduct by our employees or rhird aarties with whom
we do business,

Any instances of potential or cctual non-compliance with these
policies are fully investigated and reported 1o the Aurit Commtiee
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the consclidated financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023

This Directors' Report sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company in compliance with the Companies Act 2006 (‘the
Act’).

Directors
The Directors who served during the period and up ta the date of sigring were:

M Tophaim

S Parsons (appointed on 31 March 2023)
R Pike (resigned on 31 March 2023

C Chesney (resigned on 26 January 2023)
K Lever (resighed on 26 Jonuary 2023)

D Martin (resigned on 26 January 2023)
C Miles (resigned on 26 January 2023)

L Morant (resigned on 26 January 2023)

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

The Company's Articles of Association provide for the Directors and officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnified subject 1o
the provisions of the Act. In uddition, the Group maintains liability insurance for s Directors and officers. Neither the Company's
indemnity nor insurance covers claims arising from dishonesty or fraud.

Branches
The Company does not have any branches outside the UK.
Company Registraticn

Biffa Limited 1s o private company himited by shares and is incorporated in England and Wales with company number 10336040 and
registered address Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ.

Engagement with employees
The Company puts employee engugement at the heart of its people strategy and plans, as detailed in the Sfrategic Report.
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, becring in mind the aptitudes and abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that therr employment with the Company
continues and that appropriate fraining 1s arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development and promotion
of disabled persons should, as far as pessible, be identical with that of other employees.

Dividend
The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 6.89p).
External Auditor

So tar as each Director 1s aware, there is no relevant information ot which the external auditor {Deloitte LLP) is unaware, Each Director has
taken all steps that cught to have been taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that Deloitte LLP are aware of that information.

The auditors, Deloitte LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Act.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group reports its UK Greenhcuse gas (‘GHG') Emissions and Energy Use Data, Energy Consumption in the UK and Energy Generation
data within Streamtined Energy and Carbon Reporting section on pages 19 to 20.

Financial Risk Management

The Group's activities expose It ta a variety ot financial risks: market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit nsk and liquidity risk The Group's overall risk management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under o policy approved by the Board of Directors.
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Post Balance Sheet Events

In April 2023 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Faterpet Limited and 49.9% of the issued share copital of Esterform
Pockaging Limited. These businesses will form part of the Polymers business in the Resources & Energy division,

A restructure of the Group's debt became effective on 23 May 2023, with the following changes:

Term loans increased from £100m on 31 March 2023 to £235m
Rotting crecht faclhity increased from £225m on 31 March 2023 10 £325m
Private placements decreased from £345m on 31 March 2023 to £260m

0On 7 June 2023 the Scottish govettiment announced that. while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme i Scotland, it !
would be delayed until October 2025 at the earliest An announcement had been made previously on 18 April 2023 that the start date of

the scheme would be deloyed from August 2023 to March 2024. Circulanty Scotland Limited (‘CSL), the scheme administrator, entered

adrinistration on 20 June 2023 os its funding wos withdrown ond was therefore unable to meet 115 contraciual obligations 1o Biffa and

other parties The Joint Adrministrators’ Proposals were released on 28 July 2023, indicating that at best Biffa would receive an

immatencl poirtion of the tatal amount due from CSL.

In May ond June 2023, £7.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in
Note 2¢ At 31 March 2023, the total liobility was £17.8m. The remaining £10.0m is expected to be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025.

Refer ra Note 34 to the fingncial statements for mare information.
Looking to the future

we have a well defined and ambitious investment plan that will see us continue to grow the business over the coming years The
foundations are in place 1o enable us to do $o, whilst retaining the balance between changing the way people think about waste,
sustainability and deiivering strong financial performance. The UK Government’s ambition 1o move to a circular ecanomy is also expected
to provide further opportunities to support our grovwth.

On behalf of the Board.

:\J{L;‘LO\-\

Michael Topham

Director

Biffa Limited

registered in England and Woles No. 10336040
11 September 2023

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 30



Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company low requires the Directars to prepare financial statements for each finuncial year Under that law, the Directors are required to
prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in contormity with the requirements ot the
Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reperting Standards (IFRSs) The tinancial statements also comply with the IFRSs as
issued by the IASB and os adopted by the UK.

The Directors have also chosen 1o prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the Financicl Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law, the Directors must not approve the finonciol stutements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true ond fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of their profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

. Make judgements and accounting estimates that are regsonable and prudent

s+ Stote whether the Financial Reporting Standaord 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject 1o any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

. Prepare the financial statemenits on the going concern basis unless it is ingppropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

. In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

. Properly select and apply accounting pelicies.

. Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information.

. Provide additional disclosures when comphance with the specific requirements in IFRS Standards are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular fransactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial positien and financial
performance.

. Make an assessment of the Company's ability To confinue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's and Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy ar any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to
ensure that their financial statements comply with the Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and infegrity of the cerporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website Legistation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may ditfer from
legislation in other Jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

I our opinion’

the financial statements of Biffa Limited (the ‘parent company™) and 1ts subsidiaries (the 'group') give a true and fdir view of the state
of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31/03/2023 and of the group's loss for the year then ended.

the group financial statements have been propetly prepared n accordance with United Kingdom adopted internationnl accounting
standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as i1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASBy;

the parent company financral statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Misclosure Framework”; and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

we have gudited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated income statement;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the consohdated and parent company stotement of financial position;
the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in eguity;
the consclhidated statement of cash flows, and

the related notes | to 34.

The financiol reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the graup financial statements is applicable law, United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs s issued by the IASB. The tinancial reporting froamework that has been
apphed in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdam Accounting Standerds,
nchuding Financial Reparting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Fromowork” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and applicable law Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our repart.

We are independent of the group ond the parent compony in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevont to our qudit of the
financial statements i the UK, including the Financial Reporting Councid's (the 'FRC's") Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these reqguirements. we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide o basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preporation
of the financigl statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group's and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern hasis of
accounting inchuded

held discussions with management 1o understond the Group’s process In respect of 118 doing cancern gssessment;

reviewed the reosonableness of assumptions opplied by management in preparing its FY24 budget and 5-year plan,
performed an analysis on the Group's results aganst budget to assess historical accurocy,

assessad the level of headroom available to the Group from its lnan facilities and evaluated the risk of breaching covenants,

challenged manogement's rensonable worst-case analysis and whether (1is appropriately plausible but severe. ond performed
sensitivity analysis on key variables,

asaessed the appropriateness of considerations and assumptions regarding the impact of the HMRC landfill fax enguiry and the
Groun's ability to seftle i potential iability in the going concern period,

evaluoted the additional external funding faclities accessible to the Group,
obtained and performed analysis on pest year end results and benchmarked this against management's forecasts;

assessed the disclosure in Note | to the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate 1o adapt the
gong concern basis of accounting in preporing the financal statements, and

assessed the gong concern impact of the debt restructure disclosed in the post balance sheet events Note 34.
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not wdentified any matenal uncertanties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern tor a period of at
legst twelve months from when the financial statements dre authorised for 1ssue

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the dircctors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.

Other information

The other intormation comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial staterments and our auditor’s
report thereon. The direciors are responsible tor the other nformation contained within the annual report Gur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except fo the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is o read the other Information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially nconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appecrs fo be matenally misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or gpparent material iisstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise fo a
material misstatement in the tinancial stgrements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is @
rmaterial misstatement of this other infarmation, we are reqguired to report that foct.

we have nothing fo report in this regard,

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessory
to enable the preparation ot tinancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to froud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for gssessing the group’s and the parent company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operctions, or have no realistic alternative but fo do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole ate free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditor's report thot includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 15 a high
level ot assurance, but s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will ulways detect a marerial
misstaternent when i exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material (t, mdividually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to intluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these tinancial stotements,

A turther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial staterments is located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.org.uk /auditorsresponsioiiities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Exfent to which the oudit was considered capabte of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, inctuding froud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and reguletions. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, 1o detect material misstaternents in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent 1o which our
procedures are capable of detecring irregularities, including troud is detailed below.

we considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, ond reviewed the group's documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to traud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of managemens, internal audit, tThose
charged with Governance und the directors about their owrn identificatian and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that
are specific to the group’s business sectar.

we obrained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and
regulations that.

. had a direct effect on the determination of material ameunts and disclosures in the financial statements. These incduded UK
Companigs Act, pensions legislation and tax legislation in all relevant jurisdictions where the Group eperates; and

» do not hove a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental 1o the group’s ability 1o
operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the landfill tax regulations and the Environment Act 2021

we discussed among the gudit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions, IT and vuluation specialists
regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the orgonisation for froud and how and where fraud might occur in the
financial statements.
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As aresull of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures performed to
addrrss them are described helow,

B Iinpairment of Compainy Shop Group Goodwili' we considered the reasonableness of the modei (drawmng on input from specialists in
FY22 as the model was unchanged), involved valuation specialists in determining reasonable ranges for discount rate and long term
growth rate, evalucted revenue growth and gross margin, as well s assessing the relevant disclosures in Notes | & 9;

- Completeness of Municipal Onerous contracts: We obtained an understanding of relevant controls in place to identify contracts which
my be onerous and determine whether the potential hability is appropriately accounted for ond disclosed in the financial statements,
we also assessed the confract rerms for confracts with lower margins, assessed forecast assumptions around inflation & wages, and
analysed forecast future performance against historical contract results, and where oppropriate, bridged any expected Improvement
in perfarmance to specific one-off events in the year and considered whether they would reoccur. Finally, we assessed the disclosures
n Note 18 to evaluate whether it 1s in cccordance with the requirements of TAS 37 “Prowvisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent
Assets”

- Landfill Accounting: We pinpointed the fraud risk to certain gross cost estimates on higher risk sites, therefore our response focused
on assessing and chalienging the underlying data and key judgerments used in determnining the provision, Specific considerations were
paid to long-term energy prices, included as port of our assessment of gross cost estimates for higher risk sites. Furthermore, we
performed an assessiment of the reasoncibleness of the gross cost estimates used by management, by performing o retrospactive
review of the costs incurred in comparisan 1o those originally estimated.

- HMRC leaindfill tax inquiry: We obtained an understanding of the assumptions and the estimation process for tax provisioning. we
engaged infernal forensic specidlists to evaluate the scope and findings of the Group's internal analysis which was itself supported by
legal and farensic adwvisers We also involved internal fax specialists in understanding the reguirements of LFTL, the application by the
Group, analogous legol precedent and potential exposure. We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the tegal and
forensic advisers used in the Group's investigation,

For completeness, we reviewed correspondence between the Group, HMRC and the Group's external legal advisers ond obtained direct
correspondence from and made direct inguiries of the Group's external legal adviser with regard 1o the status of claims to date and their
views. When making direct inquirtes of HMRC, we sought to understand the status of their investigation and to corroborate areas of induiry
as the mwveshgation progresses Additionally, we brought additional resolrce onto the tearmn, nduding at partner and director level, who
stipported in challeriging the findings arising from the Group's investigation, in particular in relation to the completeness and accuracy of
provisions and contingent lidbibties arising from the Group's mternal analysis. We evaluated the completeness of the provisions and
contingent iabilities through review of board miniutes and boord correspondence, internal alidit reports and other supporting and
contradictory evidence, i astly, we also challenged the appropricteness of the disciosures included in the finoncial statements refoting to
the investigaton and challenged management and the directors on the impact on the completeness of their going concern assessment
and disclosure relating to this matter,

In corarnon with ali cudits under 15As (UK, we: are also required 1o perform specific procedures 1o respond Yo the risk of management
override, In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we fested the appropriateness of journal entries and
ather adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimotes arg indicative of o potential bios; and
evaluated the busmess rohonale of amvy significont fransactions that are Unusuol or outside the normn! course of busmess,

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following

. reviewing financial statement disciosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess comphiance with provisions of relevant
laws and regulations descrnibed as having a direct effect on the financial statements,

+«  performing analyhical procedures to identify any unusuol or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to froud,

+  enquiring of management, infernal audit and externct legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and
instances of non-compliance with laws and regutations; and

. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with gavernance, reviewng internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our apinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audir

- the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ repaort tor the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements; and

. the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with appticable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their envirenment obtained iy the course of
the audit, we have not identified any matenal misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 1o repolt In respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

. adequote accounting records have not been kept by the parent compony, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

s« the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

+  certain disclosures of directars’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« we have not received ali the informaotion and explanctions we require for our audil.

We have nothing fo report In respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in eccordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them inan
auditor’s repoirt and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permifted by low, we do not accept or assurme respoensibility to anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by,

27AFADSEIYIHA 7 A

Peter Gallimore, FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalt of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Birmingham, United Kingdom

11 September 2023
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Continuing operatiens
Revenue 16804 14432
-
Cost of sales {1,574.6) (1,3515%
| Grossprofit T 1os8 | a7 ]
_Operating CORtS (90.0} (750

Impairments

Operating praofit / {loss)

Finance mcome

T et

Finance costs (ZQ.ST

Share of results 1n joint ventures and associates

Loss before taxation

TToxotion

" Loss for the period

e ow
6.7 | ) B

(2243

[A WY

Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

Mthet compretbensive (I0ss) / income for the perod. net of income tax

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Loss for the period l asn 176
| Otner comprehensive income
Ttems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: [ | 7 T
jﬁmﬁmgﬁ / gain on defined beoefit pension scheme 25 (82.5) 48 7
_ﬁ;:\?(fmnq 1o itemis that will not be reclassified subsequently o prfit or loss 7 20.6 | (150}
— .
(61.9) 337
“ifems that may be reclassifiad subsequently to profit or Yoss: || T Tt T
Gain on fair value of cash flow hedges: J
Forr value (loss) / gan ansing on hedging instruments {10.9) 15.0
Terx relating 1o tems that may be reciassified subsequently to profit or loss - I P Ton
e . .
Nat gaun on cash flow hedges in joint ventures and associates (net of tax) %5

-1_'u|ol comprehensive (loss) / income for the period

_Attributable to sharehgolders of the Parent Company
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at

Motes As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill b 2918 2645
Investments in joint ventures and associates 28 51.9 294 |
Gther infangible assets 10 206.6 2229
Property, plant and equipment il 654.6 6172
Long-terin receivables 13 2.5 23
Logns 1o joint ventures 16 20.2 14.3
Derivative fir 16 Q.9 17
“Retirement b 25 951 166.1
1,33%.8 1,324 2
Current assets
Inventeries 12 43.5 552
Confract dssets 14 62.5 /1.8
Trade and other receivables 13 2179 2076
Financial assets 16 14.4 T T e |
Dernvative fimancial instruments 1& - 4.0
Cash ond cash equivalents 15 41.3 408
T e 379.6 357.7
Current liabilities
Lease liobilities 24 {55.1) (54.8)
Borrowings N 16 ) (35&?37 T T
Trade and other payables 17 (349.2) (340.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration 16 (3.1) (4.2)
Contiact liakllities 14 {27.9) (271
Der ivative financial instruments 16 {0.4) (U2
Provisions i8 (20.0) (20.3)
{B07.0) (446.3)
Net current liabilities {427.4) (70.6)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 {81.5) (368.5)
Lease liabihities 24 (228.4) (222.5)
Trade and other payables 17 {5.6) tb.b)
Deferred consideration o 16 B (2“5) _(E)_
Provisions 18 {164.5) (1374)
Deferred tax habihity 19 {12.4) (32.5)
T T T (495.2) (770.3)
Net assets 411.0 4833
Z1
Equity
Called up share capital 3.1 31
Share premium 2522 2476
Te}iglng reserve 21.2 9.9
Merger reserve 1703 1705
Retained earnings 22 (35.8) 524
Total equity attributable to shareholders 411.0 4835

The fingnciol statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed onifs

behalf by:

m;{to\
Michael Topham

et

[P
Cotry
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Total

jit:ulled up Share Hedging Merger—[ Retdined
share premium reserve reserve earnings equity
capital | (Note21) | (Note2l) | (Note2l) | (Note 22) £m
(Note 21) £m £m £m £m
£&m
Asaf26 March2021 S 31] . 70| | 1703
_Loss for the period - - - -
Other comprehensive income - - 16.3 -
_Yotal comprehensive income for the petied | - = __ 163 -
Fxercise of share ophions - - -
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - -
Value of employee service in respect of share option -
schemes {exchuiding N1Cs) - - _
| Dwvidends pand (Note 33) S I | ) B - BTSN R
As dt 25 Mareh 2022 31 247.6 9.9 170.3 524 483.3
Lass for the period j - - - - (16.7) (167 |
Other comprehensive income / (loss) —[ - - 113 - (619) __(52}1)_‘
Total comprehensive income / {loss) for the periad o - _—_l_ A - = (788 | _ (67.3) |
| Exercise of share options - 4.6 - - - 16
| _Shares purchased by emplayee benefits trust - - - - t15y 1Sy
Value of employee service in respect of share option 6.2
schemes (excluding NICs) _
| Dwicends pawiNote 35 - _43)
As at 31 March 2023 31 Mo
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Cash flows from operating octivities
Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 (8%
Share-based payments 20 4.7 37
Amortisation of intangibles 10 293 30.7
Depreciation of property, plunt and equipment - 1 108.0 949 |
Impairment of assets 9,11 9.1 250
Profir on disposal of fixed gssels 4 {2.3) (6.2)
EVP related 1tems . - 208
Pension deficit pgyments (8.6) (4.2)
Increase in mventories {8 3) (122)
Dewrease / (Increase) in recelvables 838 - o2y
(Decrease) / increase in payables _wanl 628
Decrease / (incregse) in finuncial assers 09 (3.4)
(Decrease) / ncrense In provisions 231 137
Net cash from operating activities 1667 144.6
Income tax received / (paid) 04 (0.3)
Net cash flows from operating activities 167.1 1443
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (79.3) (67.2)
Purchases of ntangible assets (1.7) (21)
Funds on long-term deposit (0.2) -
Business combinations . 8 (37.5) (1458)
Cush ueyurred from busingas comhinationg 8 4.3 142
Deferred consideraticn 13.6} (12
Investment in joint veritures and associgtes (L7 (1/5)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 52| _ 6.9
Locin 1o joint venture (4.6) (725
Interest recerved 0.5 -
Net cash flows from investing activities _ (128.6) (210.2)
Cash flows from financing activities ]
Interesr paid (24.1) (19.5)
Employee share scheme purchaose (1.5) (3.6)
Exercise of share options 4.6 06
New loans raised 23 72.5 345.0
Repayment of berrowings 23 (13.4) (191.1)
Cash flow on settlement of derivutives - 41
Lease labihities principal payments 23 (61.8) (55 1)
Dividends paid 23 (14.3) (6.7
Net cash flows from financing activities e {38.0) 759 |
0.5 10.0
_Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents e o
_Cash and cash equivalents ar the beginning of the period o 40.8 . 308 |
Cash and cash equivalents ot the end of the period 15 413 40.8

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 39



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

L Accounting policies

Genergl Information

2t Limated (the 'Campany™y is a private company limited by shares incorparated and registered in the LIK and is the parent company of the
Bitta Graup (the 'Groupn’y The address of the Company's registerad office 1s Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12
3TZ The principal activity of the Group is the provision of waste management services in the Urited Kingom

Basis of accounting

The ¢onsohdated financial statements have been prepored in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Act and Internanonal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS<). The financial statements also comply with the IFRSs as 1ssued
by the TASR and as cdopted by the UK. The comparative finoncial information has olso been prepared on this basis.

The consolidated tinancial statenents have been prepared on o historical cost basis, except for the recording of pension assets and liabilites,
share-bosed payments and the revaluation of certain derivative financiol mstruments that are measured of revalued amounts or fair values at the
end of eoch reporting period, as explained in the occounting policies below, Historical cost is generally bosed on the fair value of the consideration
qiven in exchange for goods and services. Fair volue s the price that would be recerved 16 sell on asset or paid to transfer o liokilty in an orderly
transaction between market participants ¢t the measurement date.

These financiol statements are presented in Pound Sterling (‘GBF’) and dre rounded to the nearest £0.1m. The financial statements for 2023 have
been prepared for the 53-week period ended 31 Morch 2023 The prior year was o 52-week period, fa 25 March 2022. The upcoming year will be a
57-week period, to 29 March 2024,

The prepdration of financial statemients in conforrity with IFRS requires the Lise of certain cntical accounting estimates. It also requnres
managemeant fo exercse its judgement in the pracess of applying the Group's accounting policies The areas invslving a tngher degree of
widgement or complexity, or areas where assumgtions and estimaies are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed af the
end of this Note.

Going concern

Tn assessing whether it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the gong concern basis of accounting, mandgement have considered the Graup's ability to
contmne for o period of ar least 12 menths from the date of approval of the consniidated financiol statements. [n doing so, management have challenged
fuburn cash and debt levels and fending cavenant headroam using o number of downside srenaries to assess the resilance of the Group’s finanacl position

During the year, the Group was delisted from the London Stack Exchange hoving heen acguirea by Energy Capital Partners (ECPT), o US-based private ecquity
firm 1115 ot expet ted thot the ECP takeover wili drastically change the Group's busingss model ond management have meaintained o focus on sustamable
growth, demanstrated by the completion of three acquisitions since the takeover The Board recognise the medium and long-term sustainability nisks ansing
from chmate rhange, including cessatian of Renewable Obligation Certificates beld by the landfill gos business in 2077 Short teronimpocts i relation o
chimate choange are Aot considered 1o have a signiticant impact en the Group's business moedel wathin the going concern period

The Group has performed stronaly agam throughoot £Y23, growing Revenue ond adpsted EBITDA despite comtmued hradwinds in the form of infintionary
pressutes, supply chain drsruption ond o chollenging economic outlook At the year end the Group had unutilised comnutted bank facdities avarlable of
£102.0m ond cash and caszh equivdlents of £40 8m The closing leverage ratio (Net Debt. Adjusted EBITDA) of 3 4x an a covenant basis comparns agonnst the
cavenant [1ant ot 4 5S¢ enrresponding 1o the naw debt facilities etfechve from 23 Mey 2023 The headroom on the 4 Ox inferest cover covenant lamit wios
sgnibicantly qreater thaa the headioom an the leverage cavenant al this date due to the lower interest cates in the FY23 year.

Sinee the year end, the Gronp has restruciured its dekt by incredsing 1< rolbmg credit focibty by £150rm, ncreasimg its serm lonns by £135m ond replooma -
axisting £ 345m of private plar emeants wath £260m of new privote placements The net imparct of these chonges s an increase o total hguidity of £2060m but
under 1he new facdities the Graup s reguired to comply with revised leverage and interest caver covenards  In modelling its forerast cash flows and
cavenants, the Giowis has cansideren the impoct of a possible settiement of the HMRC Landiil Tax Enquiry in line with the provision recognised in the fincncol
stotements 1 the first bolf of FY25  Cash finw foreec nsts indicate thot the Growys wilt mamtan net avoilnble Lguidrty levels above £200m throughont the next 12
months, 0 the Grovp would have sofficent iguidity to fund a lorge one off cash payment

Management have also applied reverse stress tests to determine the extent to which key financial measures could worsen over the next 12 months before
covenant innte are brear hod Interest cover headroom s expecied 12 be noticeabiy lower than previnus perinds due tn increased flooting rate expesure and a
sharp fise in interast rates, so certain nownside scenarios could rouse a breach of interest cover, However sutficiont headroom 1s expertart over the next 17
months s fint o broach of cither covenant would still require o worsening in ERITDA and cash flow alnngairda a1se ininterest rates

Inferest cover headroom s expetiad soredur e further of September 2024, moking n patentiol breach dus to 0 worseming of PorfofmOoNCe Of 0 Nse W earest
rate expactotons more hkeky than at September 7023 or March 2024 1t 1s management’s expectatian that an amendment o the covenant will be eguostad
Hom lenders bot if required we consides we could meet nur existing covenants by carrying nut o number of - asa impraovement mitiatives such as defoying
captel expenditire, concelling non-essental costs, utilising addiitiona funding trom awners and working ~aprital management 11 mav also be possible ta enter
(0 L nterest Wire Swnn tn fedure the exposure 1o any further adverse inferect vate movements Qn this boss we consicder the ikelhaod af o future caovenant

~rearh i1t Septemiber 7024 to be remote

Boced an the abave, management have concluded the Group s well placod to manage its financing and ather business risks satisfactonly and bave a
seasonohle expectatine that the Groud will have adequate resoure es to continue v oparation for at least 12 months from the signing date of these
zensolidated financial statements Tt s theretore considered appropriate to adopt the gomg concern basis of arccounting in prepanng the consolidatedd
fineincud wtotemonte
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Cornpany and entities controlled by the Company (its
subsiciaries) made up to 31 March 2023 Control is achieved when the Company:

. Has power over the investee,;
. Is exposed, or has rights, to variakle returns from its involvement with the investee; and
*  Has the ability 1o use its power 1o affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether ar not it controls an investee If facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above. When the Comipany has less than o majority of the voting rights of an imvestee, it considers
that 1t has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant actwvities of the
nvestee unilaterally,

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights i an investee are
sufficient to give it power, inclugding:

+  The size ot the Company’s holding of voting rights relutive to the size and dispersicn of holdings of the ather vote holders,

. Potential vating rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

= Any additionat facts and crcumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting potterns ot previous sharehclders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
ot the subsidiary. Specifically, the resulrs of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Income Statement
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases 1o control the subsidiary,

where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 1o bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group’s accounting policies

All intra-Group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process.
Chanyes incacceunting policies and disclosures

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year
At the date of authorisatien of these financial statements, the below Standards and amendments are eftective tor reporting penods
beginning after 1 January 2022, but have not impacted on the Group's reporting:

. Annual Improvements to IFRS Standord 2018-2020 Cycle, Amendments 1o IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, ond IAS 41 Agriculture

- Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: References to the Conceptual Framewark

. Armendments to TAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use

. Amendments 1o IAS 37 Onercus Confracts, Cost ot Fultilling a Contract

The adoption of the Standards listed above did not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group

New standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the foliowing new and revised 1FRS Standards that
have been 1ssued but are not yet effective and had not yet been adopted:

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

. Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

. Amendments to TAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclesure of Accounfing Policies

. Amendments to [AS 1: Noncurrent Liabilities with Covenants

«  Amendments to [AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates und Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates
+  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assers and Liabilities arising from ¢ Single Transaction

. Amendments 1o IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

. Amendments 1o IFRS 17: Inifial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Infarmation

The Qirectors do not expect that the adopfion of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in any future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Business combinations

Acquisitions of husinesses dre accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transterred in @ business combination 1s
measured o fair valug, which is colculoted os the sum of the acguisition date fair volues of the assets fronsferred by the Group, obilities
incurred by the Group 1o the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for controt of the
acquiree Acquisitinn-related costs are recognused in profit or loss as incurred.

At the ocquisition date, the identifigble assets acquired and the liabilities dssumed are recodnised at therr fair value, except that

. Deferred tax assets ol liohilities, and assets or liakilities related to employee benefit arrcngements, are recogmsed and mesasured in
occordance with TAS 12 Tncome Taxes and TAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively:
. Liabilines or equity measurements relgted fo share-bosed payment arrangements of the acquired, and share based payment )
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquired, are measured in accordance
with 1IFRS 2 Share-bused Payments of the oceuuisition date:
[ Assets (or disposa) groups) that are clossified as held for sole i accordomce with TFRS & Non-current Assets Held for Sale ond
Discontinved Opergtions are medaured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill 15 measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acqinres, and the foir value of the acquirer’s previously held aquity interest in the acqunree (if any) aver the net of the acquisition date
amouints of the identfiable assets acguired and the liabilities assumed, If, after reassessment, the nat of the acquisition date amounts of
the identifiable assets acguired and the kobilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideranon ransferred, the excess amount of any
non controlling inserests in the avguires and the foir value of the doguiver’s previously held interest in the ncoguiree (if ony), 15 recogmsed
immediately in profit or loss s a bargain purchase gain,

Wwhen the consideration transferred by the Group in & business cambination includes assets or liobilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrongerment, the contingent consideration is measured ot its acquisition date foir volue ond included as pars of the
consideratian transferred in a business combination

Changes in the far value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
with corresponding adiustments agenst goodwh. Measurernent penod odjustments are adjustments thet anse frorn addimonat
migrmation obtained dunng the measuwement peviod (which cannot sxceed one year from the acquisition date) about focts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date,

If the inttial accounting for o business combination 1s incomplete by the end of the reporting periad in which the combination oceurs, the
Group reporis provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete

Those provisionaf amounts are adjusted during the megsurement period (see above), or additional gssets or liabilities ore recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about focts and circumstances thar existed at the acguisition date that, if known, would have affecred
the amounts recogivsed of that date,

Goodwill
Goaodwill is inihially recognised and measured os sef out in the 'Busmess combinations’ sechion above.

Goodwill 15 tested annuaily for impaoirment or if there (s an ndication of impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to thar cash-generating unit.

For the purposes of impainmeint testing, gocdwilhis ollocoted 1o soch of the Group’s cash generating units (or groups of cosh-generating
units) that 1= expected to benefit from the synergies of the business cambingtion. Cash-generating units 10 which goadwill has been
aliocated are tested far impairment annuaily, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount thigher of valie in use ond fair value less costs of disposal) of the cash-generating unit is less than the corrying
amount of the unit, the imparment loss is ollocated first to reduce the carrying amaurt of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in o subsequent period

The key assumphions when cafrulating the volue in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management’s calculation of valie in use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the hasis of past performance, expectation of future performance
including climate change refoted matters such as the potential cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificate (ROC') schemes in 2027,
miphcations from possible corbon tax regulation and the Deposrt Return Scheme coming into effect. The value in use is also determined
after considering market nformation and a consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlving assets of each drvision.

On dispasal of a cash-generating unif, the attributable amount of goodwill 1s included in the determination of the prafit or loss on disposal
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies confinued

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture Is o joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights fo the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint control is the confractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require ununimous consent of the parties sharing control. An gssociate is an entity over which an investor has
significant influence, bur not centrol or Jeint control.

An investment In an associate or d joint venture 1s occounted tor using the equity methed from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate or ¢ joint venture. On acguisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment aver the Group's share of the net fair value of the idenftifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of The investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the ident fiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the invesrment is
acquired.

Under the equity method, an investment 1n an associate or a joint venture is recognised imtiolly in the Consolidated Staternent of
Financial Posifion at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or g joint venture exceeds the Group’s inferest in that
associare or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group disconfinues recognising 1ts share of further losses. Additional losses are recagnised only 1o the
extent that the Group has incurred legat or constructive ebligations or made paymenis on behalf of the associute or joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 36 lmpairment of Assets are applied 1o determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as o single asset by comparing ifs recoverable amount thigher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposaly with its carrying amount. Any impainment loss recognised is allocoted to the investment
as a whole and not 1o the underlying assets of the investee rthat make up the carrying amount of the investment, Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to The exrent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
INCreases.

when o Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint venture
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 1o the exrent of interests in the joint venture that are not relared 1o
the Croup.

Segmental repaorting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internat reperting provided 1o the Chiet Operating Decision Maker. The
Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the opercting segments, has
been identified as the Group Executive Team. The Group’s opercting segments are sphit info four divisions:

. Collections which encompasses Municipal ond Industrial & Commercial (1&C")

. Resources & Energy (‘R&E™) which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas

. Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group ('CSG'), Hazardous Waste, Integrated Resource Managemeant ('IRM’}, and
Biffpack

. Group Business Function (GBF")

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of goods and services delivered to customers in the normal course of business, net of frade discounts
and VAT. The requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers are applied to deterrmine when services are deemed 10
have been delivered and when the Group has met its obligaticns under its service contracts. Paoyments recewved in advance of
performance are held as contract liahilities and recognised as revenue when the related service is delvered.

Collections division

Waste collection revenue

The Collections division collects waste from customer sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the waste is delivered fo transfer
stations or fo a third party The fransaction price is based on contractualiy pre-agreed prices for collecting and processing the waste. Due
1o the short time between start and completion of the pertormance ebligations (usually on the same day), the revenue recognition and the
allocation of the transaction price over performance obligations is usually straightforward and dependent on the daily collection and
processing of waste.

The Collections division also provides collections services to households on behalf of local authorities under Municipal contracts, for which
revenue (s recognised ‘over time', The nature of the confracts and pertormarce obliguhons includes manugement fees o operare locul
authority recycling centres, waste collections and gate fees. The annua! revenue for the service is agreed at the cutset of the contract und
invoiced n equal amounts, monthly in arrears. The Group recognises the revenue based on the working days within the accounting period,
which 1s considered an appropriate approximation to when the process occurs. This is adjusted for any discounts given and penalties for
non-delivery of services. However, gate fee revenue is recognised as customer waste is deposited and based on tennage recaived.
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1. Accaunting policies continued
Revenue recognition continued
Resources & Energy (‘R&E’) division

Landfill revenue

The Company generates revenue from landfill activities by accepting customer waste onta site for disposal inta vaid space. This revenue
stream consists of gate fee revenue derived from the Company's operational gssets and 15 based on measured tonnoges receved from
rustomers Performance obhgations dre satisfied as the customer waste is degostted anto the londfill site and revenue 1s tecognised at o
point ip hme',

Revenue from sale of recyclate materials

The Group collects vanious waste materials, some of which are general woste and some of which are recyelable materials. The recyclable
materials are generally commingled and as such then have to be separated into individuat recyclate streams ready for resale. Recyclate
revenues are measured ot the agreed fransaction price per fonne of recyclate under the contract with the customer. Revenue recognition
occurs when control over the recyclate assets has been transferred and therefore the performance obligation is satisfied This is at the
point of collection by the customer

Energy revenue

The Group recerves revenue from the sale of electricity from generating assets. These assets include anaerobic digestion and gas fram

landfill sites Revenue from the sale of electricity i1s measured based upon metered output delivered at rates specified under agreed

contract terms with Biffa’s broker, EDF, under Power Purchase Agreements ('PPA’) or prevailing market rates. Energy generation ravenues .
are recognised at ‘a pointin fime’, being the point ot which the power is supplied through the sale to the customer, via EDF, based on the

quantity of units supplied.

Specialist Services division

Revenue from redistribution of surplus food and household products

C8G s aredistibutar of sueplus faod and househald product in the UK. The business redistributes surplus stock thot it purehases from
fhe Fast Moving Consumer Goods (EMCG" supply chain ta members who work in key sectors including FMCG businesses, emargency
services and social core. Sales are recognised when the risks and rewards attached fo the products (including product abeolescence)

have been transferred to the customer. This occurs when the customers take possession of the stock that has been purchased.

Trade discounts

Trade discounts are agreed as part of the terms of certain customer contracts. The discounts are usually in the form of o price reduction
based an volime coliected on a manthly basi=. The caleulations and terms of the discounts are set out in the ogreed customer conhacts,
They are calculated i accordance with the contfract, accrued automatically by the accotnting systerm an a monthly basis, and reparted as
areduction ir revenue. At the end of the calendar month, the amount of the discount for that period is disclosed to and agreed with the
relevant customers This discount is then recognised either by raising o credit note or by the customer raising o separate invoice. These
mechanisms are agreed ot the outset of the contract As the monetary frade discount per unit is knawn and the volume is known, there 15
no alement of estimation within the calculaton,

The Matenal Recyrling Facilities ('MRFs™) have contracts with local authorities which contain a ‘risk-sharing mechonismy’. Locot outhorties
are charged a gare fee per tonne of waste deliverad, at the paint the waste enters the site. In addition, once the commingled waste
recyclate streams have been sorted and sold, the local authorities are then entitled to a rebate based upon a pre-agreed percentage of the
recyclate value achieved The calculations and rerms of the rebates are set out in the respective contracts with local authorities. The
rebates are accrued by netting this amount off revenue every reporting period The colculation is sharad with the custormer and a credit
note raised (or the customer raises an invoice), There s no element of estimation within the calculotion,

Leases

The Group assesses whether a caontract 1s or contains a lease at inception of the contract The Group recogmises o night-of-use osset ond o
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it 1s the lesses, unless the Group decides ta exercise the
exemptions avnilable under IFRS 16 Lenses for short-term leases (defined as leoses with @ lease term of 12 manths or less) and leases of
low-value assefs (defined by management to nof exceed £5,000) The applicability of these exemptions 1s considered on o lease-by-leqase
basis If the Group exercises these exemplions o certin leases. the payments corresponding 1o these leases are recognised s on
uperating expenss on o straight-line basts over the term of the lease urless another systematic basis 15 more representative of the fime
pattern in which economic berefits from the leased assets are consumed. )

The lease liability is initiolly maasured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate impliat in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental DOrrOwWIng rate,

The Group's incrementol borrowing rote 1s defined as the rgte of inferest that the Group would have to pay to barrow, over a similar term
aned wiih o simdor secunty, the funds necessory o obtain an asset of o similar vaiue v a similar economic snvironntent.
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1. Accounting policies centinued

Leases continued
Lease payments included in the measurerment of the liability coimprise:

. Fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives;

. Variable lecse payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate ut the commencement date,
«  The amount expected fo be payable by the lessee under residuol value guarantees;

*  The exercise price of purchase options, iIf the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the ophtions; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to ferminate the leuse,

The fewse liability is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The tease liability Is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease lability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to retflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeusures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment To the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

+« The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, In which case the lease liability Is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate,

. The lease payments chaonge due To changes in an index o1 rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which case the lease lability 1s remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount 1ate (unless the
lease payment change 1s due fo a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

. Adecse contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case rhe lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of modification

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payment at or before the commencement duy
and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured af cost less accumulated depreciation and impainment losses.

whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37 The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorrer period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If ¢ lease fransfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-cf-use asset reflects that The Group expects fo exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a nght-of-use asset s impaired ond accounts for any idenhfied impairment loss as described in the
‘Property, plant and equipment” policy.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial information of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functionat currency
{foreign currencies) are recegnised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the fransactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non monetary ifems
carried at farr value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rafes prevailing ut the date when the fair value was
determined

Exchange differences on monetary itermns are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

. Exchange differences on toreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an odjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency
corrowings,

«  Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under tinancial instruments
hedge accounting), and

s« Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable 1o a foreign operation for which settlement is neither plonned
nor Hkely tc occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised inmolly in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to protit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

Non-monetary items that are measured at histerical cost in a foreign currency are not refranslated.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidared financial statements, the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and habihties
are translated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailling at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
rranslated ot the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuote significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rotes at the dates of the transacticons are used.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Foreign currehcies continued
Exchonge differences arising on the difference between transloting net assets of closing rote and translating P&L items at the average
rate, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly ottributoble to the ocquisition, construction or produciion of gualifying asseis, which ore ossets thot necessarily
tofke o substantial period of time o ger ready for their intended use or sale, are added Yo the cost of those assefs, unfit such nime as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use ar sale All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or ioss 11 the period In
which they ore incurred

Government gronts
GBovernment grants are not recognised untii there 1s reasonoble assurance that the Group wilt comply with the conditions attaching 1o
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants ave recagnised in profit or loss on o sysfematic basis aver the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchoise, construct of stherwise acguire non-current assets are recognised os deferred revenue w the consolidated statement of
financial position and fransferred 1o profit or loss on o systemotic and rational bosis over the useful tives of the related ossets,

Employee benefits
Payments to defined contabution retirement henefit plans are recagnised as on expense when emplovees have rendered service entitling
them to the contrnbutions,

For detined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations heing carmed out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the
return an plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised
n ather comprehensive income in the penad nw which they oceur

Remegstirement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in refained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss Past service cost s recognised in profit or 1oss in the period of o plan amendment. Net interest is caleulated by applying the
discount rate ot the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

s Service cost (including current service cost, post service cost as well s gains and losses on curteulments and settlements)
. Net interest expense or income
. Remeastrermeont

The Group presents service costs in operating costs and net interest expense or iIncome is included in finance income Curtailment gams
and losses are dccounted for as past service costs,

The retirement benefir abligation recognised in the consolidated starement of financial pasition represents the actuah deficit or surpius m
the Group's defined benefit pians Any surplus resulting from this calctlarion is limited to the present value of any economic benefiis
availrble in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans

The Group makes contnbutions under Admitied Body status 1o o number of Local Governmend Pension Schemes (LGRS for the penod Yo
the end of the relevant customer contracts. The Group will onty participate in LGPS for a finite period 10 the end of the customer controcts

The Graup determines whether an LGPS scheme is accouited for iinder o defined benefit ar defined contribution scheme brsed an
whether the deficit/ surplus can be poassed thraugh 1o the next contractor or Local Authority at the end of the contract, If, at the end of
the contract, the Group is not hable 1o settle any linbility o equally entitled to any benefis, the scheme is recognised os defined
~ontribution dnd contributions are recognised as on expense. For confracts thot do not allow for pass fhrough of persion costs, the Group
recognises the defined benefit ohligation less the fair vatue of scheme assets, and an adjustment 1o onty recognise the amount of defined
henefit for which it is responsible under the contract Movements in this adjustment are recagrised in the same way as movements in plan
assets

A icbility for o terminahon benefit is recognised ot the eorlier of when the entity can nolenger withdrow the offer of the termination
henefit and when the enhity recognises any relared restructuring costs

A hability s recagnised far benefits accruing to emplayees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the penod the
relnted service is rendered of the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 1o be pad in exchange for that service,

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amonnt of the benefits expected 1o be
paid in exchanae for the related servire.

The accounting policy for the Group 1s to recognise the net surplus/defiont for defined benefit plans upon acquisiton through Other
Comprehensive Tncome, as opnosed 1o an adjustment to goodwill. pursuant to IFRS 3 Business Combinations and TAS 19 Empioyee
Behefits.
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L Accounting policies continued

Share-based payment plans

The Group’s management awards employee share options, from time to time, on « discretionary basis which are subject 1o vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the
ncome statement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value 1s determined by reterence to the stochastic pricing
model. The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash held ot bank with immediate access, other short-term investments and bank
depasits with maturities of three months or less from the dute of inception.

Taxation
Tax remesents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. This facilitates comparison with prior perods 1o assess frends in
financial performance more readily,

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the pericd. Taxable profir differs from 'profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated ncome statement becouse of ifems of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in ofher years and items that are
never faxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculoted using rates that have been enacted or substantively enccted by the end
of the reporting pericd.

Ceferred tax is the tax expected 1o be payable or recoverable on differences bertween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used In the computation of the taxable profit and 1s accounted for using the hiability
method. Deferred tax liakilities are generally recognised for all tfaxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deduchible rempoiary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxcable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utlised.

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than ina
business combination) of assets and liabiities in o tronsaction that offects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax hakilimies are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed ot the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that suificient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset 10 be
recovered.

The Group has considered impacts of climate change in assessing the prabability of sufficient taxable profits {oss of revenue fram
cessation of Renewable Obligation Certificates (‘ROCSY) in 2027, potential legislation of Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS’) in England and
operating costs due to increased carbon taxes in subsequent reporting pericds for the recoverability of the tax asset, The overall impact
trom the cessation of ROCs has been considered in the future forecosts, however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and
increased carbon taxes, the Group does net consider it o have o matenial impact on the recoverability of The defened tax asser.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rares that are expected 1o apply in the period in which The liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates {and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred rax liabilities and assets reflects the 1ax conseguences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amaount of its assets and liabilities

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate 1o ifems that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deterred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initiol accounting of a business combination, the fax eftect is included In
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accumnulated depreciotion and occumulated impeairment losses. The cost of landfill sites includes the
cost ot acquiring, developing and engineering sites. There are no directly atfributable borrowing costs Property, plant and equipment 1s
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,

Depreciaton is recognised on ¢ straight-line basis over their estimated useful hves. The estimoted useful lite and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect ot any changes in estimare being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following useful lives have been applied fo property, ptant and equipment during the period:

*  Buildings - length of lease straight-line method
e Plant, vehicles and equipment - 4 to 15 years straight-line method
. Landfill sites - on a void-consumed basis, ranging from 2 1o 51 years

Land and Assets under Construction (AUC™) are not depreciated. AUC is depreciated when the asset 1s deemed to be complete, and in line
with the above classifications.
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L. Accounting policies continued

Property, plant and eguipment continued

Wwhere the obligation to restore o landfill site is an integral part of its future economic benefits, o non-current asset within property, plant
and equipment is recognised Chonges to the obligotion are recorded as adjustments fo the carrying value of the csset, The asset
recognised is depreciated based on encrgy production and void used

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets, However, when there is no
reasonable certotinty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives,

Anatem of property, plant and equipment is derecogmsed upon disposal or when no future econornic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued 1se of the asser, Any gain or Ioss arsmg on the disposal or retirement of an iterm of property, plemt and eguipment 1s
determined as the difference between the sales proceads and the corrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquued separately are corried af cost less accumulated omaortisation and accumuiated
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired in business combinations and recogrised separately from goodwill are recognised initiolly
at their fair value ot the acquisition date (which is regarded as their costy Amortisction is recognised on a straight Jine basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful ife ond amaertisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effert
of ey chanaes in estimate being accounted for on @ prospective basis. Tntangible assets with indefinite useful lives that gre acaured
sepdarately are carred at cost less accumulated impairment losses,

The following nseful ives have been applied to the intangible assets during the period:

- Brand - indefinite life

. Customer contracts - 3 to 20 years

. IT development - 5 1o 5 years

. Service concession arragngements - over the life of the contract

«  Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas exfraction based on the life of the site’s associated ROCs

An internally generated intangibie asset arising from development (ar from the development phase of an internal profect} is recognised 1f,
aned only 1if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

. The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale;

s The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it

. The abulity 1o use or sell the ntangible asset,

. How the mtangible asset will generate probable future economic henefits,

. The avelobility of adeguate fechmgal, financial and other resources 1o complete the developmant and fo use or sell the imangible
asset; ond

. The oty 10 measine rehably the expendiure atiributabie to the intangible osset dunng its developrnent,

The amaount initially recogrised for internally generated intangible assets 15 the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the criteria listed above. When no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss 10 the period in which it 1s incurred. Expenditure on research activities 1s recognised as an
expense in the period In which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recogriion, internaily generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation ond
accumulated impaoirment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately

An intangible asset 1s derecoghised on disposol, or when no future economic benefits ore expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
rinsing from derecognition of on infangitle asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amotint
of the asset, ave recogmised in profit or loss when the assef s derecognised.

The Group has a aumber of contracts for Software as a Service ('SoaS") arrngements These controcis permit the Group 1o occess
vendor-hosted software and platform services over the ferm of the arrangement The Group does not confrol the underlying assets in
these arrangements and costs are Therefore expensed os incurred,

The Group also mcurs implementation costs in respect of these contracts Implementation costs are capitalised as intangible assers where
they meet the definition and recognition criteria of an intangible asset under TAS 38 Intangible Assets Such costs typically relare 1o
software coding whicih can provide a benefit to the Group onh a standalone basis.

Other implementation costs, primarily relating to the configuration and customization of the SanS solution, are ossessed to determine
whether the implemaniotion achivity relating 1o these costs s distingt from the Saas solution, i which case costs are expensed as the
aetivity nconrs If the configuration and customisation casts relate fo activity which is integral to the SaaS solution such that the activity is
receivad over the term of the colution, casts are recagnised as a prepayment and expensed guer that term,
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 1s recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
Its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units ((CGUs"), the lowest levels for which there are separately identitiable cash flows

In assessing value in use ('VIUY), the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount ratre that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

It the recoverable amount of an asser (or CGUY 1s estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount ot the asset (or CGU)
1s reduced to its recoverable amount. An impeairment loss 15 recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asseT 15 carried af
a revalued emount, in which case the Impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and to the extent that the impairment loss is
greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss 1s recognised in profir or loss.

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) 1s increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so thar the increased carrying omount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in pricr years, A reversal ot an impairment loss Is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the
extent thot it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset in prior yeors. Any increase in excess of this amount
1s treated as a revaluation increase.

The Group carries different classes of intangible assets including, gos reserves, brands and customer contracts. The Group also has classes
of tangible assets in property, landtill gas and plant, vehicles, and machinery. The carrying value of these 1s dependent on future cash flows
and if these cash flows do not meet the Group's expectations there is risk that the assets will be impaited. The impawrmeant reviews
performed by the Group contain o number of significant estimates:

«  Forecast energy prices including the impact of climate change to these prices

. The ROCs recycle benefit rights (which 1s dependent on the ROC scheme being in place;
»  Forecost gate fees, tonncge prices and gas yield projections;

+  Long term growth rates; and

+  Discount rates.

The above have been considered in defermining the VIU of other intfangible assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated ot the lower of cost and net realisable vatue, Costs of inventories are determined con a first-in-first-out basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessury to make the
sale. Full pravision is made for obsolete or defective stock,

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required o seftle the obligation, and a reliuble estimate can be made of the obligation. The amount recoynised as a
provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 1o settle the present obligation at the end ot the reporting period, taking info
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligaticn, ifs carrying amount 1s the present value of those cash tlows (when the effect of the tune value of money is material)
The effects of inflation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the financial starements as a finance
charge.

when some or all of the economic benefits required to settle o provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset I virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amaount of the receivable can be measured reliubly

Provisions for the cost of restoring landfill sites and after-care costs are made as the obligation to restore the site arises, Costs are
charged to the profit or loss aver the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for ecch londfill site. The restoration
obligation Ts typically fulfilled within two years of the landfilt site being closed to waste.

Provisions for affer-care costs are made as the void usage increases, which results in the recegnition of an asset representing the future
ecenomic benefits expected 1o arise from future gas generation from the landfill site. Costs are charged to the profit or loss over the
operational life of each landtill site on the basis of usage of void space. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access 1o
future econemic benefits, an asset in property, plant and equipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates
that relote 1o the asset are recerded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asser,
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Provisions continued

The asset is deprecioted over the period of gas generation which commences during the active phase of lgndfill ond extends beyond the
closure date, producing commercial valumes of gas for up 1o 16 years. After-care costs are provided for based on the Directors’
expectation thot the obligation will have been fulfilled 60 years post closure of the site,

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under anerous contracts are recognuized and measured as provisions, An anerous contract 1s considered to exisl
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the ohligations under the controct exceed the economic
benefits expected to be recerved from the contract,

Service concession arrangements

Service concession arrangements typically involve o private sector entity constructing infrastructure and using that nfrastructure to
provide a public service: on behalf of o government or local authority for a limited period of time before handing ownership of the
infrasirucivure bark to the government or iocol aushorivy

The Group applies the tinancial asset model when the concession grantar contractually guarantees the payment of amounts specified in
the contract or the shartfall, if any, between amounts recerved from users of the public service and amaounts specified. This financial asset
accrues finognee income and is reduced as the financial payments are received This approcach has been adopted on the Leicester City
Council contract,

The Group dpplies the ntangible asset model when it has o right or a licence to charge users or the local authority based on usage of the
public service This approach has been adopted on the West Sussex Recycling contract that was acquired as part of the Viridor acquisition
in the year ended 25 March 2022

Financial assets and intangible assets resulting from the application of IFRIC 12. Service Concession Arrangements are recorded in the
Consclidated Statement of Financial Position. Refer to Note 30 for further infarmation.

Financiad instruments

Financiol assets and financial liabilities are recognised when o Group entity becomes o party to the contractual provisions of the
nstruments. Financial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire The financiail
instruments recognised by the Group are set our below.

Trade receivables
Trade recevables are recognised intially ot fair value abd subsequently ot amortised cost Lsing the effective inferest method, less
expected credit losses.

Expected credit losses are updnted at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recogniman, Expected credit losses
are estimatecd based on the Group's historical credit loss exparience, adjusted for {factars that are specific to the debtars, general
economic canditicns and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast future conditions ot the reporting date For financial
assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate

The Group presumes that the credit nisk on o finonciel osset has increased sigmficontly smce imitial recogrition when contractual payrments
ore more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise

All customers are sublect to credit scoring on a guarterly basis. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the
external credit rating of the connterparty exceeds the Group’s mimimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strong financial
position and payments are being maode within the contractual terms,

The Group dereccgnises o financial asset when there is information indicating that the debter is in sevare financial difficulty and there 15
no realistic prospect of recovery.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially af fair value and subsequrently at amortised cost using the effective interest methodd

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified os either financiol liabilities or as equity in accordance with the sitbstance of the contractual
arrangements

Rarcowings are recognised inthally at fair value, net of fransnction costs. Any difference between the amaunt initially recognised and the
redlemption vrlue is recagnised in the income statement over the pencd of the borrowings using the effective intorest method,

Botrowings are classitied as non-current habilities where the Group has an unconditonal right to defer settlerment »f the Lability for at
lecist 17 months after the balance sheet date
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies continued
Financial instruments conftinued

Financial assets arising from service concession arrangements

As detalled above, the Group applies the financiat asset model to service concession arrangements where there 1s o guaranteed right to
receive payments. The financial asset accrues finonce income and is reduced as the financicl payments are received. This approach has
been adopted on the Leicester City Caouncil contract,

Derivative financial instfruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the canfractual provisions of the instfrument and
are subsequently remeasured at their tair value at each bulance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gam or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated os a hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivalives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair vatue of recognised assets or hakilities), or b)
cash tlow hedge (hedges of a particulor risk associuted with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction); or ¢)
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Group documents the fronsaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged tems at inception.

At Inception and at each reporting date the Group assesses whether the derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 16. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity. At the reporting date the Group has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
olong with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions. At the inception of the hedge and on
an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in far values or cash flows of
the hedged 1tem, which is when the hedging relationships meet alt of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

»  There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

« The hedge rutic of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item thot the Group actually
hedges and the quantity ot the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that guantity of hedged item.

It a hedging relationship ceases 1o meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relotionship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e
rebalences the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Cash flow hedge

The eftective portion of changes in the fair value ot derivatives that are designated os cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
Group's cash fiow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange confracts result in recognition in either the inceme statement or in the
hedging reserve.

when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or loss in equity at that fime remains in equity and Is recognised when
the torecast fransaction accurs. when a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reporred
in equity will be transferred 1o the income statement.

1f a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating o the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that
It meets the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not gualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassitied to profit or luss in the pericds
when the hedged item offects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction resutts in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liabihty, the gains and lusses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
tinoncial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income, Furthermore, if the Group expects that
some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount 1s immediately
reclassified ro profit or loss
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1. Accounting policies continued

Cash flow hedge continued

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria
(fter rebalancing. if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or s sold, terminaled or exercised. The
discontinuation is nccounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in ather comprehensive income and accumulated in cash fliow
hedge reserve af that time remais it equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classificd as equity and recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above por value, the
proceeds in excess of por value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs,

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution to the Company’s shoreholders is recognised as a hakility in the financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Areas of judgement and key scurces of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS compliant financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and also requires
management to exercise Its judgement in the process of applying Group cecounting policies. The Group continuclly evallictes its
estimates, assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. As the use of estimates is inherent in financial
veparting, actucl results could differ from these estimates,

Criticail Judgements
The Group apphes judgement i identifying the significant, exceptional and non-recurrning items of income and expense, We tave !
sumimarised the palicy in mare detail in the Appendix.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

The Group operates o number of lendfill sites in the UK. Operators of iandfill sites are respensible for collecting landfill tax and paying it 1a
HMRC, Excise Notice LFTL @ general giide to fandfill tax (LFT1) sets ot guidance published by HMRC on the application of landfill teix
legislation to the activities of landfill site aperators such as Biffa.

The Group 1s the subject of an HMRC ehguiry (‘the Enguiry’} regarding landfill tax complionee as port of HMRC concerns regarding possile
misclassification of waste acrnss the industry. To date approximately £377m (2022 - £168m) of protective assessments have heen ssued
by HMRC to Biffo The growth in the level of protective assessments reflects both an extension of the time period covered by the
assessments and incragse in the scope of matters being investigated by HMRC.

In February 2020, Biffa waste Services Limited (BWSL) was notified by HMRC that it had concerns regarding certain aspects of landfil
tex complionee that may have led to an underpayment of londfill tax and waos conducting an enguiry primarily relating to the
interpretation of the qualifying fines regime set out 10 LFT1. HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's dota, over the
potential conduct of BWSL and specific customers which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

Fines are particles produced by a waste treatment process that involves an element of mechanical trectment, For a landfill site operator to
treat fines as qualifying fines (meaning that landfill tax on such matenial is payable at a lower rate), it must be satisfied that the conditions
se&t out in LFTT hove been met These include pre-acceptance checks on customers, visual inspechions of materials deposited af the landfill
site and comphant loss on ignitien ('LOT') fests conducted atf the specified frequency (which is dependent an whether a customer 15
classified as low or high risk)y LOT tests are loboratory tests on samples of waste to establish the omount of organic content in the waste,

In response to the concerns raised by HMRC, Biffa appointed Ernst & Young (EY’) ta conduet an extensive review In May 2020, an interim

report was submirted by EY and BWSL to HMRC addressing o number of the concerns raised by HMRC and outlining some immediate !
changes 1o processes at landfill sites operated by Biffa, which were made on a without prejudice basis. to nutigate the nisk of any ongoing

potential iability

In March 2021, a disclosure report and supporting data (the ‘Disclosure Report’), prepared by EY and BWSL, was submitted to HMRC This
challenged HMRC's findings and assumptions used.

In February 2022, BWSL recaived a further letter from HMRC which responded to o number of specific findings in the Disclosure Repaort,
asserted specific amounts that they considered were due and indicated that HMRC would be carrying out further work ot other aspects of
the Disclosure Report Following receipt of this letter, further detailed work was carried out by Biffa and it advisors

In the period aince the release of the 2022 Annual Report ond Accounts, the Enduiry has continued with Biffa and its advisors carrying ou®
further detaileel work and communications with HMRC

Monagement has applied judgement in concluding on the different potentinl outcomes and ther respective probabilities in accordance
with TAS 37 Provicions, Contingent Liabilities and Contimgent Assots A provision of £64m has been recagnised at March 2023 (March 2022
£20 DMy 0s this represents management's best eshmate of the amount required to settle the present obligation of that date.
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1. Accounting policies continued
Critical Judgements continued

Legal and tax cases
The Group has provisions for ongoing litigation. Management exercises judgement in determining the amount of provision required. This
provision is calculated using information provided by external professionals where applicable or management’s best estimate,

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in rekation 1o the landfili tax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of confamination from
asbestos. The Greup has received a protective agssessment ot £8.5m, which has been paid. As the Group s currently disputing this
assessment, and monagement believe it likely that they will win the dispute, the £8.5m payment is included i prepayments in the current
year {2022 £8.5m).

Geing concern

This is considered an area of critical judgement due ro the Group’s recent debt restructure and interest rate rises. Refer to the going
caoncern section earlier in this Note.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has the following key scurces of estimation uncertainty that have o significant risk of causing a material adjustrnent to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financiol period:

Environmental and (he Group operates a number of landtill sites n the UK. A significant cost of owning and operating a landtill site it the
after-care UK arises after the land-filling operation ceases due to the constructive and legal ckligation 1o restore sites and then 1o
commitments of care for them until it can be demonstrated that they present no ongeing risk fo the environment,

£33 0m

A provision 1s made for the costs associated with restorning and maintaining its londtill sites and controling leachate and
methane emissions from the sites. & number of factors create estimation uncertainty, including the impact of regulation,
fransportation costs, inflation and changes in the real discount rate, Due to recent volatility, the impact in the change of
energy and chemical prices on after-care costs are a parnicularly source of estimation uncerfamty. The provisions
incorporate our best estimartes of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of these
estimates could materially impact the calculation of the provision. An increase of 5% 1 assumed energy and chermical
costy, which impoct energy consumed and leachate treatment cosTs, would result in an increase In the environmental
provision of £1.2m.

{see Note 18)

The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a peried of up 1o 60 years depending on the date of each site
closure. In defermining the provision, the estimates for future expenditure reguired 1o setfle the obligation are infloted
using longer-term inflation rates of 3.1%, und discounted using the nominal risk free discount rate of 4 4%. The rates
reflect the period of the cbligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years. Future energy prices are
estimated using reliable external sources,

An increuse ot 1% in the norminal discount rate (at current cast) would result In o decrease of environmental provisions of
approximately £8.0m (2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in forecast cash outflows would resutt in an mcreased
environmental provision of £5.2m (2022, £7.8m). Long-term atter-care provisions inchided in landfill restoration and
after-care provisions lrave been influted at ¢ rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase ot 1% 1n the rate of inflation would
result in an increase of envirenmental provisions of approximarely £11.2m (2022 £231m)

Retirement Benetit The Group operates several defined benetit pension schemes which are accounted for under TAS 19 Ernpioyment
Accounting relating Benefits. Pension accounting is a speciahst area requiring the exercise of significant management judgement and the
to surplus of 95.1m use of technical expertise 1o determine the surplus or deticit of the scheme in accordance with generally accepted
(sce Note 25) actuarial practices The assumptions used in valung the defined benefit pension liatilities including the discount rare,

mortality assumption and infiation level are complex and changes to the assumgtions can have o matenal impact on the
value of pension liabilities. As at the end of the tinancial year the Group recognised a retirement benetil surplus of
£95.1m (2022 £lé66e.1m).

If the discount rate is 1% lower The defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6my). If the inflation
assumption increases by 1% the defined benetit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022: 100 0m). If the life expectancy
incredses by one year for both men and wamen, the defined benefit asser would decrease by £9.6m (2022 £14 9m)

All pension valuations are performed as af the year end reporting date,
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Onerous Contract
Provision of £20 3m
isee Note 1R)

Certain contracts held by the Group are considered onerous and long-terrm in nature These contracts can be complex
and contain key perfarmonce indicator clauses where penalties may be incurred in the event of non-compliance The
Group is therefore required 16 make operational and finanaial assumptions 1o estimaote futire losses over peniods thert
can extend beyond seven years

Varnability of confract penalties, underlying delivery costs, inflation rates, cammuodity prices apphed and customer clains,
or disputes can put addiftonal pressure on margins and on future contract profirability, giving rise to onerous contract
provisions, The Group mitigates against the risk of price movements by entering into fuel hedging arrangements
Management continue Yo monitor potential cost impacts on services and seek 1o discuss those with customers as
appropricte, on a case-by-case basis

The prediction of future events over extended periods contains inherent rsk ond the outcome of customet and
subcontractor clamms s uncertan and invalves o high degree of management eshmation Monagement recagnise the
risk of future onerous confract provisions beng recngnised due to significant cost increases as detailed obove

The Group holds three onerous contract provisions relating to contracts on Epping Forest, South Oxfordshire & Vale and
Lewcestar. The future cash inflow from the remaining onerous controcts are highly predictable as they are fixed, bosed an
the terms of the contract. However, the costs associated with delivering the contrart can vary and assumptions on future
cash outflows is considered o significant estimate when modelling the future net cash outflows on onerous contrect
provisions On the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale pravision, a 5% increase in future cash outflows would
increase the provision iy £15m On the Leicester provision o 5% increase in future cash outflows would incrense the
provision by £2 3m,

It awriving af the onherous contract provision for the Fpping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Ynle contracts, the Group
has discounted the future cash tlows using o risk-free rate of 4 6%. If this rafe increased by 500 bosis points the
provision charge would decrerise by £0 2m In arrving at the onerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, rhe
Group hos discounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.5% If this rate increased by 500 basis points the
prowision charge would decrease by £1.5m

Goodwill
Imparment in
Compony Shap
Group (‘'C5G) (see
Mete 0y

The Group recognised goodwill an completion of the acguisition of €3G i February 2021 The carrying value of the
goodwill 15 dependent on fiture cashflows and, If these cashflows do not meet the Group's expeactations, there s o risk
thrit Hhe assets will be impaired. The iImpairment review performed by the Group contains a number of sigmificard
eshirnates,

. Revenue in both the short and long term

. Grass margm in both the short and long term

. Discount rate

Changes in these assumptions can have a significant impact on the estimated value in use An impairment assessment
wrrs perfrarmed by the Grotg in the prine yenr, with the autcome being the recagnitian of a £25 Qm impairment to
goodwill due to trading under perfortnance, in accordance with TAS 36 Impoirment of Assets The annual impairment
assessment was performed agoin i the current year, with the value i use exceeding the goadwill carnying amount and
the autcome being no further impairment This s due to improved trading in the year The value in use excludes any
acditioned value which may be generated by future store roll-outs,

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are detailed above Management's calculation of valie i use has
tieen developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance and
expacittions of future performance which considers climate change, market information and d consistent growth rate

The vailuation of the goodwill gilocated to CSG has headroom of £29 4m ot the end of the financial year The pre-1ax
discount rate used in the value in use calculotion was 10 75% Anincrease in the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis points
would reduce headroom ta nil. The averade shart term anaual grow th rate used was 3 00% A reduchon of 167 basis
poInts in the average short term annual growth rate waulld reduce headroom to nil. The long term compounded arnuial
arwth rate used was 3 25% A reduchion of 587 basis points m the long term ¢nmpounded annual growth rate would
redure headroorm o nil. The average gross profit margin used was 56.2% A reduction of 210 bas<is points in gross profit
margin wolld reduce headroom fo nif.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

HMRC Landfill Tax
Enguiry

Protective assessments

HMRC hus 1ssued protective assessments totalling opproximately £377m o BwSL in respect of the pernod fronm March
2016 to September 2021. Cansistent with their usual practice when conducting an enguiry that may result in additional
ligbility 1o tax, the protective assessments have been issued by HMRC betore the conclusion of the Enguiry to ensure
that any claim for payment ot landtill tax that may be made by HMRC as a result of The findings of the Enguiry 1 not
time-barred

These protective assessments are not necessarily an indication of what liability may ultimately arise and may be
amended or withdrawn by HMRC af the conclusion ot the Enguiry. BWSL 15 not currently required to make payment o
HMRC or 1eserve or ringfence tunds for o passible payment as a result of these protective assessmerts, however 1t has
mode payments on account of £2.2m fo date.

Potential outcomes and liobilities

1n Bifta's view, based on advice received to date, there are a range of possible outcomes to the Enguay, including an
agreed setflement. To date Biffo has received approximately £377m of profective assessments from HMRC HMRC has
also shared further estimates of ligbility in The context of without prejudice settlement discussions, Inaddmion, BWSL will
incur further costs in conducting and responding To the Enquiry.

At the end of the Enquiry, HMRC will be required to confirm the amount of the protective assessments If no settlement
is agreed and BWSL does not accept HMRC's decision, BwSL will be enfifled to request o tormal statutory review oy
HMRC Assuming HMRC upholds s dedision in respect of all or part of the assessments, BwWSL will have 30 days from
the date of HMRC’s review decision to subimit an appeal to the First-tier Tax Tribunal (FTTY to challenge HMRC and
formally profect BwSL's position. To bring the oppeal, BwWSL would be required 7o pay the assessed landfill tax ro HMRC
at that stage, although BWSL could moke a hardship application to HMRC to secure their agreement to the deterral ot
the payment of the assessed tax, failing which BwSL could apply to the FTT directly on grounds of hardstup. It the
Enguiry resulted in BWSL being liable 1o pay addimional landfill tax, such ameounts should be tox deduchible.

Provision (see Note 18)

A pravision of £20.0m was recagnised at 25 March 2022, based on Biffa’s best estimnate of the habilities at that point in
time, recognising the fact that the Enguiry was at an early srage. This reflected the information That hod been shared
with Biffa ar that 1ime and the Directors’ expectations of how the matter would be resolved

Followng the receipt of further canespondence and protective assessments fram HMRC since then, the provision ar 31
March 2023 has been increased to £64m.

This teflects Biffa’s best estimate of the specific ormounts asserted by HMRC in ther estimates of liability that hove
been notfied to Biffa in the confext of without prejudice settlement discussions and addresses the range of matters
arising from the protective assessments ond the further estimates of liability excluding the element we consider to be o
confingent hability.

The estimale assumes that any possible penalty thot could be levied would be suspended subject to cerfan conditions
and accordingly has not been recognised. A suspended penulty will not need to be paid providing we meet the relevant
conditions during the suspension period and do not mcur a further penalty within the suspension period.

Further habihities cauld arise in relation 1o general 1ssues raised by HMRC about Biffa's compliance with the qualifying
fines regime set out in LFT1 These been disclosed as a contingent fiability.

The ultimate mannegr of settlement of the licbility remains uncerfan but we do not believe payment will be due before 31
March 2024 ond accordingly we have discltosed the liability as non-current.

Contingent Liability {(see Note 27)

A provision hos been recognised in respect of specitic amounts asserted by HMRC 16 date However, general issues have
also been raised by HMRC about how certain requitements within the qualifying fines regime set out 10 LFT1 were
ntended 1o be applied in prachce, and the extent to which Bitfa has complied with these requirements.

Rased on qdvice received to date for these areas, a present obligation does not exist and a hakility is not probable
BwsLs potential additional ligbility for landfill tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £iidm based on
information provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

Based on advice received, the Directors do not consider a liability is likely to arise in respect of such general issues, no
can a cost be rehably estimated, and therefore this item 15 treared as a cantingent liakility and no provision anses for
these general Issues.

In order 1o illustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's results and finencial position, further sensitivity
analysis has been included within the Notes.
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2. Segmental information

The Group is monaged by Type of business ond is organised into three operoting divisions.

- Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industrial & Commercial.
- Resources & Energy which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recyeling and Landfill Gas
Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group and Industrial Services.

These operating divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its primary segment information ond are conststent
with the internal reporting provided ta the chief operating decision maker Head office costs are recorded within the Group Busmess
Function ('GBF") division, however for operating and business decisions only three divisions are considered. Group Business Function costs
represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, Board and corporate costs, finance, HR, IT, legat and insurance,
external affairs ond Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Management ('SHEQ"). The chief aperating decision maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and gssessing performance of the operating divisions, has been identitied as the Group Executive
Team,

The Group's segmental results are as follows,

2023 2022
Revenwe M Em
Caollections 10061 ’739
Recources & Energy 4394 3957
_Specialist Serviees — a7 A
Total | _ 16804 lM44%2

Revenue within divisions is eliminated upon consalidation Sales between aperating divisions are carried out at arm’s length There have
been no material amounis of revenue recognised in the year that relote to performance obligations satisfied or partially sahsfied in
previols years Revenie received where the performance obligation will he fulfilled in the future is classified as deferred income or
controct hapilities ond disclosed in Note 14,

All trading activity and operations are in the United Kingdom and there is therefore no secondary reporting format by gengraphical
segment There is no single customer that accounts for more that 10% of the Group's revenue (2022 none),

2023 2022

_Operatingprofit fdossy . £m _—Em
Collections h9 656
Resources & Energy 3n3 175
Specialist Services 127 (e Q)
Group Business Function ooy OGN

_ Total e e B3
[ - 2023 o 2022

Depreciotion  Amortisation Tota! Depreciation  Amortisation Total

_Depreciation ond Amortisation WM fm &m _fm fm i
Collectians 636 57 68.8 558 4.5 60.3
Resauwrces & Enargy 323 227 55.0 %7 251 548
Specalisl Services 80 04 a4 62 - &2

_Group Businese Funchion o a1 DR B | 2 w43
Yetod .. 080 w3 %5 %A% a7 1256
2022

Property, plant and equipment - netpook valyee =~ = . o _Em_
Collertions 3193
Resources & Energy 2254
Speriahst Services 505
JOroup Busimess Funchor el S

e . bB54b6 . myz
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2. Segmental information continued

2023 2022

_Other intangible assets - net book value . £m L Em_
Collections 452 213
Resources & Energy 626 1218
Specialist Services - 54
Group Business Function 988 744
Total 206.6 2209
2023 2022
Capital expenditure £m £m
Collections 1234 104.1
Resources & Energy 275 Q6.2
Specialist Services 1.8 16.4
Group Business Function 217 71

174.4 2238

_ Total

Capital expenditure comprises additions To intangible assets and property, plant and equipment including leased assets and acgquisitions,

3. Finance income and charges

2023 2022

£m £m

Interest un bank overdrafts, bonds and loons (158) (97

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 24} (10.3) {9.8)

Interest unwind on discounted provisions (Note 18) (3.3) {28)
_Loterest on forward contracts S - ERCE I _ @y

Total finance charges {29.5) (22.4)

Interest income 19 0.9

Net interest on the nel detined benefit surplus (Note 25) 4.8 2.5

Total finance income 6.7 3.2
_Net finance charges e e 228 (192
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4., Profit before taxation
The following casts / {income) have been included in arriving at the profit before taxation.
2023 2022
e _Notes  __EM . Em_
Employee costs 5 430.9 610
Cost of inventories recognised in expense 12 876 “83
EVP taix displite 12 208
Provision for HMRC landfill tax enguiry 0.7 17.0
Net defined benefit surplus (income) / expense 25 (13 a5
Depreciation of property, plant and eqguipment 1
. Owned assets 5272 4728
. Right-of-use assets 55.8 21
. Armortsonon of Wwongible nssets. 10
. Acquisition intangibles 252 296
. Other intangibles 4.1 11
. Expense / (mcome) relating to short-term legses and leases of low vaiue assets.
. Plant and moachinety 238 210
- Other 22y 15
Impairments 89 gt 250
Throme from sub-leasing nght-of-use assets (3.3) 3R
Arotit on disposal of property, plont and eguipiment, and intangible assets {2.3) 2
ncome from grants (0.2y (04
_Expecied crecht loss recognised . P 12

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anaerobic digestion nlant, in addition
1o a £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site. In the prior period on impairment of £25 001 wes recogrised n relation to
the goodwill arising from the CSG acquistion

Operafing costs have been split mto administration and distribution costs as detalled below:

2023 2022

o e £m £m

Distribttion costs 297 261
_Admnistrotive expenses 608 489
___900 _ 759

_Operating costs

5. Employees and Directors

The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group, by reporting division during the period,
was

2023 2022

N . — . Mumber = Number
Collections 7,591 6749
Resourr os & Energy 1.246 1,105
Specialist Services 1.709 1454

_faroup Business Furd tton - o - 490 A

JTetad . 1083 9744

Their ngagregate romuneratian camprised.

2023 2022

___________________ . £m . Em
woges and solaries 3795 3147
Sooal security casts 373 304
Other pension costs 122 132

__Redundancy and termination payments e 19 ,_,,_W._,_?J

_Tatal 4309 . 3elo
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5. Employees and Directors continued

Directors’ remuneration
During the year, the emoluments of the 7 (2022: 9 Directors of the Group were os follows:

2023 2022
£m £m

Aggregate emalumeriis 19 23
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.2 a2
Compensation for foss of ottice o1 -
Total 22 25
2023 2022

The number of Directors who: Number Number
Are members of a money purchase pension scheme 2 2
Exercised options over shares i the Company 2 -
Had awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 2
2023 2022

Highest paid Director £m £m
Aggregate emoluments 1.1 11
_Company contribuhons to money purchase pension schemes o 0.1 Q.1
Total 12 1.2

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

6. Auditor’s remuneration

Ihe analysis of the Company and Group’s auditor's remuneration 1s as follows:

2023 2022
o e £m £m_
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor tor the audit of the Company’s consolidated
annual financial statements 10 1.0
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 0.5 ubs
Increase in fees paid to the Company's auditor reloted to the audil in the prior period 07
Total audit fees 2.2 1.5
Audit-reloted assurance services e or .. Ll
_ Total audit and non-audit fees_ 23 _le

Subsequent 1o the release of the Annual Report and Accounts 2022, a remunerafion increase of £0.7m was agreed with the auditors for the
audit work performed on the accounts for the year ended 25 March 2022,

The other assurance services provided by the auditor related ro agreed upen procedures and other assurance services outside of statutory
requirements.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 59



Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. Toxation recognised in profit or loss
2023 2022
e Ll e _Em o im
Current tax
Turrent peried 02
Adyustments in respect of prioryears .
o . 0.2
DOeferred tax
Orguration and reversal of tempornry differences (Z9) (35)
Adistment i respect of prior years 06 03
_Adjustment aftributable fo changes imtax rates andlaws O - Lo
o ) o 25 (11.2)
Yotol tax charge / {eredit) e — 1e (11.0)
Carporation tax is calculated of 19% (2022: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the period con he
reconcited 1o the profis per the consobdoted moome stofement os follows.
2023 2022
e . gm _______fm
Loss hefore taxation (15.1) (28.6})
Loss multiphed by the stondord rote of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2072 19%) 22 (54)
Effects of:
Adjustments i vespect of nnor years, 38 03
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.4 (0.2)
Supar dodiction 41 (38)
Change in rate 0.6 2m
_Mon-faxgble income oz 0.1y
Total tax chorge / (credit) o . . . % _ 110y
Ir addition 1o the armout chorged to the consolidoted income statemem, the following amounts have been (credited) £ chaorged directty
tC equity
2023 2022
Deferred tax {credit) / charge arising on: £m £m
Actuarial gains £ loskes (20.6) 150
Hedging (24) 22
79'?*.0_“_re:bc1<e=ri payments (1.5)
Total deferred tax (credited) / charged directly to equity (24.5) 172

The Finance Act 2021, which prowides for an increase in the main rate of corporation tax from 19% to 25% effective from 1 April 2023 was
enocted on 24 May 7021, As deferred tax assets ond liabilifies are measured o1 the rates that ore expected to apply in the periods of
reversal, deferred tax balances ar the balance sheet dare have been colculated at the rate at which the relevant balance is expected to be

recovered or sattled

8. Acquisitions
53-week period ended 31 March 2023

DJB Recycling Limited

On 1 July 2Q22, the Group acautrerd the trade and gssets of DIB Racycling Limited, o waste collection and recycling business for
consideronon of £1 7 The bnsiness generated revenue of .£4.7m m the 12 months pnor fo ocquisition, employed 31 people, had o fiee? of

13 vehicles aned operated from 2 sites m Sheffield. Goodwill orsing on the doquisition was £0.6m.

Since acquisifion to the end of the financial year, DIB Recycling has generated revenues of £2.9m and a profit before tax of £0.4m. If the
acaustion had been complated on the first day of the financal year, Group revenues for the year would have been €1.684 3m and

operaing orofit for the year would hove been £29 2m
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8. Acquisitions continued
53-week period ended 31 March 2023 continued

Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limired

On 2 November 2022, the Group acquired 100% ot the share vapital of Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries. Forge
Recycling is o Leeds-based I&C collections business with 100 employees and 3,800 customers. Upfroint net cash consideration was £14.7m,
with o further contingent sum due post year-end, calkculated by reference to the performance of the acquired business through 1o the end
of March 2023. The final contingent sum payable was £2.3m. Goodwill arising on tThe acquisition was £12.1m,

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year Forge has generated revenues ot £5.9m and a profit betore tax of £0 7in If the
acquisition had keen completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1,694.5m andg
operating profit for the year would have been £30.4m.

As al 31 March 2025, the opening balance sheet for the Forge aquisition remaing within the 12 month measurement period post-
acquisition and should theretore be considered provisional.

Total Recycling Services Limited

On 21 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Total Recycling Services Limited. Total Recycling is an industral waste
management business with 3 sites across the North East of England, approximately 100 employees and 200 customers. Upfront net cash
considerarion was £17.1m and Goodwill arising an the acquisition was £12.0m.

In addition 1o net cash consideration paid above, dcquired borrowings of £4.0m included within net assets were repaid by the Group.

Given the iming of the acguisition the business’ contribution to the revenue and profit before tax was immaterial. The business generated
revenue of ¢.£15m in the 12 months prior to acquisiticn. If The acquisition had been completed on the fust day of the financial year, Group
revenues for the year would have been £1,695.2m and cperating profit for the year would have been £29.8m.

As at 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Total Recycling Services gequisition remains within the 12 month measurement
period post-acquisition and should therefore be considered provisional.

The amounts recoghised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liobilities assumed are set out in the rable below:

Total
DB Faorge Recycling
Recycling Recycling Services Total
e £m £m £m . Em
Intangible assets 0.8 6.4 53 125
Property, plant and equipment 0.8 26 8.4 11.8
Trude and other receivatles - 19 29 4.8
Invenrory - - Q.1 .l
Cash and cash eguivalents - 3.4 09 4.5
Deferred tax hability (0.2) (2.2) 52) (5.6)
Traoe and other payables - (20Q) (3.9) (549)
Lease liabilities (0.3) (14) (0.5) (2.2y
Borrowings - (C.4) {4.0) (4.4)
Total net assets 11 8.3 6.0 15,4
Goodwill 0.6 121 12.0 24.7
Total consideration 1.7 204 18.0 40.1
Satisfied by
Cash 1.4 18.1 180 375
Deferred and contingent considerarion 03 2.3 - 26
_Total consideration fransferred 17 204 18.0 40.1
Cash consideration 14 18.1 18.0 305
Deferred and confingent consideration paid 0.3 - - 03
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired - G4 (0.9) (4.3)
_ Net cash flow arising on acquisition .7 147 171 335

Acquisition-related costs included in adjusting items amount to £2.0m (2022: £9.4m). See the Appendix for further details
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8. Acquisitions continued

52-week period ended 25 March 2022

Onh 31 August 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share caprtal of Syracuse Waste Limited and s subsidianes from the Vindor Group,
Syracuse Waste Limited 1s o specially created entity into which Virider hived down its collections business and certain recycling assets in
order to enable the sale The deal involved the transfer of approximately 21,000 existing Viridor business waste customers alongside ¢
network of 15 depaots across the UK. The acquisition is in line with the Group's growth strategy and complements the current operations
across the Collections and Resources & Energy divisions The accounting on the Virider acquisition, in accordance with IFRS 3. Business
Combinations, involves a number of key judgements. The majority of these judgements were made during the year ending 25 March 2022,
but some addinonal adiustments nave been made in fhe current period, as set out below

The adjustments are grouped as follows

- £2.1m of ossets within Property, plant and eguipment have been impaoired 1o il

B Expecied futire copital rxpenditure obhigotions on the West Sussex Recycling confract have increased, increosing the IFRIC 12
provision by £3 8m and reducing the IFRIC 12 intongible asset by £1.2m

- Recewables ond Payables have been bpdated, with a net £0.6m increase to working capitol

«  Deferred tax calculabons have been updated, resulting m a £3 7m reduction in the net deferred tax hability

These adjustments have caused an increase of £2 8m ta the gaadwill ariswg on acausition

On 25 June 2021, the Group accnred the trade and assets of Green Circle (Polymers) | imited in exchange for cosh consideration of £5.6m
and deferred cash consideratton of £3./m payable over g period of 13 years. The deferred consideration had an acquisition date far value
of £33m Goodwill of £6.0m was recognised on acquisition. During the current period, outstanding deferred consideration of €0 3m was
settied

9. Goodwill
2022
. . N o Em
Cost
As at 25 March 2022 289.8
Additions {(Note &) 247
Adjustments o prior period acquisthons (Note 8y ) 78
Asot 31 March 2023 .l i .. BLIE
Accumulgted impairment losses
_As ar 35 Mnrch 2022 28 s
_As ot 31 March 2023 . (255)

Net baok value
AsaroMowh2022 p6e 3

_As at 31 March 2025 U .8
2023 2022
e e e e 0 _Em
Collections 171.2 1585
Resources & Fnergy 5%.5 567
_Speciolist Services . L) = S U
_Totat ] e e 2918 gkar
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9. Goodwill continued

Operating divisions

At egch reporting period the Group reviews whether there are any indicators of impairment in accordance with TAS 36: Iimpairment of
Assets. An annual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amiount of the goodwill for each operating dwvision ta its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher ot its fair value less costs of disposal and its valug in use. It the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is aliocated first fo reduce the carrying amount of the goodwilt and then fo

the assefs of the opercting division.

The key assurnptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management's culeulafion of value i use has been
developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prepured based on past performance and expectations of tuture performance. the
value in use is ulse determined after considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereufrer.

The pre-tax discount rafes used in the value in use calculations ot year end are as follows:

+  Collections 11.00%
- Resources & Energy 10.00%

+  Specighst Services 10.00% (excluding Company Shop Group, for which see below)

The annual growth rate assumption for the Group's cperoting divisions beyend the five-year plan period, based on market frends, after
adjustment for assumed inflation, is 3.25% (2022; 2.0%). This is considered appropriate due to the long-term nature of the business. No
reasonably foreseeable change in the assumptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an impairment to any of the

operating divisions.

Company Shop Group

Specialist Services goodwill indudes £40.6m (2022: £40.6m) attributeble to CSG. The valuohion of the goodwill cllocated 1o CSG has
headroom of £29.4m at the end of the financial year. The pre-tax discount rate used in the vaolue 1in use calculation was 10.75%. An increase
in the pre-tox discaunt rate of 390 bosis points would reduce headrosm to nil. The long term compounded annual growth rate used waos
325% Areduction of 587 basis points in the long term campounded annual growth rate would reduce headrcom to nil. The average gross
profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction ot 210 basis points in gross profit margin would reduce heudroom o nil.

10.  Other intangible assets

Service
Landfill IT Customer concession
gos rights  development Brands contracts agreements Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
As at 26 March 2071 190.2 83 452 824 - 3261
Acquired through business combination - - 03 312 375 690
Additicns - 21 - - - 21
Disposals - (1.6) - - - (he)
As at 25 March 2022 190.2 8.8 45.5 113.6 375 395.6
Acquied through business compingtion - - - 125 - 2%
Adjustments to prior period acguisitions (Note 8) - - - - (1.2} (12)
Additions - 17 - - - 1.7
Disposals . - R CL N ¢ ) (45.7) - (51L)_
As at 31 March 2023 - 190.2 6.3 442 80.4 36.3 3576
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 26 Morch 2021 (89.8) 37 s (48.9) - (143 6)
Amortisation charge for the period (20.1) {L.1) (0.3) 72 (2.0} (307
Disposals - 1.6 - - - 16
As at 25 March 2022 (109.9) 3.2 (1.5) (56.1) (2.0) (727
Amortisanon charge for the period (18.8) (1.0) - (b.4) (3.1) (29.3)
Dispasals - 4.0 1.3 45./ - 510
As at 31 March 2023 (128.7) (0.2) (0.2) (16.8) (5.1) {151.0)
Net book value
_As at 31 March 2023 L 61.5 6.3 440 638 _ 312 2066
As gt 25 March 2022 803 5.6 440 57.5 355 22249
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10.  Other intongible ossets continued

Dunng the year, the Group undertock o review of our fixed asset register 10 determine ossets That ore no longar n use by the business
Dimposals of ntangible assets in the current year with o grass cost and accumulated amortisation and wmparment of £51.0m relate 1o this
review,

The Group hotds intangible assets relating to the Landfili Gos (LFG') business. The LFG business generates some of 115 income via the
produchion of Renewaoble Obligotion Certificates ('ROCs"), These are “green energy cerhificates™ which ore 1ssued 1o operators of
accredited renewable generating stations for the eligible renewdble elactricity that they generate, ROCs are then sold on to energy
providers for which the Group recognises revenue on sales. The ROCs scheme lasts for 20 yeors and the maiority of landfill gos sites will
see their ROCs scheme torminate in financial year 2027 At this point, the revenue ond profit profile of the LFG division will change
signtticemtly. The Group recognised amortisation of £18 8m on LFG sites during the financial year (2022: £20.1m).

All amartisation charges are recognised in profit ar loss. Included within 1T development costs are internally generated assets with a net
book value of £3.2m (2022 £34m). The amaortisation charge in relation to these asseis was £0.6m (2022; £0.6m).

Given the sigmficant invesiment in rechnology and 1T developmeni, the Group undertakes a review of the remaining usefui lives of assets
£OCN yeor ond ImRpairs where necessory those thot arve superseded by new Technology. The key estimate underpmning the volue in use for
1T projects is forecast costs,

IFRS 3 requires that on ocquisition, intangitle assets are recorded at fair volue. The Biffa brand was first created in the early 20th century
and has been used throughout the Group since then. 1 remains a highly recogmisable brand. Given the lengevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset to have on mdefinite {He, The NDirectors reconsider the voluation of the brand ot coch reporting dote, The recognition of
brand aad landfil gas nghts as wtangible assets intially arase during the fair value exercise undertaken following the acquusition of the
Riffa Group by Wasteholdeo 1in 2008. The values were subsequently remeasured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013,

11.  Properiy, plant and equipment

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill  yehicles and under
buildings Sites! equipment construction Total

S .. B £m £m £m . _Em

Cost

As at 26 Mareh 2021 2677 %4 418 3 262 ROA.b

Acquired through busimess combination 198 - 292 - 40.0

Adjustment to prior period cequigitions 14 - - - ra

Additions 125 51 764 83 1023

Msposals (95) (01 (364) - (46 0)
1]53@?#9r=.‘ e e 11 ?_B 3» (78 3) ,,IL

As at 25 March 2022 291.9 99.5 515.8 6.2 9134

Acarured thraugh business camhingtion 29 - 189 - 18

Adustmients 1o pnor perod acguisihons (Note 8) - - (2.1 - 2

Achdtions 175 2.9 ALl 702 1517

Disposnis 475 - {7443y - (zor |

Transters S £-3-) JR ¢ 0 B (4 SO € ) R C)
_Asat3lMarch2023 %52 02 385 ¥~ 7808
! Lan AFH imes, and Aes cS4m 2000 £8 Ane i relabo 12 Totoee proneric benefit o he Aerwed oo g estlt of acnvely fulfiling after-rane cpligatinns that recidts 0 gae

. taron bangtll T varafers inchide £2 2m U2 §1 0 noeelahion o the Bitiee ecannmie benete cu re der ved as a result af actively filfiling aber corg melgetions rent

|
G P et as adistments 1o ke s armging veloe of the nsser When tie carmyra valhe of e

CCRL 0 FLt me poonnmie penet 15 on et i property, plort cnd eqoipment e

nfles the abligation recodh ced 0 g provieroe

m e gerey

heuges o the e s e g fenm re papr accenetes shat salgte o cte

et Ao THese e o ssifie s 1o provisions
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11.  Property, ptant and equipment continued

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites? equipment construction Total
£m £m £m Em £m_
Accumulated depreciation and impgirment
As af 26 March 2021 (53.3) (56.3) (132.8) (L) (245.4)
Depreciatian charge for the period (204) 4.7) (69.8) - (949)
Disposals 5.0 - 36.1 - 421
As at 25 March 2022 (67.7) {61.0) (166.3) (1.0} (296.2)
Deprecitation charge for rthe period (19.9) (4 6) (83.5) - {108.0)
[mpairment charge for the period - - (9.1 - @n
Disposals 452 - 2419 - 2871
_As at 31 March 2023 (424) (65.8) (11.2) (1.0) (126.2)
Net book value ST
As at 31 March 2023 222.8 34.6 358.3 38.9 6534.6
As at 25 March 2022 2242 385 3493 572 6172
1 Landhill sites ncludes £549m (2022 £8.8m) i relahien 10 tuture econuniic benehl To be denved as a resdlt uf actively fulfiling after-cure obiiganons 1hat results 1 gas

generatiun Landnill site transters nhude £7 2m (2022 £1 hmy i elanion To The future econom.c benen™ To be der ved as a tesult ot uchively tultiling arrer care ouligat ois tnat

tesults 1 gas genetation When tThe obligotion s ecugmised us O orossiun gives UeLess o fuTe e, unue benelds, 00 usseT 1 s GuerTy, plent aind Bguipiient is fecagnise:

Chunges 1 the pHovision urising Fron regised eetimatres that relate To tne Gsset are teuorded us agjustments 1o The cairying vatue of The usset When the carmyng value of the

assel 1s negotive, These are classified fy provisions

Assefs corresponding to the Poplars Anaerobic Digestion Plant with o total net book value ot £9.1m were impaired to £nil during the year
due to its performance being wecker than expected.

During the year, the Group undertook a review of our fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business
Disposals ot property, plant and equipment in the current year with o gross cost and accumulated depreciation and impuirment of
£ 281 8m relate to this review.

In addition, further assets were disposed of in return for consideration. These consisted of Land and Buildings with a net bock value of
£2.3m and vehicles and equipment with a net book value of £2.4m. Total proceeds of £7.0m were received (2022 £6.9m), of which £5.2m
was cash, leading to the recognition of a gain an disposal of fixed assets of £2.3m (2022, £6.2m).

Land and bulldings and fandfill sites at net book value comprise:

2023 2022

Land and Landfilt tand and Landfill

buildings sites buildings sites

) e £m __£m £m £m

Freehold B 42.0 12,5 42.8 135

Long leasehold 652 4.3 58.7 16.0
_Short leasehold R JMse oo oTe 22T %0

222.8 34.6 2742 38.5

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had entered info contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant, property and equipment
amounting tc £49.6m (2022 £12.5m)
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11, Property, plant and equipment continued

Right-of-use ossets
The Group recards its rght-of-1ise aesets within property, plant and equlipment The Group leases dssets including buildings and plant ancd
eguipment

The average lease term is 14.8 years (2022: 12 8 years). The Group has options to purchase certain plant and equipment for a nominal
amount ot the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured by the lessors’ title to the leosed assets for such leases.

The cartying amount of the Group’s total right-of-use assets included within Property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant,
Land and vehicles and
buildings equipment Total
_Carrying amount — . Em Em_ Em
As ot 26 Morch 2021 1726 1254 2960
Acquired through busmess combinohon 137 36 175
Ariditions 812 203 295
Deprecionon charge for the period (179 (24.0; {519
Disposols 18 2 20
Lease modific otions 0.} - 0.7
V_As n?;S_Mm'ch 2022 o T 179.1 113.5 292.6_
Acnuired through business comipohon 21 21 272
Addmans 1no 521 bh31
Depreciation charge for the penod (17 k) 13823 (55.8)
Misposale {09y 0.6y (1hy
Lease modifications S0 - 56
Transferred 1o owned assers (207 I6 {171y
)A;;;«March 2023 o T T 156.6 132.5 S ZBQ.i’
“Net book velue S i T '
As at 31 March 2023 1566 1325 28%.1
Asat 75 March 5027 e n3s e
12.  Inventories
2023 2022
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumaobles 32 2.3
JFmished goeds . 403 . 329
o_ess 32

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories consumed in the period ended 31 March 2023 were £87 6m
12927 £68 3my. Inventory written down in the peniod totalled Tnil (2022 £mih. Reversals of invertory previousky wiitien down in the penioc
wetre frl (2022 £nal).

At the el of the finanmial yaar £3 8m (2022 £4 2m) of inventony held by the Group reloted to C5G.
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13.  Trade and other receivables

2023 2022

Amounts falling due within one year L f£fm _  £m_
Trade receivables 183.5 178.0
Less expected credif loss gllowance {6.3) (5.8)
Trade receivables - net 177.2 172.2
Cther debtors 11.5 53
Prepayments 259 30.0
_ Prepand landfill proviston expendiiure 33 0.1

217.9 2076

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of frade receivables opproximates their fair value

All amounts included within other debfors and prepayments are due within ane year. [rade receivables are non-interest beanng. Due to their short
marturities, the tar value of trade and cther receivables approximates to their book value. The average credit period Taken on invoices was 38 days
(20722 35 days).

Included within Other debtors is £6.1m related to the Deposit Retuin Schemce in Scotland. Refer 1o Note 34 for further mformation.

Inciuded in the Group's trade recervables bulances are debts with o carrying amount of £32 5m (2022: £16.2m) which are past due af the reporting
date, representing 18% of the total balance (2022: 9%).

Credit lirits for new customers are assigned based on the custorner s credit qualty. An external credit scoring system 15 used before assigning any
credit limit over £500 Management monitors the utilisation of credir himifs regulory The trade receivables balance consists of a large number ot
customer bolances, in excess of /000, represented largely by local account custfomers, and there is no significant concentranon of credit risk.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtar s in severe fingncial difficutty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for exarnple when a customer enters liguidotion. The following rable details the risk profile of trode receivables As The Group's
historical credit loss experience dues not show signiticantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance
based on past due status 1s not distinguished between type of customer.

3 2023 2022
Expected Lifetime Expected Lifetime
credit loss expected credit loss expected
rate credit loss rate credit loss
Trade receivables - days past due % £m % £m
1 10 30 days 1.0% 3.4 1.0% 2/
31 to 60 days 10% 03 1.0% 0.5
61 10 90 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% [
Over 90 days 50.0% 2.3 50.0% 23
6.3 58

The allowance for expected credit koss (ECLY includes individually impaired trade receivobles which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in hiquidation
or are the subject of legal oction The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade recenvables and the
present value of any expected recoveries Expected credit Josses are recognised in accordance with the simplified opproach set outin IFRS ¢

2023 2022
Maovement in expected creditloss . £m — £m
Balance of the beginning of the period 5.8 4.6
Impairment losses recognised in 1he period 5.4 14
Amounts recovered during the penicd (3.9) 1.0
Amounts written off as uncollectable {10Q) (L
Balance or the end of the period 6.3 5.8
Long-term receivables
2023 2022
Amounts falling due after more than one year £m £m
Funds on long-term deposit e - 23
2.5 23

No expected credit loss hos been recognised for long-ter receivables on the basis that the counterparties are A-rated tinancial institutians,
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14.  Assets and Liabilities related to Contracts with Customers

Contract assets
2023
Em
N

62.5

Current contract assefs

Contract assers primatrily relate 7o the Group's right to consideration for work completed but not invaiced at the halance sheet date
Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the amounrs are agreed by the customer. On most contracts, certificates and
agreement is by the custormer on o monthiy basis All contract assets held at 31 March 2073 15 expected to be mvotced and transferred to
trade recewables within the next 12 months,

Naone of the contract assets at the end of the reparting period is past due, and, taking into gccount the historical default evpenence god
the future prospects in the industry, the Directors consider that no contract assets are impaired.

Contract liabilities

2023 2022
L . fM o Em
. Current controcr botulites - 279 2y
{27.9) ___('_17_.1)__

The timing of payments received fram customers, relative to the recaiding of revenue, can have o significant impact on the liabiihes
recorded on the Group's Statement of Financiol Position,

Certain contracts have payment terms based on contractual milestones, which are not necessarily aligned to when reveenue is recogisec,
particularly for those contracts with revenue recognised over time by reference to the stage of completion. Where cash is receved in
advance of work carmed out, and therefore the revenue recognised, a contract ighility anses.

The contract liabilities primariy relate to the advance consideration recerved from customers in respact of performance obligations which
have not yet been fully sahisfied and for which revenue has not been recogrised, A4 controct lobilites held ot 31 March 2023 tre experied
to satisty performance obligations in the next 12 maonths.

15.  Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022
e — e Em . Em
Cash ot bank and in hand 412 40 2
_ Shori-term teposits S - * . 1 1
413 _ 408

Deposits comprise of an nsurance deposit of £01m (2022 £0.6m) which represents cash held os security for self-insurance obligations,

16. Fingncial instruments

2023 2022

Assets held of amortisedcost 000000 . . fm . E£m
Lichty funeg - R LV
9.5 10.7

! s ent imveah st halet by B, Tnaoeorce Cormpany Limted the Grouiy s _cptee msiraef 2 roepoe g
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16. Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments

The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9. All cash flow hedges were
deemed 1o be fully effective and therefore movements in fair value were all recognised within the hedge reserve.

The Group has enfered Into forward foreign exchange rate confracts which all mature within one year; these torwards will be used by the
Group to hedge Euro currency payments for the export of Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF’). The forword foreign exchange contracts have
resulted 0 the recognition of o derivative tiability of £nil (2022: £0.2m).

The Gioup enters iInto commoedity swaps 1o hedge against future movements in fuel prices, At the end of the financial year these hedges

were In an asset posifton of £0.5m (2022 £11.7m),

The fair value measurements of derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the foir value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value
Megasurement, as they are derived from mputs other than guated prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (Le. as

pricesy or indirectly (i.e. denved friom prices).

2023 2022
Fair value Notional Fair value Notional
£m £€m £m £m
Forward toreign exchange confracts - 53 (02 (5]
~ Commedity hedges N e 05 348 117 239
0.5 40.1 115 30.2
The table below represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on the Group’s derivative financiol instruments
__Foreign exchange nsk Interest rate risk ~Commuodity risk Teral
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
s £m  _ f£m_ £m £m £m Efm  f£m CEm_
Balunce at the beginning of the penod 0.2 03 - 27 {117 0.6 (115) 56
Gain / {loss) ansing on changes in fair (0.2) {0.1) - 14 (2.2) {16.1) (0.4) (i4.8)
value of hedging instruments during the
period
(Gam) / loss reclassified 10 protit or loss - - - - {4.1) - - - (41
farecast transaction no lonyer expected fo
ocecur
Cumulative (goin) / less fransterred To - - - - 11.4 38 114 38
initial carrying amount of hedged irems o L
_ Balance at the end of the period - o2 - - {0.5) (11.7) 0.5  (115)
Borrowings
2023 2022
im £m
Private placements and bank loans 4185 6303
EVP preference ligbility N . o 14.3 143
432.8 644.6
2023 o 2022
Book Average Book Average
value interest rate value interest rate
£m % £m %
Current
Private placements and bank louns 3450 2.6% - -
EVP preference instrument 53 - - -
o - - . -
Non-current
Private placements and kank loans - - 354.0 2.8%
Parent company loan 735 8.53% - -
EVP preterence instrument 8.0 - 14 3 -
815 368.3
_Total borrowings o 432.8 - - -
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16.

Borrowings continued

Financial instruments continued

Refer 10 Mote 2% for the cashflow movement on borrowings during the current and prior financial periods.

The Group repend its Revolving Credit Focihity (RCF) duning he yvear, using funds loaned from its parent company, Biffa Bideo Limited

The private placements have been classified as current because they were ferminated on 23 May 2023

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IPQ lenders were issued with preference share capital n wWastehaldcao 1 Limited in exchange
for settlement of amounts due to them. The associated liability is £14 3m

Borrowings are measured ot amartised cost and the EVP preference liahility is measured at fair value. Al financial assets and financiead
habilities hove been classified as Level 2 in the foir value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 12 Far Volue Meosurement.

Interest rates an barrowings

2023 . 2022
Principal Average Principal Average
amount  interest rate amount  interest rate
e . £m % _Em_ %
Term factity - - 90 32%
Puarent compony loan 73.5 8.3% - -
Private placement  £150 0m 150.0 2 7% 150.0 7 7%
Prvene placement - €135 0m. DS 1< 1t S 25 _M9s0 o 25%
R e - _ 4185 254.0 .
Fair value of financiol assets and liabilities
.. 2023 2022
Book volue Fair value Book value Fair value
.. _Notes _ __ gm ____fm_ __ _ fm __ _ fm
Finonciol assets
Trade and other receivables' 13 1772 1772 172.2 1722
Financial usset arising on guichty fund 95 35 107 10.7
Financial asset nrsing from IFRIC 12 29 43 43 40 40
financal asset arising from capitalisation of borrowing fees - - 10 1.0
Financial usset ansmg from investment in Lovepunk Limited Qo 06 0.6 06
Funds an inng-term deposit 13 5 25 23 23
| oans to joint venfures and associates 202 202 14.3 14.3
Dervative financial instrument 0.9 a.9 1.7 117
Cash and rosh equivalents P M3 4l _4ee s
B - 256.5 256.5 2576 2576
Financiat ligbilities
Prvate plocements and bank lnans” (345 M) (3060} (354 () 33741
Parent company loan (735) (73.5) - -
tease liatilities 24 (283 5) {2835) (276 3) (276 3)
LVP proference hatuhity 9 (143 (14.3) (14.3 (14 3y
Trade and other payobies’ 17 (305 6) {309.6) (284.7) (286 7)
Deferred and contingent consideration {57 59 (72) (72)
_ Dervatie financial nstrument N (-2 SN {20 S () B () B
e . o {1,028.2) (989.2) _  (9387) (922.1y
_ Met finonciof Hiobilities Y] G327y (6BLL) (4645)
1 Trarte Thd cther serevnple’ exchides prenmmrerts ard ateer debtors
Feewle el edner poyables prelunes cont rgsnft han hhes_deferrad come faxzttion ond aemnal seci s aact ofmes non-fiaaae gl | abeltac
- Procame plr-asents ane coork lonns asbies £175 Gm green loon fallowima e lognsh of e Seatgingt: iy Linked Fingn e Crameentk ~ tha gaor enged 35 gl 21200 Tha o« ne
w beskert e v e ke padformerce torgats rediring soope 1 ara 2 GHG erissaars by 50% my 2030, ard 1iphng Brita Polyears ple-ncs resye] oz e opa ™ ey 707
1 Lnect b troagae s e ot of £E0e1 e red i the or g nns an of 1he prote phacements neus Beee e 6 Qurmeg the yenir

The fair volues of non-derwvoive financiol ossets ond lobiles ore determined based o discounted cash flow onalysis using current

market rates for similar instruments,
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16. Financial instruments continued

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expase |1 To a variety of financial nsks: market risk (including capital nsk management, cash flow nterest rate risk,
currency 1isk and price risk}, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk manggement programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performonce. Financial risk management in
the above areas 1s corrned out under a policy opproved by the Board of Directors.

Capital risk management

The Gi oup monages 1s capital structure using a number of measures and taking into occount its future strategic plans. Such measures
include 1ts net interest cover, hquidity and leverage ratios. Totol capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of
financldl position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as tofal borrowings {including current and non-current borrowings as shown i the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents, The Directors are satisfied thar the current risk munagement
strategy 1s appropriate and effective,

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates. The Group's iIncome and
operating cash flows are substantiolly independent of changes in market interest rates, The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-ferm
borrowings Borrowings issucd at variable rafes expose the Group 1o cash flow inferest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain un
appropriate proportion of its borrowings at tixed rate using interest rafe swaps to achieve this when necessary

The interest rate risk profile of the Group’s financial assets and liakilities was as follows:

2023 2022
Financial ligkilities (exctuding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floanng rate - 9.0
Fixed rate 7020 6213
Non-interest bearing
EVP preterence instrument 143 143
_ Other financial habilities . e 3115 2939
1,027.8 938.5

Fixed rate financial liabilities relate to lease liabilities. Non-interest bearing financial iabilities comprise trade payables.

2023 2022
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate - cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Floating rate - other 25 23
Fixed rate 202 -
Non-interest bearing
Liquichty tund 9.5 0.9
Other financial assets 182.1 192.1
255.6 2459

The interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed until the maturity of the investment. The interest on floating rate financial
instruments 1s reset at intervals of less than one year. The other financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not included in the
above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject 1o interest rate risk.

Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial assets and licbilities are expesed to fair value inferest rate 1isk and floating rate financial
assets and liabilities to cash flow interest rate risk.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from currency exposures primarily related to the disposal ot RDF via export fo Europe. The
Group enfers into forward contracts o purchgse Euros based upon expected costs. These dervatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk, but is exposed to commadity price rnisks on its cutputs. The
commodities that the Group is exposad 1o are fuel, electricity, paper, glass, cardboard, steet, aluminium and plastics (including HDPE and
PET). The price risk associated with commodities is considered 1o be in the ordinary course of business for the Group.
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16,

Credit risk

Financial instruments continued

Credit risk 1s managed on a Group basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cosh equivalents, derivative finoncial instruments
ond deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit expostires to customers, Including outstonding receivables For bonks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A dre accepted,

Management does not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Nete 13,

The carrying amaount of financial assetrs recorded in the financial mformation, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk. These armounts include receivable balances from local authority clients, hence are not exposed to
sigmificont credit nisk Given the above foctors, the Board does not consider it necessary Yo present o detailed onalysis of credit nisk.

Liquidity risk

The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan facilities to meet shart-term business requiraments, after taking nto account
the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash ond cash equivalents. The expected undiscounted cosh flow of the Group's
financial assets and liabilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual maturity, at the balance sheet date is shown below.

Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyend
e » fm e fm fm __ fm
Non-derivative financial liahilities
Borrowings' (345 0y - - (735)
Lease liobilities {551) (416) (74.9) N
Trade and other payobles (300.0) (4.1) (1.2 (D3
Deferred and contingent consideration 30 (03 {09 (1.6)
FVP ability 16 3) (8 -
Non-derivative financial ossets
Cosh and cash equivalents 413 - - -
Liggudity fund .5 - - -
JJrode and otherreceivalles 1772 - - —
. .. fte8ly) (540  (770y = (1873)
1 Acrestipg pre of the Cuonp o et Become effec treean May 2023 05 peet of whi hothe povate alocpmenss ware refluon-ed  See Nete 34 far fnher aetols,
Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one ond two two ond five years and
one year years years beyond
_ o . £fm __fm £m _Em_
Non-derivative financia} liabilities
Borrowings - - [C%)] (345.0y
iLease labilities {538) (43.1) (69 4) (110.0)
Trade and other payables (286 7y - - -
Deferred and contingent ¢ onsiderdtion (4.2} (0.3 Q8 [
EVF habihty - - {14 3y -
Non-derivative financial assets
Cosh ond rash equivalents 40.8 - - -
Ligundlity funet 10.7 - - -
Traacie and ofher rocevables S ¢ S
(121.0) (45.4) (93.5) (456.9)
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Total

L Em
(118.5]
(283.5)
(305 &)
59)
{14.3)

413
2.5

1777
__{7998)

L. 2022

Total

_ Em
(354.0}
(276 3)
(286 7)
{723
(14 3y

408
107
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17. Trade and other payables

2013 2022
B — . o £im .. Em
Current
Trade payables 2249 2087
Taxation and social securnity 4G.2 54.0
Interest payable 1.5 18
Accruals 718 /56
Other payables o e 1.8 -
. L o 349.2 . 3407
Non-current
Trade and other payables 5.6 b6
,,,,,, _ — 5.6 b6
354.8 3473

Included within trade and other payables is £2 O0m (2022, £2.3m) in relation fo government grants.

The taxation and social security tigure of £46.2m (2022: £54.0m) includes £0.1m (2022 £0.3m) in relation 1o the corporaion Tux creditor

18. Provisions

Landfill
restoration HMRC
and after- Cnerous IFRIC  Landfill Tox
care Insurance contracts Dilapidations 12 enquiry Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 71.0 1&.1 205 8.8 - - 1.0 1174
Utilised during the period (4.7} (5.8} {63} (0.2} - - (3.5) (205}
Acquired through business
combinatien - - 2.0 34 127 - 50 231
Chorged o the income
staternent during the period 4.6 2.7 4.2 15 - 1.0 13 313
Impuact of real discount rate
changes 1o profif or loss (0.3) - - - - - - 03
Unwind of discount 24 - - - 04 _ _ y g
Transfers from fixed assets
(Note 11) a9 - - - - - - 0.9
Transfers from trade and other
puyables " - - T ____ 30 S 1
As at 25 March 2022 739 13,0 20.4 13.5 13.1 20.0 38 157.7
Utilised during the period (4.4) (0.4) (62) (02) {1.4) (3.7) (22) (18.5)
Adjustments to prior period
acguisifions (Note 8) - - - - 38 - - 38
Charged 1o the income
statement during the period 49 1.9 5.1 0.1 - 50.7 0.9 4.6
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (24.8) - - - - - - (248
Unwind of discount 29 - - - 04 - - 23
Transfers to fixed assets
(Note 11) 2.2y - - - - - - (223
Transfers from trade and other
receivables 23 - - - - - - 33
Tronsters from #(to) trade und
other payables - 03 - - - (3.0) - (2/)
_As at 31 March 2023 53.6 148 20.3 134 159 640 25 1845
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18, Provisions continued

Pravisons hove been analysed between current dod noin-currant as follows.

2023 2022
el i M L Em
Current 20.0 203

_MNon-current o . 164.5 _1AEA

184.5 1577

Landfifl restoration and after-care

As part of i1 normal activities, the Group undertakes 1o restore its fandfill sites and fo maintan the sites and control leachate and
methane emissions from the sites. A provision 1s made for these anficipated costs, 4 number of estimnate uncertginties affect the
ceculahion, inciuding the impact of regulation, cimate change, accuracy of site surveys, Transportation costs, and changes in the rea!
discount rate The provision incorporates our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of
these estimates couid materially impact the celculation of the provision Restoration costs are incurred as each site is filled and in the
period immediately after ifs closure. Maintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site is filled and for a
number of years post closure After-care costs are incurred for a number of years post closure, Thus period can vory significantly from site
o site, depending upon The types of woste landfiled, the speed at which it decomposes, the way the site is engineered and the regularory
requirements specific to the site.

Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected fiming of expenditures thot relate to
praperty, plant and equipment are recognised within the income statement. The associated outflows are estimated to arise over o period
of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site closure. In determining the provision, the estimates for future expenditure required to
settle the obiigation are inflated using longer-term infiation rates, and discounted using the nominal discount rate as explained in the
‘discaunting of provisions” section belaw,

Insurance
The associated entflows are estimated to anse over a period of up To six years friom the balance sheet date The Insurance provision includes self.
msurance by the Group on both low and high valse tems

Onerous confrocts

The Sroun recoanises onerous Controet provisions for any unavordable net iosses ansing from contracts, The Group reviews ifs nnerous confroct
prowvisions ot each reporfing deite and whenever there 1s a material change in management’s expectations of the confract. At the end of the
finanrial year the Group held onerous contract provisions in relation to the following contracts.

Epping Forest District Council (<2 years remeaining)

Soath Ofordshire & Vole (<7 years remainmng)

Leicoster City Councit (<6 years remnaining)
The future cach inflows from these onerous contracts are relatively predictable as they are fixed and kased on the terms of the contract However,
the costs associated with delivering the contract can vary and assumptions on future cash putflows 15 considerad a significant estimate when
mndelting the future net cash autflows on anerous contract provisions,

Dilgpidations
Dilapidations anse on leased ifems where the Group has an obligation fo return these itemis to their original condition as of the lease incention

IFRIC 12

The IFRIC 12 provision represents the future capital expenditure on reverting assets on the West Sussex Recychng contract. This contract was
arquired as part of the Vindor acisihon and a provision of £12 7m was initially recognised on ihe acguisition opening balance sheet in the prior
periad. A sihsequent remeasiiement exercise resulted in the provision on the npening halunce sheet being increased by £3 8m o the current yeor
The pravision & discountec] aver the durghion of the contract term

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As spt ont i Note 1, Biffo Waste Sorvices Lirmited (BwSL) is currently the subject of an enguiny by HMREC regorcing certaimn aspects of its Landfif
Tux comphance f'the Enguing™, as port of concerns HMRC has primonty relafing fo the nferprefotion of the nuolifying fines regime set out m LETY
HMRT also ransed coneerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the potential conduct of BWSE emd spearfic customers, which may have led
10 the mcarrect rate of Landfil Tax being paid

In Bifta's view, and based on aduce received to date, there are a range of possible outcomes to the Engiry and it is difficult to ocourotely
ascertain the aquantum or fiming of any potential lability with certamty or precision wWhilst Biffa believes it hos a strong case, there remains
aignificont uncertainsy in e ghmate ourcome and o prewvision has been recognised for L64m, incuding associated costs and interest, whirh
addrecses the range of matters arising from the £377m of protective assessments received to date and the further estimates of liohility shared by
FMBC in the context of without prejudice settiement discussions disclosed in Note 1 excluding the element we consider 16 be a contingent hahedity
disclosed in Note 27

The estimata nssumes that any possible penalty that could be levied would ke <uspended and accordmgly has nat been recognised Payment would
not be reguired ot the end of the suspension peting praviding the relevant conditions are met
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18. Provisions continued

Other
Other provisions relare to legal fees and life assurance.

Discounting of provisions
Long-term prowvisions included in londfill restoration and atfer-care have been influted and discounted using the below numinal rates The
rates reflect the period of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which varies between 10 and 60 years.

Long-Term provisions included in onerous contracts have been discounted using the below nominal rates.

. __ __ Infiation rate Discount rate
Period of obligation 2023 2022 2023 2022
5 years 24% 3.6% 4.9% 2.0%
10 years 2.9% 3 4% 4.8% 2.8%
20 yeais 3.3% 3.6% 4.9% 29%
30 years 3.2% 34% 4.0% 9%
60 years 31% 3.3% 4.4% 27%

An increase of 1% in the real discount rate (at current cost) would result in o decrease of environmental provisions of approximately £8.0m
(2022: £16.0m). A 10% increose in cash outflows would result in an increased environimental provision of £5.2m (2022: £7.8m). Long-term
after-care provisions included in landfill restoration and after-care provisions have been inflated ot a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase
of 1% 0 the rate of inflation would result In an increase of environmental provisions of approximarely £11.2m (2022: £23.1m)

In arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Cxfordshire & Vole contracts, the Group has discounted the
future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%. If this rate increcsed by 500 basis peints the provision chorge would decrease by £0.2m. [n
arriving ¢t the enerous contract provision for the Leicester contract, the Group has discounted the future cash flows using o risk-free rate
of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the provision charge would decrease by £1.5m,
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19. Deferred taxation

The foliowing are the maojor tax assets and liobilities recogrised by the Group and movements thereon during the current period.

Temporary
difference
arising on Recoghised
property, Share- Retirement Other tax losses
plont and based benefit intangible carried
equipment pdyments Provisions Hedging surplug Goodwili assets forward Total
- Efm  Em  Em £ fim  Efm &m0 Em.  Em
As at 26 March 2021 25.6 23 0.8 - (21.3) 6.8 (33.7) 8.4 (11.1)
ACQUIred Tareuge NUsImese
o rbInohon (55 - - - (] ~ 9n, - 154

et ¢ (chnrget to the

ncone sttement doring

the perod -3 N4 05 o1 (40 o8 [ 11a 1 2
“hares thothesr

COMpreNEnLYe INCOMA

_durmgitnepenod - - - (723 (17.0) - -
As ot 25 March 2022 267 27 13 (2.1) (41.5) 76 {46.6)
Acaured tlenugh bues ness
rambination (25) - - - . - 31 _ s
Adustmeents tn prioe petind
acgusihions (Nate &) 24 - N _ 03 50

W harge) [/ ocreclit 10 the
ACOMe statement dusneg
the petiod (129) (4.2 152 - (29 (135 (.51 i1 29
Craditt to ather
COMPIONSASIVE 1NE0me
dnng e perod e £ 24 206 - - 245
23

14.7 z 175 03 3B 63 (499 225 (124)

A deferred tax tiobility of £24 5m (2022: £32.5m) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 25% (2022. 25%) Deferred
e assets and liabilities are offset when there 1s a legaily enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax habilities,

As at 31 March 2023 the Group hod unused Yox osses of £106.9m (2022, £34.6m) ovoilable for offset ogainst future profins A deferred tax
assel has been recognised in respect of £89 7m (2022 £774m) of these lnsses No deferred tox asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining £17 2m (2022 £172m) as it is nat considered probable that there will be future taxable profits availoble in the statutory entity in
which these losses are being carried forward

The carrying amount of deferred fax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recduced to the extent that it is no longer
probubie that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to allow all or part of the asset 1o be
recovered,

The Group has considered the impact of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient faxable profits (including loss of revenue
from cessation of RDCs in 2027, the potenticl Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS™ in England and increcsed carbon taxes) in subsequent
reporting periods far the recoverability of the tax asset. The overall impoct from the cessation of ROCs has been cansidered in forecasts,
however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and increased carbon taxes, the Group dees not consider 1t te have a
nicterial impact on the recoverahiiity of the deferrad tax asset
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20. Share-based payments

Share-based payments charges of £7.7m (2022: £3.7m} have been charged to administranive expenses, The increased charge during the
year Is due to the acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP. On acqguisition, all schemes either vested eaily or were cancelled, 1esulting i an

accelergted charge.

During the yeor the Group had cne conditional share-based payment arrangement granted to Directors and employees. The arrangement
tapsed m full on complenion of the ECP acquisition, The likehhood of lapse was reflected in the reduced fair value on grant, os detailed in

the following table.

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price
options  Confractual at date of  Number of Expected Fair value
originally life grant ermployees  Expected life Risk-free per opfion
_ Date of grant granted (years) (pence) at grant volatility {years) rate {pence)

2 July 2018 1,014,880 29 2510 36 24% 293 0.71% 1732
1 October 2018 218,359 29 2530 2 24% 293 0.89% 1738
11l December 2018 18,819 29 192.2 1 24% 2.93 Q.90% 114.1
1 Juby 2019 1,773,988 30 211.0 37 25% 3.0 0.54% 1128
1 Juby 2020 2,554,948 3.0 201.0 77 27% 2.93 (0.07)% 107.7
1 June 2021 29,792 30 3005 1 30% 2.09 0.09% 174.4
14 June 2021 1,855 274 3.0 2935 41 29% 301 0.14% 1876
4 Qctober 2022 1,051,065 3.0 409.2 26 39% 50 4.05% 345

The Group uses the following fair value models to value its share awards namely stochashc, black-scholes and chaffe model,

The expected volatility 1s a measure of the amount by which a share price s expected to fluctuate during the pericd. It 1s calculated based
on statistical analysis ot daily share prices over the length of the award period. A reconciliation of movements in the number of share
awards can be summarized as follows:

Number of options

Cutstanding as at

vare of grunl originally granted Vested  Lapsed / forfeited 31 March 2023
2 July 2018 1,014,880 (820,319 (144, 561)

1 October 2018 218,359 (218,359 - -
11 December 2018 18,819 (18.819) - -
1 July 2019 1,773,988 (800,561) (973,427 -
1 July 2020 2,354,248 (2,058,878) (296,070) -
1 June 2021 29,792 (29,792 - -
14 June 2021 1,865,274 (1,066,675) (788,599) -
4 Octoler 2022 1,051,065 - (1,051,065% -

The Performaonce Share Plan (‘PSP’) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-cost options. The July
2019, July 2020 and June 2021 awards vested during the year ended 31 March 2025, with the latter nwo vesting early due to the sale to ECF
The 14 June 2021 cward was reduced by one third for time pro-ration to reflect the early vest, The October 2022 award lapsed m full on
completion of the sale to ECPR. Given the acquisition of the Bitta Group by ECP and subsequent delisting, there are expected to be no tuture

PSP awards.

Sharesave Plan

In the financial year 2017 the Biffu Group launched the Biffa Sharesave Flan to all employees with six menths or more continuous
employiment at the date of the scheme lounch. The scheme is subject to HMRC rules which limit the monthly contributions 10 £500. The
scheme term is tor three years und options may be exercised during the six months after completion ot the Save As You Eurn contract,

Since the launch of the scheme new Sharesove Plans have been launched in subsequent financial years under the same ferms.,

There were no new options granted during the year. All Sharesave Plans ended on acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP
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21. Reserves

Shore capital

- Number E
As at 25 March 7022 305,908,483 3,059,085
Share issues_ e el B3BR200 0 3ER92

__As at 31 Morch 2023 309,297,744 3,092,977

Share premium
The share premium represents ormounts recewved n excess of the nominal volue of shares 1ssued smee 1RO, net of the direct costs

associared with issuing those shares.

. - . — e S . _Em_
As at 25 March 2022 2476
Share 1s5ues e .21

M;Aswﬂ},lﬁMurch 2023 252.2

Merger reserve
The opening merger reserve of £170 3m arose on both the acguistion of wosteholdeo 1 Limited in 2008 and o Jersey regisiered ‘cosh box’

company that foclitated an equity raise in 2020

S o - EM
_Asat25Morch 2022 oA
_Asai i March 2028 A0
Hedging reserve
2023 2022
e _ gm _ gm_
Balance at the baginming of the penod 94q b4
Fair value {Inss) / gain drising on hedging instruments during the period (10 9y 15.0
Tax relating to items that may be reclossified subsequently to profit or loss 24 @2
Netgom on cash flow hedges njoint venfures and assovictes (netoftey _es %
_Bolance at the end of e period 212 ———— 98
22.  Retained earnings
2023 2022
e e e e e e _Emo L Em
Balance at the heginning of the perind 574 433
Loss for the period (16,7} {17 6)
Other comprehensive (lnssy / income for the penod (61.9) 337
Value of smplayes service in respert of share option sehemes (excluding NTCs) 4.7 27
Mire hose of shares m EBT {1.5) 30
Deferred rax movement in share ophion schemes 5 -
_Dividends paid . L (14.3) L teny
_Bolance end of the period _ (35.8. _.....524
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23, Reconcifiation of Net cash flow to Movement in

net debt

2023 2022
e £m_ Em_
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 0.5 10.0
Net increase in private placements und bank leans (64.5) (156.4)
_Net (increase) / decrease in lease liabilities (1.2) 74
Movement in Group Net Debt in the period (71.2) (139.0)
Group Net Debt af the beginning ot the period (595.8) (456.8)
_Group Net Debt at the end of the period _ (667.0) {595.8)
Analysis of Group Net Debt
2023 2022
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Lease habihties {2B35) (2/63)
Privare placements and loans (418 5) (354.0)
EVP preference liability {6.3) (6 3)
Group Net Debt (667.0) {595.8)
EVP preference hability 53 6.3
Qther finance instrumenrs Q.5 10.7
Covenant basis Net Debt (651.2) {578.8)

The £6.3rn EVPR preference liability has been included within Group Net Debt as it is payable to EVP preference shareholders, The remaining
£8.0m liability payable to EVP preference shareholders will be funded by reduced 1ux poyments on future earnings.

The Group's leverage is calculated on Group Net Debt as follows:

e et e e A e e e e v e - 2928 2082
Group leverage ratio (Net Debt: Adjusted EBITDA) 3.0x 51x
Adjusted EBITDA is defined and recenciled to Operating Profit in the Appendix 1o the financiol statements.
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including beth cash and nen-cash changes.
Liabkilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or tuture cash flows will be, classitied in the Group’s
conselidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.
As at As at
25 March Financing Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 31 March
2022 cash flows loans subsidiary leases  Changes! 2023
£m £m £m Em £m £m £m
Lease liobilities (276.3) 72.2 - {2.2) (68.7) 8.5 (283.5)
Private placements and loans (354.0) 13.4 (725) {4.4) - (1.0) (418.5)
EVP preference liability (14.3) - - - - - (14.3)
{644.6) 85.6 (72.5) (6.6) (68.7) (9.5) (716.3)
1 Other chiarges includes intergst exper e recogised on lease habilifies, disposols of lease habihities, and nterest accrued on doars and private placeents
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23.  Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt continued

Changes in liohitities orising from fingncing activities continued

As at As at

26 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 25 March

2021 cash fiows leans subsidiory leases Chonges! 2022

o . £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

iease habiihes (2837 628 - (173 (319 (6.2) (276 %)

Privosie placements ond ioons (19746} 1911 (34500 - - 25 3540

EVP preference labifity (47 6) - - - - 353 (14.3)

. e (528%) 2539 (345.0) (17.3) (31.9) 24.6 {b44.6)
[ Other chanaes ielides nteres manence tacagiised mn poss habilties dispnsals nt feeee inbilhes, ancdinterest greraed o lanns and prveate ples ements

24, Leose ligbilities

Leuse obhgotions are clossified based on the amounts that are expacied 1o be setited within the next 12 rnonths and after more than 12
months from the reporting dote, as follows;

2023 2022
I o e N gm_____ _ £m
Cutrent 5351 558
Nen-curent e _2w4 o
B - S - 2835 0 243
Undiscounted payments Present value
2023 2022 2023 2022
_ Lease liability maturity analysis . £m Em_ _gm_ fm
within one year 653 62.2 551 538
More than ana year but less than two yeais 550 490 als 431
Maore than twa years but less than five years 100 795 49 694
After flve yeors _ - 178.6 7571 1119 o hag
3389 4478 2835 2763
Less futlire findnce charges L . (s {171 5) - -

235 763

The averoge lease term s 14 8 vears (7022 12.8 years). For the period ended 31 March 2073, the effective horrowing rate was 4 0% (2027
31%)

Costs / (iIncome) recognised in the income statement relating to leases and right-of-use assets are os follows:

2023 2022
b MNoves  &m  Em
Depreainhion Pxpense on nght-of -use ossets il 558 513
Interest expense onlease habilities 3 03 98
Incomic from suls teasing nght-of-use assets 4 {33 (33
Exprnse reioting to shorv-term ond low-value ossets A _nb& 255

Cosh repayments of £72 2m (2022 £62 8m) on legses have been made in the year
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes
During the period the Group incurred a £13.3m charge (2022: £11.5m) in refation 1o defined contributions schemes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes: Bifta Pension Scheme (BPS’), an Unfunded Unapproved Retitement Benefits
Scheime ("“UWRBS", the Federated Pension Plan (FPPY), Prudential Platinum (‘Platinum’), The Kent County Cauncil Pension Fund (the "Kenr
Fund’), The Citrus Pension Plan- Bitta Waste Services Lirnited Section (previously named the Virdor Somerset Section) ('Citrus’), the Devan
County Councié Pension Fund ('Devan’), the Staffardshire Pension Fund (the *Staffordshire Fund’) and the Greater Manchester Pension Fund
('GMPF’) (collectively, the ‘Schemes’),

The Group is also admitted in the Cormwall Pension Fund (the 'Cornwall Fund’) and Norfolk Pension Fund (the 'Narfalk Fund’), The
contractual terms of the commercial agreements that admit the Group to these schemes limit the actuariual risk that the Group is exposed
10; consequentty the schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

The Schemes offer both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. All the Schemes are closed to new members. The BPS,
Platinum, Cornwall Fund, Kent Fund and Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual although the BPS 15 clused for the majority of members
and only a few employees with statutory protections remain in active service, The BFS makes up arcund 95% of the total lakility across
the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as market (iInvestment) risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk, currency risk and
longevity risk.

The Schemes are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that is the Group. The Trustee board of the
Schemes 1s composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and memoper nominated Trustees (where the legal minimum
proportion of member nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by law to ot in the best interests of the members
of the Scheme Investment policy with regord fo the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Scheme” surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group's Consclidated
Staterment of Financial Position. The funding position, calculated ot the triennial actuarial assessment, Is used to agree contributions to the
Schemes. The two measures will vary because they are for different purposes, and are calculated at ditferent rates and in different ways.
The key calculation difterence s thot the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Scheme™
linhility, whereas the accounting position under IAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes hove an accounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future econormic benetits are unconditionalty availlable
in the form of o reduction in the future cash contributions or as a cash refund. Where a surplus of o detined benefit Scheme arises or there
1s potential for a surplus to anse from committed future contnibutions, the right of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtamning a refund of
that surplus is considered in defermining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 which revealed a funding surplus of £19.3m on the technical
provisions basis, a deficit of £106.9m agoinst the solvency esfimate, and a deficit of £86.2m against the low dependency estimate.

The Group will contribute as follows until the earlier of i. 30 June 2025, and ii. the date on which Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited ('BCHL)
and the participating employers are notified by the Trustees that the Scheme has achieved its long-term target of reaching full funding on
the Low Dependency Basis for three consecutive quarter ends;

. the first poyment was made during the year ended 31 March 2022 equal 1o £4.3m;

»  the second payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2023 equal 1o £4.3m;

. the third payment will be made on or before 31 March 2024 equatl te £4 3m; and

. thereatter, payments will be made in monthly instalments of £358,333 payable on or before the last day of the month in which they
are due.

The Cornwall Fund, Norfolk Fund, Kent Fund, Staffordshire Fund and GMPF are cll Local Government Pension Schemes. when determining

the appropriate accounting treatment for these schernes, the Group considers the extent to which it is exposed to actuarial risk

throughout the ferm of the commercial contract and alse obligated to fund any deficit on exit of the contract.

Investment risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-
quolity AA-rated corporate bonds; in other words, from the position of being fully funded then if the return on the Schemes’ assels were
below this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes.

In addimion to the natural interest rate hedging provided by (s investment in bonds, the Trustees also purchose dervatives 1o ensure that
the funding position of the Schernes are, overall, hedged against 85% of movements in long-term risk-free interest rates and 85% of
movements in inflation expectations. No annuities or specitic mortality hedging products have been purchased by the Schemes.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Interast risk

A decrease It the corporate bond yield will increase the Schemes’ labihities; howsver, this will be partally offset by an increase in the volue of the

Schemes' corporate bond assets

Longevity risk

The present values of the Schemeas' llabilities are calculated by reference 1o the hest estimate of the mortality of the Schemes” members both during

and after their employment, An incredse in the lite expectancy of the Schemes’ members will nicregse the Schemes’ hakilities

Inflation risk

The present values of the Schemes' liabilities are coleulated by reference to the future expected pension indexation (hoth dexation in deferment
ond pension increases in payment), which will depend on future inflation expectations. As such, an increase in the expectation of future inflation vall

ncrease the Schemes linbihmes

The lump sum death heneflis paid to dependents of the Schemes’ members are insured with an external insurance company The oresent value of
the abligation, and the reloted current service cost and past service cost, were measured Lsing the projected unit credif metpod.,

Actuarial valuation

A full actucmial veluation of the Schemes was carrted out as at 31 March 2021 and has been updated to 31 Marrh 2023 by o quabfied independent

aefuory The mgior assumptions used Dy fhe octuory were (in nominol temis) as follows:

o e 2028 2022
Discount roe 4. 9% 29%
Rate of salary increase 32% 39%
Rate of inflation -~ RPL 3% 4.2%
Rate of intlation - CPL 27% 3 4%
Rate of pension mereasest - RPT with floor of 0% cop of 2.5% p.o (pensioners / non pENSIONEFs) 2.0% 2.2 £ 19%
Rote of pension mereases' - RPT with {loor of 0% cop of 5.0% p.a. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 2.9% 53% /7 B
Rate of pension increases' - RET with tloar of 0% cap of 4.0% p a (pensioners / non-pensioners) 30% 25% /S R0%
Rate of pensinn increases' - CPT with floor of 0% cap of 3.0% p . (pensioners / non-pensioners) 27% 2.3% / 2.1%
Rate of pension ncreases' - CPI uncappedd (pensioners / non-pensioners) 28% 3 5% /30%
Longevity {years)

Fxpected future lifetime of a male pensioner currently aged 65 208 212
Fxperted future lifetime of a female pensioner currently aged 65 229 233
Experted future lifetime from age 65 of o male member currently oged 45 221 425

_ Fxpecied future lifetime from nge 65 of a femole member currently aged 45 — I 2= 49

1 I oveest At Ay Gl gttt M mipstian Bapey oo ¢ GMET

The assets in the Schemes woere

2023 7
. U . S / o fm %
Erputy 824 18 5% 1374 1717
Bonds 8.0 1.8% 10.8 1 7%
Propertos and infrastructure 8.0 4 1% 225 6%
Hedge funds 72.1 16.2% 20 1157
LT investments - BPS 164 2 37.0% 3014 A7 9%

_omher_ %96 %12 i

4443 8283 o -
Actual return on plan assets . (176.3) . 94 o

The fair value of the above asset classes are determmed based on quoted ¢‘bid"y market prices, Virtually all equity and debt instruments have
quoted prices in achive markets Denvohves are cassified as Level 2 mstruments and bedge funds and property as Leve! 3 mstruments under [FRS

175 Four Velue Measurement 115 the policy of the Schemes fo use hedge funds ond liabibty driven invesiments 1o hedge some of ther exposue (o

mterest rate and inflation asks This policy has been implemented during the current and prior years.

The key wource of actimobon uncerimnty relates 10 the voluatior: of the property porrfolio, where o valuation is ohiamed arnually from

prafessianatly quabfied axternal valuets The evidence tn support thase praperty valugtions 15 based primarily on recent, caomparable market

transachons on an arm's length basis However the assumptions applied are inherantly subjective and so are subyect to a degree of uncertainty

Arn rease i the property saluation of 10% would increnge pension assets by £18m Anincraase i the valuation of fraded assets of 104 woukd

IN{ rBnLe NRNSION O8sATs by F14 2m.
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25. Pension and post-retirement benefits continued
Actuarial valuation continued

Reconciliation of movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2023 2022
I _Em_ . fm_
Benefit cbliganon at the beginning of the period 4/0.6 525.8
Service cosl 24 25
Interest cost 135 104
Contribunions by scheme participants 0.4 03
Net remeasurement gains - tinancial (142.2) (56 2)
Net remegasurement gains - demographic 42 (4.3)
Net remegsurement losses - experience 17.6 1.0
Newly recognised schermes - 18
Benefits paid (18.2) (168
Post service costs - 0.1
Benefit obligation at the end of the period 339.9 470.6
Reconciliation of movements in the fair value of Schemes’ assets
2023 2022
R £m £m
Fuir value of Scheme's assets of the beginning of the period 4283 621e
Interest income on Scheme’s assets 18.1 124
Return on assets, excluding interest mcorme (194.3) £3.0)
Other experience 1.7 -
Contributions by employers 10.2 57
Contributions by Scheme’s participants 04 Q3
Newly recognised schemes - 93
Benefits paid (18.2) (168}
Scheme administiative cost e (2.0) az
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the end of the period 444.2 628.3
Amounts recegnised in comprehensive income in the period
2023 2022
—— __fm o Em
Current service cost 24 26
Past service cost - 01
Administrative cost 19 12
Service cost adjustment in respect of Greater Manchesrer Pension Fund £0.8) (L1
Net interest on the defined benefit surplus 4.8) {23
components of defined benefit (gain) / cost recognised in the income stotement (1.3) 05
Returnn on Scheme's assets (excluding amounts in net inferest expense) 1942 30
Actuarial gain loss from changes i iinancial ossumphons (1422) (56.2)
Actuarial gain from changes in demographic assumpfions (42) (43)
Actuarial loss from changes i experience assumprtions 159 1.0
Moverent 1 asset ceiling {0.4) 31
MNewly recognised schemes - (1%
GMPF Admission agreement 192 6
_ Compenents of defined benefit cost / {(gain) recognised in other comprehensive income 825 (48./)
Total defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in total comprehensive income B81.2 (48 2)

The current service cost 15 included in operating costs in the income statement. The neT inferest expense is included within tinance charges
in the incorne statement. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehensive income.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Actuariol valuation continued
The amount included in fhe conseolidated starement of financial position arising from the Group's obiigation in respect of s defined
henefil Schermnes is as follows:

2023 2022
_ o R o _ €m __fm
?resem value of funded defined benefit obligation (339.9) (470 &}
Fon value of funded Scherne's assets 4442 6283
Adjustment far the restriction in asset benefit (4 0)
_Adiustment in respect of GMPE agreement R ¥ S
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation o _ 951

Significant octuariol assumphons for the deferminotion of the defined benefit obligotion ore the discount rate, expected future mflation
and mortolity The sensitivity analyses below have been deterrmined based on reasonably possible chonges in the assumptions occurring
at the end of the reporting period, white hoiding all other assumptions constant.

Tf the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decreose by £62.4m (2022 £104 Ay
If the miflation assumptior Increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022 100 Om),
If the Iife expertancy increases by one yeor for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decreose by £9 bm (2022: £14 5nm)

The sensitivity onalysts presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit abligation as it is uniikely .
thot the change i ossumptions would occur i isolation of one another, :

Furthermare, in presenting the obove sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligotion has been coleuloted using the
projected unit credit methaod at the end of the reporting periad, which is the same as that apphed in caleulating the defined bonefit
abligation hability recognised in the statement of financial pasition

The Schemes' prirticipating employers are Biffa Waste Services Limired, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Fnvironmental Municipal Services )
Limited, Biffa Leicester Limited and Biffa west Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members’ future accrual
(to the extent that any protected members remain working for each of these companies) earned on o yearly bosis

Protected members pay ¢ range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to 6% of pensionoble satary. The residual contribution (including past service augmentations) is paid by the
above entities of the Group Thesa contributions are agreod between BCHL the Principal Employer) and the frustees of the Schemes
fallowing each triennial valuohon of the Schemes,

In accordanre with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes’ habilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the friennial valuotion,
hut some asset out performence is aliowed for when calculating the defient recovery contributions paid for by the participating employers
Additionat habilities stemimung from past service due o augmentation of benefits are aodded to the Schemes” deficit

The gverage duranion of the benefit obligation at 31 March 7073 is approximately 18 years (2022: 19 years).

The Group exnects io Mmoke o contrbution of £60m 1o the Schemes during the finontiol year fo 29 March 2024,

26.  Related party transactions
There have heerr no matenial reloted party transachans with any Directors in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022 nil) except for key
management compensation as set out in Note 5.

During the year to 31 March 2023, the Group invested {11 7m (2022 £174m) in Protos £ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Limited The Group issued
furthar lacn nates of £4.7m (2022 £7 5m) during the period ond accrued unpaid interest income of £1.2m (2022: £0 8m) As ot 31 March
2023 the Group recogmsed outstanding loon recevable balances due from Protos ERF Lid and Newhurst ERF Ltd of £20.2m (2022

fi4 3m) Both parfies can redeern the notes at any hme. The annual rate of interest on the notes 15 8%. This whale balonce remained
nutstanding at yvear end None of the amount is deemed to be uncaollectoble and no expenses have been recognised durmg the perind in
tespect of bad or doubtful debte i this regard

No Directors held any material interest in any contract with the Company or the Grodp in the year to 31 March 2023 or cubseguent perniad
The Group has mode €10.2m (2022; £5.7m) of contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes

During the year 10 31 March 2023, the Group received locns of £73.5m from 1ts parent company, Biffa Bidco Lunited The ican proceads
were used to repay the Group RCF Interest accrues on the outstarding loan balonce ot 8.3%

There are no addimional reiared parry rransachions ro disciose,
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27.  Contingent liabilities

Bonds

The Group must satisfy environmental agency financicl security requirements in order fo ensure tha? it is uble fo discharge the obligations
i landfill site licences and permits. The Group meets these finuncial security requirements by providing financiel security bonds. The
amount of tinancial security whicti is required is determined in conjunction with the regulatery agencies, as 1s the method by which
assurance 1s provided. The Group has outstanding bond arrangements in England and Wales of approximately £96.3m (2022: £86.7in) tor
permitted waste activities where the Group has obiligations under the Environment Agency’s fit and proper person 1est 1o moke adeguate
financial provision. Additionally, the Group has bonds o a value of £18.5m (2022 £16.1m) for performance of local cuthority and other
contracts. No liability is expected 10 arise in respect of these bonds. The Group also has three letters of credit in relation to the deferred
equity contributions on Newhurst EfW and Protes Efw amounting to £17.2m (2022: £32.2m).

Hazardeus soils

The Group is engoged in a dispure with HMRC in relation 1o the landtill tax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of contomination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outcome is not certam, however the Group has received a protective assessment of
£8.5m, which has been paid and 1s included in prepayments as the Group is disputing this assessment.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

As set out in Note 1, Biffa waste Services Limited ("BWSL”") is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of
its Landfill Tax compliance (‘the Enguiry’), as part of concerns HMRC has primarily relating tc the interpretation of the qualifying fines
regime set out in LFT1. HMRC also raised concerms, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the potential conduct of BWSL and
specific customers, which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

A provision has been recognised tor £64.0m (2022, £20.0m) including associated costs and interest based on specific amounts asserted
by HMRC fo date. In addition, HMRC has raised general issues about Biffa's compliance with the qualitying fines regime set ouf in LFT1
The Directors do not consider that a liability is likely to arise for those general matters, and therefore this is treated as a contingent
licability.

BWSL's potentiol additional liability for Landfill Tax for the relevant period could be up to approximately £114m, based on information
provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding ro the Enquiry.

For further information, pleuse refer 1o the key source of estimation uncertainty disctosure relating to this matter in Note 1 and the
related provision disclosure in Note 18.

28. Investments in joint ventures and associates
Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures and associaltes af the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint venture or Place of incorporation and Proportion of ownership
associate e Principal activity principal place of business ~ interest and voting rights hetd
Protos Holding Limited Energy trom waste England and Wales 25%
Protos ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 25%
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Energy from waste England and wWales S0%

Summerised financial information for ecch of the Group's joint ventures and associates is set out below. Amounts presented are prepared
in gccerdance with IFRS Standards.

2023 L
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

_ Statement of Financiat Position £m Em _____fm_ Em
Current assets 198 1021 7.0 529
Non-current assets 338.1 2633 2553 185.8
Current liabilities (9.7 {8.4) (74) (221)
Non-current liabilities (254.3) (29/1) (1977) (2131}
Net assets 939 599 572 3.5

Nef assets includes:

Cash and cash equivalents 9.2 3.0 5.1 50.0
Current financict hailitiest (2.9) (/9) (5.7) (14.8)
Non-current tinancial liabilities: (254 3) (29/.1) (197.7) (2151

1 Frnarcgd hable ey excludes Trude ond oTher payubles and wovisions
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28. Investments in joint ventures and associgtes continued

2023 . . zO22
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos

_Statement of Comprehensive Income Em fm & _ Em
Revenue (X1 - - -
Profit / (loss) for the period 2.6 (i.hy (1.8} (12

289 _an aqy

8 13 _ase)_

Recanciliation of the gbove summarised financial information ta the carrying amaunt of the Graup's mterest in the joint venture or
CRSOCIGTe”

%23 20
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
e M Em EM_EM
Net gasets R3q 599 572 N
_ Group percentage ownership interest e 50% 25% 50% 25%
Carrying omount of the Group's jnterest =~ 470 156 = 286 0B
Interest in joint venture or assccidte ar the starr of the period 15
Additions 10.8
Share of post tax results (0.8)
Share of net gain / (Ioss) on cash e - Ay
86

29. EVP-related items

The Group has been engaged in a dispute with HMRO concerning hustarieal Landfill Tax.

HMRC claimed that the Group was ligble for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa's landfill sites
from 2009 1o 2012 ('EVP") Biffa contested thot the materiai was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and was not therefore subject
to Landfill Tax Notwithstanding the Group's opinton on the tax treatment of this material, since 2012 all materials of this nature have been
subrected to Landfill Tax

The matter was heard by the First Tier Tax Tribunal which found in HMRC's favour, before Biffa won the Upper Tax Tnbunal for the EVP
case, HMRC however requested ¢ further hearing fram the Caurt of Appeal which took place in March 2021, Bidfa was unsuccessful in the
hearing with the Court of Appeal ond the Directors sought leave to appeal the decision o the Supreme Court. In May 2022 the Group's
reguest of leove o appea! was refused by the Supreme Couirt

The contested amount was pad 1o HMRC following the refinancing of the Group upon its IPQ in October 2016, In addition 1o the payment
of £61.9m, the Group pond £1.7m 0 interest in the period ended 24 March 2017, The Directors, having soken aoppropnate odvice, tid not
beheve that o iality 1o 1ax exists and accordingly freated the poyment of The tax and nssociated inferest gs o prepoyrnent.

As port of the PO of the Group., orrangements were put it ploce 1o make certom poyments 1o the shorehalders ond ceriom members of
employee incentive schemes of the Group immeadiarely paer 1o its bisting, subject 1o and in respect of the ouicome of the dispure A
financial iabildy of £47.6m was recognised i1 borrowngs and an occruai of £13.0m was recognised in non-current liabilitics

with the negative outcome confirmed, inthe year ended 25 March 2022, the £63 bm prepayment was impdired o Lnil and a corresponding
cieterred tax osset of £15 5m was recognised, the £47 6m financial liohility wos reduced to £14 3m; ond the accrual was reduced to £3.5m
These outstanding holances reflect the amounts poyable to the shareholders and certain members of emplayee incentive schemes of the
Group respectively, immediately prior to its Listing The net impact of these transactions is o loss affer tax of £5.4m n the pror period

No payments were made i the year ended 31 March 2023 Subsequent to the year end date, £78m wds pard fo EVP preference
shareholders rind ex-manngement as explained \n Note 34,

Of the nutstanding ahility ot the year end date of £178m, £6 3m has been included within Group Net Debt, os explamed n Note 23,
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30. Service concession arrangements

The Group has two integrated waste management contracts that are considered to fall within the scope of [IFRIC 12: Service Concession
Arrangements, These are The WesT Sussex County Council recycling contract (length of 29 years - awarded in 2004 and acquired by the
Group as part of the Vindor coquisition in the year ended 25 March 2022) and the Leicester City Council contract (25 years - awarded in
2003).

The concessions vary as to the extent of their gbligations, but typically require the construction and operation of an asset during the
concession period including scheduled maintenance and capital expenditure. The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste
management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically af the end of concession periods the assets are returned to the
concession owner. There have not been any significant changes to these arraongements in the period.

The West Sussex County Councit recycling contract involves the construction and maintenance of recycling assets that will be returned 1o
the counci at the end of the contract. This arrangement 15 therefore considered 10 be within the scope of IFRICIZ. An intangible asset ot
£31.2m 15 held at the year end date (2022: £35.5m) and is being amortised over the remaining hife of the contract. A provisien for future

cupital expenditure on reverting assets of £15.9m (2022: £13.1m) has been recognised in relation to this contract as described in Note 18.

The Leicester City Council contract dlso falls within the scope of IFRIC 12, and a finoncicl asset of £4.3m (2022, £4.0m) has been
recognised. The contract 1s loss making and @ return to profitability 1s not expected, and as such an onerous contract provision has been
recognised as described in Note 18.

These contracts generated revenue of £56.7m in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £21.9m).

31 Subsidiary undertakings

The following entities are 100% owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023, All subsidiary undertakings have a financial year
end coterminous with Biffa Limited unless otherwise notec.

Place of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity Name of subsidiary incorporation activity
Amber Engineering Limited' England ond wales waste Biffa Group Holdings (UK} Limited'  England ond wales Holding compuany
management
Baorge Waste Management England ond wales Wwaste Biffu Group Holdings Lim'red Jeisey Holding compuany
Lirmuted! managermnent
Bitta (Corby) Limited! England and Wales Dormant Bitfa Group Limited! England and wales Holding compaiy
Biffa (Earls Barton) Linnted England ond Wales Dormant Biffa G5 (+C) Limited England and Wales waste
management
Biffa (Jersey) L nured Jersey Halding company | Biffa GS (LPP) Linuted' England and wWales Waste
management
Biffa (Land) Limited* Guernsey ‘waste Biffa G5 (M&B) Limated’ England and Wales WasTte
management management
Biffa (Ruxby) Lirited! England and wales Dormant Biffa GS Environmerital Linuted: England and wales Waste
maonagenment
Bitta (UK ) Holdings Limited' england and wales Dormant Bitta G5 Environmentai Recycling England and Wales Waste
Linited: maonagement
Bitfa (WES) Lunited’ England and Wales Dormard Biffa GS Haldings Linuted' England and Wales Holding cornpuny
Biffa {West Sussex) Recycling England and Waley waste Bitfa GS UK Holdings Limited! England and Wales Holding compuarry

Lirrired®
Bitta Corporate Holdings Limited’

Bifto Corporate Services Limited:

Biffa Environmental Muricipal
Services Limited!

England and Wales

England and wales

England and wiles

management
Holding company

Dormant

waste
management

Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited-

Bitta Holdings Linited'

Biffa Leicester Lumited!

Jersey

England and Wales

England and walew

Oorimant

Holding compuny

waste
managermnaem

Registeren at Colonation Read, Cressex, High wyLombe, Buckingbamshine hP17 312

i
2 Heglstered ur 44 Esplanade, 31 Heler, Jersey, 104 Wi
Z ltegistered at PO Bos 1149, Munells CowT, Admiral Park, S1Peter Port, Guernsey, GYL 3H
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31

_ Name of subsidiary_

Bitfor Mumicipal timiiea’

Riffr Netherlones BV

Biffr1 Penzion Seheme Thistees
Limured'

Retfey UK Grewp trnded

Parffen VU L wutedd!

Faifo woste Lirmtedd!

Riffer Winsta Monagement Limitect
Biffo waste Services Linted
Buffer west Srissex Holdco Limited’
Biffc wiest Suasex |imted!

Broy Thsurang e Caompary Limited
CAMO imited

Commgity Shop C1CY
Campany Shop Holdco L iurited!
Compeny Shop Limites”

Cressex Insurance Services

Limited!

Farge Reoyrlng (Holdingsy
Limitec)

Fonae Reeyohng ¢k Lumwtedd?!

Forge wWoste Livatec

S Acguistions | imned

Place of

_incorporation

England anc weales
Netherlands
England ond wWatles
Encland and wales
England and wWales
Englond ond Waoles
England ond Wates
England and weles
England and wates
Figlane rind wWales
Gibralrar

£nglond and wWales
England and wWiles
Englond cnd Wates
Englond ond winles
Englond and wales
England and \widles
England and Wales
England ond Wales

Engiond ond wales

Subsidiary undertakings continued

Principal L

gctivity . _ | Name of subsidiary
waaste Maieriol Recovery Nomimees
mandgement Linuted!

Holding company | New Star Environmantal Limired!

Dormant | Narwaste Limited'
Darmant ( YBrien Waste Recychng Sohutions
Haldings Linwted!
Dawrrant O'Brien Waste Recyehing Solutions
Limited!
]
O ot Poplors Resource Monogement
Company Linted:'
woste ‘ Reclamanan & Dhsposal Linvfecd
MOAGGETTE N &
Wwoste Richard Biffa {Recldmanon)
Monogernent Limited!
Dormant } RURS Environmental Limited'
waste P simply Woste Solutions Limired!
manogerment l
Tnsurance Specicist wWoste Recyciing
SETVICeS fimted”
Dormant SWR Smash & Gran Limeted
Other retoil non- SWRNewstar Limitad'
speciahst
waste Syracuse Waoste Limited
management

Other refail non- The withinell Brick and Terrer Cotto

specialist Company (1912) Lrd'

Darmant Totrl Rerycling Services
LimutedT"

Holdng campony | UK Waste Management Hokdings
Limited'
LK waste Manogement Lirmited!

management

Porment winstedrve §Mone hesten) Linrted’

Wastednve Limited®

Waste l
Haleding company s

Place of
incorporation

Fngland and wailes
england and wales
Frnaiond and werlee
Enciand and Waoles
Ehglond and wakes
Frnlond ond woles
England and Waies
Frgiond and wies
Engicnd ond Wales
Engllond and woles
Scotland

Frngland and wiales
Fnglond onct woles
England and wales
Encland and Wesles
Englond anrd wales
Encylond and wales
Englond ond wioles
Fngland und wWoles

Fagiand and wines

Principal
_octivity

Cormant

Wwaste
Maneagement

Dormant
Dewrrent
Dormant

Waste
management

Dormant
TYorment

waste
management
Dormant

Weiste
mancigement

Waste
managemeant

Dormant

Woste
management

Darmant

Waste
monagement

Oormgnt

Waste
management

WS TR
aalsiviels les alcigty

DoFmornt
Halding company
Holding ~.ompany

Dormant
Darmant
Dartecnt

G5 Equity Cn Cayrnan Ishands Holing company | weasteholdco 11 mured! Jorsey
Tslond Waste Services Limited’ England and wales Waste wastehoidco 7 Limited Jersay

mancigement :

|

Lavelie & Sons Limited! Englund ond Woles Dormant | Welir Recyeling Services Limited! Engilaind and waies
Lonstan Services Limited] £ngland ond Wales Dorrmant l weir waste Services Limited! England and wk
B Iomenh & San CRireuvghirn Englomnd and weles Dormant [ white Croge Limutadd’ Eretleirin] zund cles
Litrnted J
© B i) e st 3 A 3027 St yeey eoaee, 17 Mepso 7037 b e e fartee T1 0% b 2072
Flurestly bekd by Bifis Larnet ey
1 e cterad i Copaneter e Crpagex HIgh Wy mimba Bk eot nmielig s HRTE 3T
H e atecad Al A0 Bapdancde SFRel e veree, TR G
5 Seqperpran of PO Bos 116 Moralo Conrt Adneend Back | 5t etar Doct, udeey 9] gl

i R e T
Bagirarad at Fidie

1 M

s Driqicterns ot et taarn

s Bl finey Pod Rlast Henbamaaweq BR TIAL CM Aprsternem The Mert arlanas
sgemant Lies ted, Soete 23 Barrinad Honse Slane 2nad] Sihealtae Gxil 184
e, TAnaerstey Barisley Sagth vareshre 575 30H

Berpaterad ot [ntenrl ot Carpatate Sa&smas 70y Lesy tad 100 Dl Avorae (aeega Teye fprnd Coramn #4005

q Ragetarar st anran S pte 10 2ore Bl e Eomhorghy Seotlana flR30R

Shbeergans 14 1ha repos iing drite, { ancian Setvces Dimited wos tissolven on 1B Aprd 2023 ond Esterpet Limited wos aoaured on 25 Apnd o o selosesd i jote

24
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32, Controlling party

Bitta Limited 15 a 100% owned subsidiary of Bilfa Bideo tmuted (funuerly Bears Bideo Limited), o Company mcorporated n the United Kingdom, whose
registered office 15 Cotenation Road, Cressex, High wycombe, Bucks, HP12 3TZ. Biffa Limited 1s the pareot company of the smallest and lorgest group i which
the Compuany's results are consolidated

On 18 Juby 2023, Bears Bideo Linnted changed its hame fo Bifta Bidco Limited.

The uintmate controlling party 1s ECP ControlCo, LLC, registered in Delaware, United States

33, Dividends

The Boord recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 3t March 2023 (2022 6.89p). A final divicend ot 4 69 pence per share for the year
ended 25 March 2022 was paid during the year

34, Post balance sheet events

Acquisitions

On 25 April 2023 the Group acguited the entire issued share capital of Esterpet Linted (‘Esterper’), a recycler of Polyethylene Terephthulate (PET} plastic, for
cansideration of £0.7m. From its sTate-of-the-ort recycling facility in Noith Yorkshire, Esterpet converts 25,000 tonnes ot plastic flakes euch year, generated
from recycled bottkes, into igh-purity plastic pellers These pellets are made info new plastic botties tor beverages, cosmetics ond housenold goods, with the
company’s customers including some of the largest brands in the UK and Eurcpe

Alongside the acquisition of Esterpet, the Group acquired 49.9% of the 1ssued share capital of i1s sister company Esterforni Puckaging Limited, a leadhing
manufacturer of plastic bottles and Esterpet’s targest customer, for a consideranion of £5 bm. Bothinvestments will form part of the Polyimers business in e
Rescuices & Energy division

Debt Restructure
On 23 May 2023, the Group resfructured 11y exishing debt as follows

. The Group repard its private placements of £345 0m These were replaced by £260.0m of private placements held within Bitto Linuted.

- The new nofes are a mxture of 5- and 7-year notes with o weighted average borrowing rate of 6.2%.

. Term loans and RCF held by Bitfa Bideo Lirmwted, to which the Group has access, were incredsed Tentm loans of £100.0m were Incredsed 10 £235.0m and
RCE ot £225.0m was incleased to £325.0m, Interest 15 charged at a floating rare and other terms remain unchunged.

EVP Payments
In May and June 2023, £7.8m wuas paid To EVP pretference shareholders and ex-managernent in relation to the FYP dispute disclosed in Note 29 At 31 Muarch
2023, the tatal lombty was £17 8m. The remaming €£10.0m s expected 1o be paid in the year ending 28 March 2025

DRS

On 7 June 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain committed 1o the Deposit Return Scheme in Scollund, it would be delayed unni
October 2025 ot the earlicst, An announcement haa been made previously on 18 April 2023 rhot the stort dore of the scheme woutd Le deluyed trom August
2023 10 March 2024, Circuloriy Scofland Linnted ('CSL), the scheme adimmistrator, entered administrotion on 20 June 2023 asits funding was withdrowrn und
was therefore unabile 1o meer its contractual obligahons 1o Biffa and other parties, The Joint Administrators’ Proposals were released on 28 July 2023,
ndicariig that at best Biffu would recerve an immaterial portion of the tetal cmount due from CSL.

Ir the yeur ended 31 March 2023 the scheme made no contnbution to operating profit but the following material amours were beld on the balance siwer af
the year end dute.

. Accrued Ihconie - £6.1m

. Property, Plant and Equipiment - £2.8m

. Right-of-use gssets - £8.1m

. Lease habilities - £8.5m

In addition to the armounts recorded ut 31 March 2023 the Group hud turther caprral commitments of approximately £39m, of which a proportion are expected
to be leased 1t 1s fikely that impairments will be recognised on a number of assets, with the impact on FY24 Cperating Profit withing the range £nih 1o Lé4m.
The Group has vanous uptions avallable to mitigate the committed cash outflows and latest estimates indicote that up 10 £40m can be recovered

The announcement on 7 Juite 2023 1s jJudged 10 be o non-adjusting event in accordance with 1A5 10. Events after the Reporting Period because 1115 nat
considered 1o provide evidence of conditions that exssted at 31 March 2023, In other words there were no reliable indications betore 31 March 2023 that this
pastponement would occur. Therefore no adjustments corresponding to This annguncement huve been made to the 31 March 2023 finanuial statements and
nstead the appropriate gccounting entries wil be posted in the year ending 29 March 2024 once mitigation pluns are finalised and enacted

Biffa Limited / Anhual Report and Accounts 20235 89



Parent Company Financial Statements

Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent compony statements are prepored under FRS 101 and relate 1o the Compony and not fo the Group. The finanoial stotermnents

are prepared under the Mstorical cost copvennon.

As ot As at
31 Moarch 2023 25 March 2022
. o e Notes _fm o Em
MNon-current dssets
Investments 2 2551 2579
Jrade ond otherrecewables ..M o 4w0 4340
. e o 675.1 5HS
Current assets
_Fingne ol gssets e e 5 - 1.0
L T Lo
Currant liabilities
Trode ond other poyoties 7 {1.5) {18
_Berrowings . .8 (0 -
o o (3465)
_Net current liabilities _ e (3465)  {08)
Non-current liabilities
_ Borrowings . B N e ) 2
e e S R -1
Netassets — 32846 540l
Equity
Called up share copital 9 31 3t
Shene premrn g 252.2 2476
Marger reserve 95.8 58
Retained sarnings e o o {22.5) o ay
328.6 st

__Total equity attributable to shareholders

A< permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of
comprehensive ncome The loss of the Compainy for the year aftributable to shareholders was £11.0m (2022 £8.9m loss)

The financial stafements were approved by the Board of Directors ond authorised for issue on 11 September 2023, They were signed on its

pehalf by
ha 2#1“«& .
Michael Tapham

Durectar
ompaty o 10334040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up
share Share Hedging Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m fm £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 3.1 247.0 2.9 95.8 156.1 53591
Loss for the period - - - - &9 CAY
Other comprehensive income - - 29 - - 29
_Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - 2.9 - (8.9) (6.0)
Exercise of share options - 0t - - - (36)
Shares purchased by ernployee benefits trust - - - - {3.60) 27
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 27 06
Dividends paid - - - - (6.7) (6.7
As at 25 March 2022 31 2478 - 958 {0.4) 3461
Loss for the period - - - - (110) (1L0)
_Orther comprehensive income / (loss) - - - T -
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - - - (11.0) (11.0)
Exercise of share options - 4.6 - - - 4.6
Shares purchased by employee benefits trust - - - - (15) (15)
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 4.7 47
Dividends paid - - - - {14.3) (14.3)
As ot 31 March 2023 3.1 2522 - ?5.8 {22.5) 328.%

In May 2020, the Compgany incorporated a Jersey registered “cash box” company in order to facilitate an equity raise. The fransaction
satisfied all required conditions to obtain merger relief in accordance with section £12 of the UK Compunies Act 2006 The amount within
the merger reserve relating to this equity raise is now a distributable reserve.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 Q1



Notes to the Parent Company Financial Sfatements

1. Accounting policies

General Information

The Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the UK and i1s the parent compony of the Group. The
address of the Compony's registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 372 The principo
activity of the Company is as hoiding company for the Group. The principal octivity of the Group is the provision of waste management
serviges in the United Kingdom

The Company was a public company limited by shares until 26 January 2023 when its entire shore capital was ocquired by Berrs Bidea
limited, o private company limited by shares incorporaled ond registered in the UK. The Company name changed from Biffa pie to Bifia
Limited upan delisting from the Londen Stock Exchange on 27 January 2023

Basis of preparation
These financial staterments present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepcred an the going concern basis, n
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ ('FRS 1017 and the Companies Act 2006,

The Compory meets She definition of o qualifying entity under FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporfing Reguirements issued by the
FRC Accordmngly, these finanaial statements are prepared i accordance with FRS 101 The fimancigl statements have been prepored in
decordance with the accounting polictes set out helow, which have been consistently applied to all the years presented except where the
Company has elected to take the following exemptions as allowed under FRS 101,

. The requirerments of TAS 7 'Stotement of Cosh Flows

. The recqurements of poragraph 17 of TAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’ in respect of key manogernent personnel

. Requuements of 1AS 74 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose trananehons between wholly owned members of the Group

. The reaquirements of TFRS 7 Financial Tnstruments' Disclosures’, as equivalent discinsures mo piovided n the consohdated financial stotements
of the Group to which the Company belongs.

. The requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’

. The requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurements', as equivalent disclasures are presented in the consolidated
finaneial statements

These financial statements are presented in Pound Steriing (*GBP™) and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m

The Company porticipates i the Group’s centralised treasury and banking arrangements. The Company is expected to generate positive
cash flows to continue to operote in the foreseeable furure,

The Company hias not presented its own income statement or statement of comprehansive income as permitted by sachion 408 of the
Companies Acr 2006

Critical decounting judgements ond key sources of estimotion uncertainty
The Company daoes not consider there to be any there 1o be any eritical accounting judgements or key sources of estmation uncertanty

Investments
Invesiments are initially stated af cost. Investments are fested for impairment when an event that might affect asset value has occurred.

Anampairment loss is recoghised to the extent thot the corrying amounts cannet be recovered elther by selling the asset ot by the
discounted future cash flows from the investment.

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution to the Company's sharehalders is recagnised gs @ liabdity i the Company’s financial statements i the
period in which the dividends are approved. Interm dividends are recognised when paid.

Ciher receivobles
Dther recehables are recognised initially at far volue tess any provision for expected credit loss. They are subsequentty held at omoriserd
oSt less any Drovision for expected credit loss
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1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and fingncial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Fimancial instrurments are derecegnised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire The financal
instruments recognised by the Company are set out below.

Trade receivables
Trade recevables are recognised minglly at fair value and subsequently at amartised cost using the eftective inferest method, less
expected credit losses.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised nitially at fair value and subsequently ar amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with The substance ot the contractuadi

arrangements.

Borrowings are recognised initiclly at fair value, net of tfransaction costs, Any difference between the amount inimally recognised and the
redemphion value is recogrised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the etfective inferest method.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Cornpany has an unconditional right to deter settiement of the tiability tor at
least 12 months atter the balonce sheet date

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered info and subsequently remeasured at fair value
at each balance sheet date The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Company designates certain derivatives as either o) fair value hedge (hedges of the foir value of recognised assets or licbilities), or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associoted with a recognised asset or liability or o highly probable forecuast fransactiony, or ¢)
net investrment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Company docurnents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. AT incepticn and
at each reporting date the Compeany assesses whether the derivatives used hove been highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5. Mavements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classitied as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. where shares are 1ssued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awerds employee share options, from time to fime, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions. The econamic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income
statement equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference 1o the stochastic pricing model.
The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

2. Employees and Directors

Biffa Limited had 2 employees during the year (2022: 2), being the Chief Execurive Otficer and Chief Financial Gfficer. Their emoluments
were as follows,

2023 2022

£m £

Aggregate emoluments 15 L8
Cornpany contributions to mongy purchase pension schemes e 0z I
Total 1.7 2.0
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2 Employees and Directors continued
2023 2022
_The number of Directorswhe: . ___ . __ . __.._. .. __ Number = Number
Are members of a money purchose pension scheme 2 z
Exercised opfions pver shares in the Company 2 -
__Part rweards rocovabie 1 1he form of shores under o longferm incentive seneme . 2 2
2023 2022
_Highest paid Director — S £m . £m
Aggregate emoluments il 11
__Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes . . a0l 0.1
_Total o 12 1.2

In gddition to the above, the twghest paid Directar exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

3. Investments

R, —_ — Em
As af 26 March 2021 256.4
Movements retating 1o shone ophons granted on beholf of subsichory ermployees 15
As at 25 March 2022 2579

_ Movements relating 1o share options granted on behalf of subsidiary employees . . _ (28

_Asat31March2023 e 2581

There hove been no ndicatars of iImpairment during the year and no requirement for impairment, The Directors believe that the canying
vahie of the nvestments is supported by ther underlying net assets

Disclosure of the Company’s joint ventures and associates and subsidiaries is given in Motes 28 and 30 of the Group financial statemonts.

4, Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
_Amounts falling due ofter more thanoneyeor _ _fm . £m
_Amounts due from subsidiory undertakings _ __4wo0 o AM0
4200 AB40

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade recewables approximates therr fair value The balance due from subsidiary
undertakings 15 unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand An expected credit loss provision of £4.2m has been
recogiised os at the close of the current period (2022 £4 4m) in relation to the balonce doue from subsidiory undertakings

5. Fingncial assets
2023 2022
. e e £m e £m_
_Fanrigl assets — - _— i - __ 1o

Dunng the previous financial period the Company undertook Two private placements and caprtalised associated horrowing costs of £1.0m
The private plocements were refinonced in May 2077 and the copitalised costs hove therafore been wiitfen off dunng the year ended 3t
March 2022

Biffa Limited / Annue! Report and Accounts 2023 94



Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

6. fair value of financial assets and liabilities

2023 2022
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 420.0 420.0 434.0 4340
Financial nssets - - 1.0 10
Financiatl liabilities
Trade and other poyobiss (1.5) {1.5} (1.8) (1.8)
Private placements (345.0) (3450) (345.0) {3450)
_Total financial assets and liabilities 73.5 . 738 88.2 88.2
7. Trade and other payables
2023 2022
_ Amounts falling due in under one year o £m £m
Other creditars - 0.5
Interest payable 15 13
o 15 18
All creditors are unsecured.
8. Borrowings
2023 2022
. o £m __Em
Ameunts falling due in under one year
Private placements 345.0 -
345.0 -
Amounts falling due after more than one year
_Private placements S - 3450
- 345.0

The £345m private placements were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt restructure. They were replaced with £260m of private

placement notes held by Bears Bidco Limited, meturing in May 2028

9. Reserves

Refer to Note 21 of the Group financial statements for details.

10. Related party transactions

There have been no material related party transactions in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £nil) except for key maonagement

compensation as set out in Note 5 of the Group financial statements.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 95



Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

11. UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

Biffa Limited 1s the parent company of the Group. The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within
Section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the periad ended 31 Mavch 2023, The undertakings Ysted below are 100% wdwectly owned by
Biffa Limited. In accordance with Section 479C of the Companies Act, the Company will guarantee the debts and habilities of the helow UK

supsidiary undertokings.

Name

Amber Etgineering Limited

Barge wasre Management Limifed
Bitfa (Corty) Limited

Riffa (Earls Barton) Limited

Riffa (Roxbyy Limited

Biffes (LK) Hinldings Limired

Biffa (WFS) Limited

Biffa Corporate Holdings Linuted

Biffa Corpornte Services Limited

Biffa Environmental Murucipal Services Limitecd

Biffey Group Holdings (UK Dirmiter
Riffa 38 (FC) Linited

Biffa GS (LPPY Limited

Biifo {35 (M&R) | initea

Riffa G5 Environmental Limited

Riffa GS Epvironmental Recycling Limited

Biffr GS Haldings Limited

Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited
Biffa Holdings | inuted

Biffar Pension Scherne Trusiees Lirmited
Biffa UK Gronp Lirmatedd

Aiffa UK Limited

Biffas wasre Limited

Buffn Woste Management Limited
Riffe West Sussex Holdco Limited
CAMO Lirnited

Compony Shop Holdeo Lirmted
Compeny Shop Limited

Cressex Insurance Services Linvted

12.  Controlling party

Compuony
Number
1067283
2844409
3216850
748129
20319461
3249158
2729607
5656364
7155949
305800
4081901
4800628
2276396
1173504
3446693
4786413
4602885
4631832
1032104
2694166
3650457
3450450
4084432
1138022
7001231
6524298
12715502
193743
6848093

Nome -
Forge Recyching (Holdings) Ltd

Friere Racyeling (UK Ltd

Forge waste Limited

GS Acquisitions Limited

Tsland Waste Services Limied

Lavelle & Sons Limited

M Joseph & Son (Birminghom) Limited
Moteriol Recovery Naminees Limited

New Star Environmental Limnited
Norwaste Limited

CrBrien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited
O'Brien Waste Recycling Sofutions Limited
Poplars Resource Management Company Limited
Reclamotion & Disposal Limited

Richard Biffa (Reclamation) Limited

RUR3 Environmental Limited

Simply Waste Solufions Litmited

Specialist Waste Recycling L imited

SWR Smash & Grab Limited

SWRNpwstar Limited

Syracu=e Waste Limited

UK Waste Management Holdings Limited
UK Woste Management Limited
Waostedrive (Manchester Limited
wastedrive Limited

weir Recycling Services Limited

Welr wWaste Services Linmited

White Cross Limited

Company
Number
R
07383074
4594887
7255980
1552791
1317867
440100
S5185658)
7306131
1041912
3560589
362987
2h30491
873315
929000
6304761
12155099
SC3244h4
5667032
11098385
13269384
2536345
i362615
1517244
1396771
G3G0664
AFINB3
1537610

Biffa Limited is g 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited (formerly Beors Bidco Limited), a company incarporated in the Unitect
kKingrom, whose registered office is Coronohion fnad, Cressex, High wycombe, Burks, HP12 2TZ. Biffa Limited is the parent company of
the smallest and largest group in whech the Company’s results ore consaolidated.

On 10 July 2023, Bears Bideo Limited changed its name to Biffa Bidco Limited

The ultimate controfing porty is FCP ControlCo, LILC, registered in Deloware, United States

13, Post balance sheet events

0On 23 May 2023, the Company repaid £345 Om of private plocements, Refer to Note 34 of the Group financial statements for details
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The Group's financial performance 1s analysed into three components: ‘Statutory Performance’, ‘Adjusted Performanee’ and "Adjusting
Items’. Adjusted performance 15 used as it aids comparability of the reported financial performance year fo year and between divisions.
Management identify a number ot Alternative Performance Meusures ('APMS') in order to separately disclose an adjusted performance for
the Group. The Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way, which is not meant to be a substiture for or superior to
1IFRS measures, 1s relevant to an understanding of the Group’s performance trends, financial pertormance and posihon. Qur APMs and
KPIs are aligned to our strategy and fogether forim the basis ot the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are
consistent with how the performunce is planned and reported internally to the Board und Operating Committees fo aid their decision
making.

APMs have been presented in this Appendix fo provide a useful tocl in understanding the performance of the business. It should be nofed,
however, that these APMs muy not be comparable with similarly titled measures presented by other companies [t is recormmended fthat
APMs are viewed as supplementary information alongside the equivalent statutory measures.

This Appendix has been presented o help users of the financial statements understand the rationale behind our use of APMs, our
methodology for identifying adjusting items and the impact ot these adjusting itfems on the APMs. The Group income statement does not
disclose any adjusting items ond has been presented as a single celurnn showing the statutory results only. The same approach has been
adopted for the Group statement of cash flows.

Depreciation and amortisation relates to the write-down of Loth intangible and tangible fixed assets over their eshimated usefut econonuc
lives, Amortisation of gequisition intangibles s disclosed separately in line with divisional Adjusted Operating Profit.

The Group's policy is To exciude iterns that are considered significant in nature and/or value, not in the normal course of business or are
consistent with 1items that were separately disclosed in prior periods. Management utilises an exceptional item framework that has been
approved by the Board. This follows a three-step process which considers the nature of the event, the financiat materiality involved and the
porticular facts and circumstances. Items of income and expense that are considered for designation as adjusting items include
signiticant acquisition-related costs, write-downs or impairments of non-current gssets, movernents on ONercus confract provisions and
strategy-reloted and restructuring costs.

Closest equivalent
APM statutery measure  Definition

Net revenue Revenue Stotutory revenue excluding landfill tax. Unless stated otherwise, ‘revenue’ refers to statutory revenue,
Landfill tax is excluded as the rate 15 outside the Group's coniral.

See table below for reconcilichion

Qrganic Net Revenue The increase /{decrease) in Net Revenue in the period excluding Net Revenue from aoquisihons completed
revenue growth in the period and Net Revenue trom acguisitions completed in the prior period up to the anniversary of the
relevant acguisition dote, 1o the extent such Ner Revenue folls in the current period. Where comparafive
periods differ in duration, the KPL is adjusted on o pro-rafra basis.
Organic Net Reveriue Growth can be expressed both as an absolute tinancial value ond as a percentage ot
priar penod revenue
Organic Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate 1o users of the financial statements the growth
attributed to organic growth rather than as a result ot acquisitions
See table below for reconcilianon
Acguisition Net  Revenue Acguisition Net Revenue Growth in any period represents the Net Revenue Growth in the relevant period
revenue growth from ¢y acguisitions complered 1n the relevant peried and (1) any acguisitions completed in the 12 months
prior ta the relevant perod ug to the 12-month anmiversary of the relevant acguisimon date (fu the extent
such Net Revenue falls in the current periad) Acquisttion Revenue Growth s calculated on tThe same basis,
using revenue in place ot Net Revenue.
Acguisition Net Revenue Srowth s presented to demonstrore the level of growth aclieved as o direct result
of the Group’s acquisition strategy.
See table below tor reconciliation
£BITDA Cperating profit Profit before depreciation, amortisahion, net finonce costs and taxanon.
Adjusted EBITDA QOperating protim Profit before depreciation and amorfiscation, adjusting ifems, changes to landfill pravisions, net finance
costs and taxation,
Adjusted Dwvisional EBITDA is stated after allocation of shared service costs.
Adjusted EBITDA is presented because 1t is widely used by analysts and investors to evaluute the
profitaebty of companies EBITDA eliminates potential differences in performance caused by vanations
in capital structures, tax positions, the cost and age of Tangible assets and the extent 1o which intangible
assets are {dentifiable
See table below tor recondilianon
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X

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

AFM .
Adjusted
Operoiing profit

Adjusted Profit
before tax
Adjusted Profit
far the pericc
Adjusted Freo
cagly flaw

Closest equivalent

_.statutory measure

Operating profit

Profit hefore tox
Profit for the pernod

Net cash from
aparating activities,

Adjusted Return n/a
on operating

(155615

Adjusted Return nya

_Definition

Profit before adjusting items, amortization of acquisition intangibles, impact of real discount rate
changes so landfill provisions, net finonce costs and taxation,

Adjusted divisional operating profi 15 stated after allocation of shared service cnsts

Sec table below for reconcifiation

Profit before 1ox exchiding adjiusting iterns, amortisotion of cooushon mrongibles ond the impacy of
real discount rate changes to landfiil provisions,

Profit after tax exciuding adjusting items, amortisation of acquisition intangibles and the impact of real
discount rate changes to landfill provisions

Net increase/(decrease) In cash and cosh equivalents excluding dividends, restructurng costs, adjustingg
tems, acquisitions, moverment in financiod assets and movemnents in borrowings or shors captrl (bt
including finance leose principal payments)

This measire reflects the cash generated in the penod excluding adusting items and forms pont of
management incentives,

Adjusted Operating Profit divided by the sum of average of opening and clasing Property, Plant &
Equipment, plus average of opening and closing net working capricl

See table below for reconciliation,

Adjusted Operahing Profit less amarhsation of acquisition intangibles divided by the average of opening
and dosing sharehalders” equity, Net Debt (including lease lfabilities), pensfons and environmental

See table below for recanciliation
Bank and ather horrowings plus lease liabiities and EVP preference liability, less cosh and cash

oh Captal

Employed provisions
('ROCEND

Gronp Bank and Other

Net Delt Borrowings equivatents

Covenant Basis
net Deht

Group
leverage Ratia

Bank and Other
Rorrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

See Note 23 1o the consolidated fincncigl statements for a recanciliation,

Bank and other borrowings plus lease linbilitres, less relevant financial assets and cash and cash
equivalents This is the mecsurement thot our lenders use when neses<ing covenont comphance

See table below for reconciliation.
Ratio of Group Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA,
See NMote 2% ta the consolidated finonciol statements for o reconcilintion

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item

Share of Landfill
results in Asser provisions
Jjoint impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real
ventures and related and Landfill aof discount
55 weeks and Atquisitien onerous restructuring EVP Tox IFRIC acquisitian rate
ended Adjusted assaciates casts <ontracts costs dispute enguiry 12 imangibles thonges Sigtutory
_ 31 March 2023 _ CEm_ _Em _fm _Em __fm___ &m  fm Em__ im _fim _ im_
Revenue 16802 - 07 - 2,680.4
oL 11,1560 (214; (e iz Th T A REY:] NUFERS
s of el
11627 wan tras
mnrd e . 13 RAKIN e . o -
E8ITOA 225.5 (L3} 24.8) - (18.0) o2 - 248
Mepreciatian [ - 37
A tiaertien 10 iin [Parll i3
_Amparments —_——— 2L - _— S A2
Operating
_prefit — _ lze .y 48 ) 80 _dn G0N ©s) @5y 248 _b67
T L Tal = A7
LAl L 732 - - A - 35
aeape gt san o
LR T Vo AR
dossoones 0y 1 [ o o o o o
Profit/ (loss)
before
taxation 400 - (24.8) (21 (18.0) 4 (507 _ {09 (252 0 248 (151
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciligtion from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item continued

Londfill
Asset provisions
impairment Strategy HMRC Amortisation real
and related and Landfill of discount  gxceptional
52 weeks Acquisition onerous restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate net interest
ended Adjusted costs contracts costs dispute enquiry 12 intangibles changes income Statutary
25 Marsh 2022 £m £m _£m £m £fm  fm_ __ £m Em _ fm_ _ £m _ _Em_
_ Revenue, 14432 T - 14432
Costs (1248 2, (942 (4.8) 208, (1.0, i10y 15 2009,
EBITDA 1950 (94 _ - (4.8) (208) (170 (1.0y - 03 - 1423
_De;pregi_oh‘cn . W7 24 - 14 9)
Amortisation RN PEX-)] VA0 7
Impairments (25 0y - {25 U)
Operating
profit / {loss) 94.6 (9.4) (25.0) {4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 1.4 (2%.6) 03 - (5‘5!
Finance income 21 Tl %2
_Finance costs (220 - - - ) 1224)
Share of results
in jolnT ventures
and associares 11y - - (L1
Profit / (loss)
before
taxation 75.6 L _(34) (25.0) 48)  (208)  (17.0) 10 (29.6) 03 11 (288)
Adjusted profit measures by division
2023 2022
_Adjusted Operating profit . kMmoo £m_
Caollecnions BZ5 75.0
Resources & Energy 42.3 41.1
Specialist Services 138 54
_ Group Business Function o (258) (249
Total 112.8 96.6
2023 2022
_ Adjusted EBITDA o L . f£m £m
Collectians 1451 1307
Resources & Energy 783 734
Specialist ServiLes 216 116
Group Business Function (20.5) £20.7)
Total 225.5 195.0

Adjusting items

Group Business Function costs represent shared services and corporare costs (including, inter alio, Board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) remaining after allocation fo operating divisions. Adjusted EBITDA represents the
profit earned by each division without allocotion of depreciution and amaortisation, adjusting items, finance costs, material iImpaocts of
changes in real discount rate upplied to the Group's long-term provisions and income tax expense. Adjusted Operating Profit recognises
the impoct of depreciation and amoertisation excluding the amortisation of acquisition intangibles. These measures are both reported o
the Group Executive Team for the purpese of resource allocation and assessment of divisional performance.

Share of results of joint ventures

In a jaint venture with Encycls, the Group has invested in the construction of two energy recovery facilities (ERFs’Y. Newhurst and Protos.
The Newhurst ERF entered commercial operation during the year to 31 March 2023, The Group’s share of the results of this joint venture
have therefore been recognised in Adjusted Operating Profit (L1 3m).
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Acquisition-ralated costs

Delivery of the Group's strategy includes investment in acquisitions that enhance the quality of its aperations The exclusion of sigrifeant
tems arising from ME&A activity is designed by the Board to align short-term operaticnal decisions with this longer term strategy.
Accordingly, omounts arsing on ocquisitions are excluded from adjusted performance. The £2.0m (2022: £9 4m) of acquisition-related
expenditure in the 53-week perind ended 31 March 2023 relates o professional fees and other costs which are directly atfributable to
acquisitions

Alsoincluded in Acquisinon-relaled costs are £22 8m of costs relating 1o the acquisition of the Group by ECP in Jonuary 2023.

Asset impairments

During the current financial period an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Poplars anderobic digestion plant, in addition
io o £04m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth sife The prior financial perod saw o £25.0m one-off cost for the impairment of
the goodwill that had been recognised on CSG, which was acquired in February 20721

Strategy-reluted and restructuring cosss

Strategy-reloted costs of £18.0m (2022: £4.8m) arise from Group-wide nitiatives to reduce the ongaing cost base and improve efficiency
in the business. These costs are substantial in scape and impact, and do not form part of our operational performance. Adjusting for these
cherges provides a measuee of aperating profitability that is comparable aver time \Within the sirategy-reloted costs is £16.2m reloting to
the Transformation Project which does not qualify for capitalisation (2022: £4 6m).

Amgortisotion of acquisition intangibles

This charge of £25.2m (2022: £29.6m) represents the amounts amortised by the Group in each period in respect of intangibles from prior
acquisitions, which are reported separotely from the Group'’s depreciation and emorhisation charges The performance of the acquirerd
tusiness is assessed as part of the Group’s adjusted cperational results The Group uses this adjusting item fo improve the comparability
of information between reporting periods and divisions

Impact of real discount rate changes an landf€ill pravisions

The impact of real discount rate changes on fandfill provisions reflects the provision mavement which arises wholly due fo the change in
discount rate Within the current financial period a credit of £24 8m was recognised (2022: £0.3m credit) This is not reflective of
aperationat performance.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry
As set out in Note 27, BWSI 15 currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regording certain gspects of its Landfill Tax complinnce.

A pravision of £20.0m was recogrised in the prior year In the current year, the provision has been increased to £64.0m with o charge of
£50.7m recognised within adjusting items. Further information is provided in Note 18,

IFRIC 12 adjustments

The adoption of IFRIC 12: Service Concession Arrangements, results in large accounting adjustments that are not reflective of the
operational performance of the underlying contracts. The purpose of these adjustmerntts is to reverse the impact of IFRIC 12 1n Adjusted
Performance.

Under IFRIC 12 depreciation on reverting PPE items is reversed out, The TFRIC 12 odjustment reinstates this depreciation

Also under IFRIC 12 the cost of future capital expenditure that must be incurred in order to fulfit the contract is coptured npfrant and
recognised as a provision, with the corresponding discount unwind being recognised within net finance costs The IFRIC 12 adjustiment
reverses this charge from the Adiusted Performance

The net impact of these TFRIC 12 adjustments is a £0 3m credit to the Income Statement, which is troated as an adjusting item

Onerous contracts

Orerous contract provisions reflect the future unovoidable losses expected on the Group's existing contract portfolio. At the veor end date
tire Group held onerous cantroct provisions for the 1 eicester City Council, Epping Farest District Counecil and South Oxfordshire & Vale
contracts.

When onerous contract provisions are recognised or increased, the corresponding P&L charge is treated as an adjusting iterm hecause
recognising multiple years of losses in one financiol year skews the financial performance in that year. Onerous contract provision releases
are also treated o5 adjusting items because the inflated profit they couse does not represent the in-yeor performaonce of the business This
upproach ensures that Adpisted Operating Profit for any given period presents the contract losses incurred in that period,
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of adjusting items to profit after tax

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusting items
HMRC Landfill Tax enguiry 50.7 1.0
Share of results of joint ventures 13 -
Acquisition reluted costs 248 9.4
Strategy related and restructuring osts 18.0 4.8
Asset impoirments q.1 250
EVP dispute 1.2 208
IFRIC 12 depreciafion adjustment 0.6 (1.4}
105.7 756
Other adjusting items
Amortisation ot acguisiton intangibles 252 2946
Impact of real discount rate changes on fanatill provisions {24.8) (0.3
Impact on Operating profit 106.1 104.9
Finance income adjusting items
Excepnonal net interest income - (Lt)
Unwind ot discounting on IFRIC 12 provision 0.3 04
03 (07)
o . (1.3) -
Impact on Profit before tax 105.1 104.2
Taxation on adjusting items (7.4) (264)
_Impact on Loss for the period _ . 7.7 2
2023 2022
Adjusting items impacting Operating profit by division £m Em
Collections 6.6 94
Resources & Energy 70 2506
Specialist Services 1.1 253
Group Business Function 314 466
Total . o 1046.1 1049
Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue
2023 2022
- — S gm . Em
Statutory Revenue 16804 14352
Landfill Tax (75.7) (79.3)
Net Revenue 1,604.7 1,363.%
2023 2022
Net Revenue by division Em £m
Collections 1,006.1 8738
Resources & Energy 3639 3159
Speciatist Services 234.7 1/4.1
Total 1,604.7 1,563.9
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Recanciliation of Statutory Revenue ta Net Revenue continued

..Revenue growth

Net revenue for the prior period
Acouisition revenue giowth

—————— 20022
Growth Growth
. _fm factor £m _factor
L3639 agg.1
836 &% 1799 18%
157.2 12% 1959 20%

_Organic revenue growih B
t revenue for the current period

1404.7 1,3639

Other performance measures

In addition to the adjusting items disclosed above, the Group uses Adjusted Return on Qperating Assets and Adjusted Return on Caprtal
employed as performance measures These are aligned 1o the strateqgy and are reported internally to the Roord and Operating

Committees to aid their decision making These are calculated as below:

Adjusted Operating profit:

Average of property, plant and equipment”
_Average nebworking copialt

Adprsterd Operating profit

_Amariisation of Acquisition Intangibles

Adjusted Operating profit less Amortisation of Acquisition Intangibles

Averagn of shoerhaolders cauty
Average Net Debt”
Avernge retirement zenefits®

Arvorage environmental provisions

_ Adjusted Return on Capital Employed®

1 Acerane of opening nnd Cloc ng <hrreholders ety 1y 2073 and Y022

Auvarnge of apening ard «logeg Met Dapt g 2023 ard 20370
N Averore 0 npenero aned doorg eshireraent banetn, 1 3023 ara S0 faote 55
4 Moretaae of openina ard slasag eavieanstental nrovistons 1 2023 and 27 Mote 18y

2023 2022

S . &m 0 _ Em
1128 96 6

634 3 5897

el R ) R _ 582
— 6214 5815
o 182%  183%
2023 2022

o Em o Em

1128 Qb

S /sy (9

876 67.0

4662 470 6

A314 ~47.0

{130.6) (139 O
= L
10307 9510

85% _  T0%

o fotamad Opariting 2ok * gt amvebsation of crgs sihon dhavgpidec daded by the uverpns s open pa o sonaon shorensl e smimy =t dest Onechidmg e oo te

pen s s R fo ATV TS UN ST L LRI Tt
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Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements muade in this Annual Report are forward-looking
and are based on current expectations. The statements are subject
to assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Company's contral and which could cause aciual results
to differ significuntly from thaose expected. Unless required by law,
regulctions or accounting standdrds, the Company does not
undertake 10 update or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information or future developments Any
forward-looking statements made by o1 on behalt ot the Group
speak only as of the date that they are made and are based on
knowledge und intormation available to the Directors on the date of
this Annual Report.

Website

The Company’s website www.bitfa.co.uk gives additional
information on the business. Notwithstanding the references made
in the Annual Report To the website, none of the mtermation mads
on the website constitutes part of this Annual Report or is deemed
to be incorporated by reference herein,
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